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Overview Document #2: City of Hamilton: Governance and Structure 
Doc 4005201 v1 

18. City Council disbanded the Parkway Implementation Committee for the 2014-2018 

Council term.39 

E. Relevant Departments and Staff 

19. The City of Hamilton is organized into five major departments: the City Manager’s 

Office, Healthy & Safe Communities, Corporate Services, Planning and Economic 

Development, and Public Works.40 

1. City Manager

20. The General Manager of the Public Works Department reports to the City 

Manager. The City Manager also oversees the Office of the City Auditor and Human 

Resources, among other departments.41  

21. The City Manager/Chief Administrative Officer is the senior-most administrator at 

the City of Hamilton. The City Manager is “responsible to the Mayor and the Council for 

the general control and management of the administration of the government and affairs 

of the City.”42 In a May 4, 2016, Information Report to Council, the City Manager’s focus 

was described as “increasing the value of future strategies and mitigating risks, the 

effectiveness of the organization as a whole, leveraging collaboration across business 

units and sectors.”43  

22. The following chart lists the City Managers from 2001 to present: 

                                            
39 RHV0000644 at images 16, 86 and 115 
40 RHV0000692 
41 RHV0000621 at image 2; RHV0000692 at image 1  
42 RHV0000628 at image 1 
43 HAM0061796_0001 at image 2 
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Name Start Date End Date 
Doug Lychak44 January 2001 March 2002 
Robert Robertson45  March 2002 February 11, 2004 
Glen Peace46 February 11, 2004 June 2008 
Joseph Rinaldo (interim)47 July 2008  December 2008 
Chris Murray48 January 2, 2009 August 13, 2018 
Mike Zegarac (acting)49 August 13, 2018 May 6, 2019 
Janette Smith50 May 6, 2019 —  

 

2. Public Works

23. The Public Works Department is responsible for, among other things, the design 

and maintenance of the City’s road system. In the department’s 2019 to 2022 Multi-Year 

business plan, this mandate was described as: 

designing roads that are safe for all road users and pedestrians… 

[and] planning, designing and providing minor rehabilitation work of the City’s road 
systems, as well as operating and maintaining them in adherence to legislated standards 
and regulations in a safe, cost effective and efficient manner. 

assessing and implementing solutions to provide improved traffic road safety and 
operations throughout Hamilton.51  

24. The Public Works Department, overseen by the City Manager’s office has 

significant responsibility for the construction and oversight of the Red Hill Valley Parkway.  

25. City Council created the Public Works Department in 2003 by combining the 

Transportation, Operations & Environment Department and part of the former Community 

                                            
44 RHV0000665 at images 1-2 
45 RHV0000635 at image 2 
46 RHV0000622; and RHV0000876 
47 RHV0000877. Committee of the Whole Report 08-025, which is the first report that makes reference to 
Mr. Rinaldo serving as Acting City Manager, also indicates that a City Manager Recruitment Sub-Committee 
met three times, beginning at least as of April 11, 2008. 
48 RHV0000624 
49 RHV0000626 
50 RHV0000628 
51 HAM0048068_0001 at image 1 
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Services Department.52 Peter Crockett who was the General Manager of the 

Transportation, Operations & Environment Department became the General Manager of 

the Public Works Department. 53  

26. The following chart lists the General Managers of the Public Works Department 

from 2003 to present:  

Name Start Date End Date 
Peter Crockett54 2003 2004 
Scott Stewart55 2004 2009 
Gerry Davis56 2009 March 2016 
John Mater (acting)57 March 2016 August 2016 
Dan McKinnon58 August 2016 September 2021 

 

27. Hamilton has restructured the Public Works Department several times since its 

formation.59 Some of these restructuring efforts are detailed below.  

28. On March 30, 2015, City Council directed the City Manager to review the size and 

scope of the Public Works Department. Beginning in the fall of 2015, City staff retained 

COREinternational Inc. “to help senior management with their review of the organizational 

                                            
52 HAM0020093_0001 at image 8 
53 HAM0019628_0001 at image 2; and RHV0000679 at image 2 
54 HAM0019628_0001 at image 2 
55 RHV0000679 at images 10 and 18 
56 RHV0000679 at images 21, 38, 46, 52, 58, 69, 80, 93, 105, 117, 130 and 142 
57 RHV0000679 at image 153; and RHV0000686 
58 RHV0000679 at images 165, 170, 172, 175, 177, 188; RHV0000686; and RHV0000874 
59 Organizational charts of the Public Works department, which reflect the various restructurings of Public 
Works from 2002-2019, can be found in the following document: RHV0000679. Note: This document was 
compiled by Commission Counsel based on the organizational charts produced by the City of Hamilton in 
this Inquiry and City documents that were publicly available. As such, the organizational charts included in 
this document may not be a complete reflection of the Public Works department as it existed from 2002-
2019.  
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33. The following sections and departments of the Public Works Department were 

involved in the construction, design, maintenance and/or oversight of the Red Hill Valley 

Parkway.  

(a) Roads & Maintenance Section

34. The Roads & Maintenance section “plans and delivers maintenance service 

programs for City roadways.”66  

35. In 2002, Roads & Maintenance existed under the Roads & Traffic division of the 

Transportation, Operations & Environment Department, one of the precursor departments 

to Public Works. From approximately 2003 to 2018, Roads & Maintenance existed under 

the Operations division.67  

(b) Traffic Operations & Engineering Section

36. Traffic Operations & Engineering is: 

[r]esponsible for the design, installation, inspection, maintenance, review and capital 
replacement of traffic signs, traffic signals, roadway pavement markings and roadway 
safety initiatives.68 

37. From 2003 to 2008, Traffic Engineering & Operations existed under the Operations 

& Maintenance division.69 From 2009 to 2012, Traffic Operations and Traffic Engineering 

were housed in separate divisions. Traffic Operations existed under the Energy, Fleet, 

Facilities & Traffic section in the Transportation, Energy & Facilities division. Traffic 

                                            
66 RHV0000655 at image 40 
67 The Operations Division had multiple name changes over this period. It was known as Operations division 
from 2013-2017, Operations and Waste Management division from 2010-2013 and Operations and 
Maintenance division from 2005-2008. See RHV0000679.  
68 RHV0000664 at image 5 
69 RHV0000679 at images 4, 8 and 12. Note: an Operations & Maintenance division organizational chart 
has not been produced for 2007 but it is assumed this same structure continued. 
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Engineering was under the Engineering Services section of the Environmental, 

Sustainable Infrastructure division.70  

38. In approximately 2013, Traffic Operations and Traffic Engineering were again 

combined to form Traffic Operations & Engineering. From approximately 2013 to 

February 2017, Traffic Operations & Engineering existed under the Energy, Fleet & Traffic 

section of the Corporate Assets & Strategic Planning division.71 

39. From around February 2017 to December 2017, Traffic Operations & Engineering 

existed under the Transportation division.72 

40. In 2018, Traffic Operations & Engineering was under the Roads & Traffic division, 

which was created on January 1, 2018.73  

41. In February 2019, following divisional restructuring, the Traffic Operations & 

Engineering section was renamed the Transportation Operations section. It remained 

under the Roads & Traffic division, which was renamed the Transportation Operations & 

Maintenance division. Some of the Transportation Operations section’s functions were 

transferred to Engineering Services at the time of restructuring.74 

                                            
70 RHV0000679 at images 21-23, 31-32, 38-40, 43-44, 46-48, 50, 52-53, 55 
71 RHV0000679 at images 58-60, 69-71, 80-82, 93-95, 105-107, 117-119, 130-132, 142-144, 153-155 and 
165-166 
72 RHV0000679 at images 170 and 172  
73 RHV0000679 at image 175, 183 and 190 
74 HAM0061813_0001 at images 5-7; HAM0061806_0001; HAM0061807_0001; and RHV0000679 at 
images 192-193 
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(c) Engineering Services Division

42. The departments overseen by Engineering Services division include the 

Construction, Design, Asset Management, and Geomatics & Corridor Management 

sections of the Public Works Department.75  

43. The Asset Management section: 

provides city wide condition assessment, life cycle analysis, risk assessment, prioritization 
of needs, and long term capital programming for Hamilton’s entire right of way 
infrastructure networks, and assistance of the same processes for Facilities and Parks 
infrastructure.76 

44. The Design section:  

provides preliminary engineering to final detailed design services for the delivery of the 
Capital Program projects which include bridges, culverts, road, water and wastewater 
infrastructure.77 

45. The Construction section: 

provides construction administration, inspection services and contract management for 
road, park, sewer, water, bridge and capital works construction projects throughout the City 
of Hamilton 

… 

[is] responsible for overseeing and documenting the Contractor’s performance with respect 
to the terms and conditions of the contract, including the quality control of materials and 
workmanship.78 

46. The Geomatics & Corridor Management section: 

manage[s] all utility permits, agreements, costing agreements and strategic direction 

provide[s] all engineering survey/legal survey services to support capital program and land 
acquisition 

                                            
75 RHV0000679. In 2017, the Waterfront Development section was added to Engineering Services division: 
HAM0061797_0001 at image 3. 
76 RHV0000656 at image 172 
77 RHV0000656 at image 173 
78 RHV0000656 at image 174 
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Manager of Public Works. The Director of Engineering Services reported to a Senior 

Director, who reported to the General Manager of Public Works.84 

51. In 2013, Engineering Services became its own separate division. Since then the 

director of Engineering Services has reported directly to the General Manager of the 

Public Works Department.85 

52. Gary Moore (Director, Engineering Services, Environment and Sustainable 

Infrastructure Division, Public Works, Hamilton) was the Director of Engineering Services 

from September 2007 to May 2018.86 Gord McGuire (Director, Engineering Services, 

Public Works, Hamilton) became the Director of Engineering Services on June 18, 2018.87 

(d) Red Hill Valley Project

53. Prior to the opening of the Red Hill Valley Parkway, from 2002 until in and around 

2007, a Red Hill Valley Project team operated under the Public Works Department (or its 

predecessor the Transportation, Operations & Environment Department).88  

54. The Project team’s Charter, dated March 25, 2003, set out the team members’ 

roles and responsibilities as follows: Peter Crockett (General Manager, Public Works) as 

the Executive Sponsor, Chris Murray as the Project Director (Red Hill Valley Project, 

Public Works, Hamilton), Gary Moore as the Manager of Design (Red Hill Valley Project, 

Public Works, Hamilton), Michele Braun as the Administrative Assistant (Red Hill Valley 

                                            
84 RHV0000679 at images 21, 38-39, 46-47 and 52-53 
85 RHV0000679 at images 58, 69, 80, 93, 105, 117, 130, 142, 153, 165, 170, 172, 175, 177 and 188 
86 GOL0000248; and RHV0000679 at images 21, 38, 48, 58, 69, 80, 93, 105, 116, 130, 142, 153, 165, 170, 
172 and 175.  
87 HAM0058798_0001 
88 RHV0000679 at images 2, 6, 10, 13 and 16 
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Project, Public Works, Hamilton), Marco Oddi as the Senior Project Manager (Red Hill 

Valley Project, Public Works, Hamilton), and Jennifer DiDomenico as the Program 

Support Analyst (Red Hill Valley Project, Public Works, Hamilton).89  

55. As the Project Director, Mr. Murray was responsible for reporting the team’s 

progress to the General Manager of Public Works, other senior management levels and 

Committees. He also held “all the decision-making authority for the operation of the 

Project on a day-to-day basis.”90 

56. Mr. Moore, as Manager of Design was responsible for managing the “consultant 

team developing the preliminary engineering and design blueprint of the Project”, as well 

as overseeing the award of construction tenders and monitoring the progress of these 

contracts.91 

57. Ms. Braun, the Administrative Assistant on the team, was to “provide confidential 

administrative support to the Director”, filter correspondence to the appropriate persons, 

and respond to Freedom of Information inquiries regarding the Project.92  

58. Mr. Oddi, the Senior Project Manager, reported to Mr. Moore. Mr. Oddi’s primary 

duties were to assist Mr. Moore in carrying out his role.93 

                                            
89 HAM0010101_0001 at images 9-11 
90 HAM0010101_0001 at images 9-10 
91 HAM0010101_0001 at image 10 
92 HAM0010101_0001 at image 11 
93 HAM0010101_0001 at image 11 
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Wet” signing and advisory speed tabs to be in place upon opening to traffic.  Advisory 
signing would be removed when FN=30 or greater are safely reached.”  The direction 
received from Ray Mantha was to develop an SMA strategy with Industry, which 
recommended restricting some aggregate sources.  

-          Please note the friction testing information will be processed shortly 

-          I am hoping that contractual information including the layout and paving dates 
will also be provided in the next couple of days.  

133. On October 16, 2007, Ms. Lane wrote to Mr. Kazmierowski with respect to the 

Highway 401 low friction results in MTO contract 2005-3030:156 

Chris Raymond is recommending posting of slippery when wet signs on Hwy 401 
Woodstock (see below). I realize that signage has been discussed at length but I am 
unaware of any decisions that have been made. The pavement in question is still a 
construction zone, with 80 km/hr posted speed. 

134. On October 16, 2007, the MTO conducted friction testing on the RHVP.157  

135. On October 17, 2007, Mr. Marciello circulated (corrected) SMA friction testing 

results from Highway 401 for SMA placed in 2006, and recently for MTO contract 2005-

3030. These test results (FN in the low 20s in some places) were ultimately cited in 

support of the MTO pause on SMA imposed in November 2007, which is described 

below.158  

136. Also on October 17, 2007, regarding the RHVP friction testing conducted by the 

MTO the previous day, Mr. Delos Reyes emailed Mr. Marciello stating: “Just a reminder, 

please email test result as discussed. Dufferin and Philips Engineering are highly 

interested.”159 Mr. Marciello replied to Mr. Delos Reyes, copying Mr. Raymond and Ms. 

                                            
156 MTO0002877 
157 GOL0002619 attaching GOL0002620 and GOL0002621 
158 MTO0002218 attaching MTO0002219, MTO0002220, MTO0002221, MTO0002222, MTO0002223, 
MTO0002224 and MTO0002225 
159 MTO0002226 
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Lane, stating: “Thanks for the reminder Andro. I will forward results to Chris as they 

become available and he will in turn forward to the appropriate 

individuals/organization.”160 

137. Also on October 17, 2007, Mr. Marciello emailed Mr. Raymond and Ms. Lane the 

RHVP friction test results from October 16.161 He stated 

Due to construction activities throughout the contract, a representative portion of Red Hill 
Valley Parkway was friction surveyed on October 16, 2007. The SMA in both southbound 
lanes from the CNR Structure to Greenhill Ave in Hamilton was clear enough for a safe 
and effective data collection process. 

Please review the attached Read Only files and let me know if any changes are required. 
Of not, please forward to the appropriate personnel. 

Dufferin and Philips Engineering and Andro Delos Reyes are eager for the results. 

Note: Friction Numbers below 30 were collected in areas situated directly under overhead 
structures (least likely to get weathered) 

138. The detailed friction test results (for the two RHVP southbound lanes)162 follow the 

typical MTO format that Mr. Marciello used and are reproduced below: 

                                            
160 MTO0002226 
161 MTO0002227 attaching MTO0002228 and MTO0002229 
162 MTO0002228 and MTO0002229 

037



61 

Overview Document #4: The Ministry of Transportation of Ontario and Friction Testing   
Doc 3923295 v1 

 

038



62 

Overview Document #4: The Ministry of Transportation of Ontario and Friction Testing   
Doc 3923295 v1 

 

139. On October 18, 2007, Mr. Raymond emailed Dr. Uzarowski and Mr. Delos Reyes 

the MTO friction testing results from the testing conducted on the RHVP on October 16, 

2007. 163 He wrote: 

Attached please find the friction testing results for the Red Hill Valley Parkway. 

Please pass the results on to those involved with the project. 

You may wish to note that some of the friction numbers less than 30 correlate with being 
located under a structure. 

Should you have any questions regarding the results please do not hesitate to contract us. 

                                            
163 GOL0002619 attaching GOL0002620 and GOL0002621 
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140. Dr. Uzarowski replied to Mr. Raymond’s email about the MTO friction testing, 

stating:164  

Thank you very much for the results.  We really appreciate your help.  I will discuss the 
results with the City. 

141. Dr. Uzarowski then forwarded Mr. Raymond’s email with the MTO friction test 

results to Mr. Moore and Marco Oddi (Senior Project Manager, Red Hill Valley Project, 

Public Works, Hamilton), stating:165 

Please find attached the results of the friction testing on the Red Hill Valley Parkway 
completed for us by MTO.  I will call you to discuss the results. 

142. Also on October 18, 2007, Rob Rollings (Head, Quality Assurance, Central Region, 

Provincial Highways Management Division, MTO) wrote an email with the subject line  

“2007-2031 – Trial Section Varennes Quarry”, to Mr. Theodore, Ken Payette (Quality 

Assurance Office, Central Region, Provincial Highways Management Division, MTO), and 

Mr. Rogers.166 The email stated: 

We received the package regarding Dufferin's request for an FC2 trial for this new 
aggregate and have the following comments: 

 ·There are specific requirements for approval to be included on the DSM list for FC2 
and a trial section is one of them, however, prior to a trial section being permitted, Head 
Office Soils and Aggregates have to sample and test the material and evaluate the 
operation. 

·The Contractor is required to contact Chris Rogers Manager Head Office Soils and 
Aggregates to request the evaluation be done. 

·Once this step has been done and if everything is acceptable then the issue of a trial 
section can be reviewed.  At this time, the request for a trial section is premature. 

                                            
164 GOL0003516 
165 GOL0003513 attaching GOL0003514 and GOL0003515; and HAM0000317_0001 attaching 
HAM0000318_0001 and HAM0000319_0001 
166 MTO0003260 
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When evaluating aggregates for inclusion on the ministry’s list of approved materials, we 
typically only monitor a pavement over a period necessary to observe trends.We do not 
usually monitor over the life of the pavement. 

2.  Mike in MO wants to know---are these numbers what you would consider 
normal/average for this type of highway?.  If yes, can we say that in our response?   

The numbers are typical as they started out higher but started to slowly decline over time. 

(Suggest for internal info only: for a high speed provincial freeway, if the numbers were 
consistently below 30, we would monitor more closely and start to consider remedial 
measures) 

3.  And has this stone material been added to our approved list?  

In May 2009, MTO approved the stone (aggregate) for DSM listing based on acceptable 
lab test results and satisfactory frictional properties including the initial data from the 
Parkway. [The aggregate was listed on the DSM from 2009 to 2016.]232 

221. On February 12, 2019, at 4:15 p.m., Mr. Van Dongen emailed Ms. Graham and 

Mr. McKinnon under the subject line “FW: MTO--friction testing results”.233 He attached 

four graphs summarizing the MTO’s friction testing results on the RHVP from 2007 to 

2014 to this email.234 He wrote: “Hi folks, just received these. Did the city already have 

access to this info, and if so, any concerns?”235 

222. At 4:30 p.m., Ms. Graham forwarded this email to Mr. McGuire and Mr. Soldo, 

copying Mr. McKinnon. She wrote: 

See below and please let us know if you have seen these before? I’m not in the office so 
can’t check the file, but this format doesn’t look familiar to me. 

If no – suggesting wording such as “Current leadership has not seen this information in this 
format.” 

If yes – can you just clarify when/how we do?236 

                                            
232 MTO0038359; see also MTO0038360 
233 HAM0028680_0001 
234 HAM0028687_0001, HAM0028688_0001, HAM0028686_0001 and HAM0028685_0001 
235 HAM0028680_0001 
236 HAM0028680_0001 
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223.  Mr. McKinnon forwarded this email, with the attached graphs, to an email account 

with the username “joannet.mckinnon” later that day.237 

224. On February 12, 2019, at 4:33 p.m., Mr. Soldo replied to Ms. Graham’s email, 

writing: 

I literally was talking on the phone to MTO as this email came in and they informed me that 
they have been doing testing on RHVP from 2007 to 2014.  I asked for that info and I have 
to assume this data from the Spec came from MTO today.238 

225. On February 12, 2019, at 4:36 p.m., Mr. Bentley replied to Mr. Soldo’s February 

11, 2019 email, writing: 

As discussed, here are the four files for each lane for the 4km section where friction testing 
was completed to evaluate the stone for inclusion on the DSM list. 

I have cc’d Becca Lane if you have any questions about the testing.239 

226. Mr. Soldo replied to Mr. Bentley, writing: 

Thank you for providing the graphs.  Can you provide the underlying data that developed 
them. Also, any other documentation related to this project such as scope, specifications 
etc. Also, any transmittal information or emails related to how this was shared with the 
City.240 

227. On February 12, 2019, Mr. Soldo forwarded Mr. Bentley’s email to Ms. Auty, 

copying Mr. Zegarac, Mr. McKinnon, and Mr. Brown. Mr. Soldo forwarded this email to 

Mr. McGuire later that day.241 

                                            
237 HAM0028680_0001 
238 HAM0028689_0001 
239 HAM0028695_0001 
240 HAM0028695_0001 
241 HAM0054540_0001 attaching HAM0054541_0001, HAM0054542_0001, HAM0054543_0001 and 
HAM0054544_0001  
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228. On February 12, 2019, at 5:52 p.m., Mr. McGuire replied to Ms. Graham’s email, 

writing: 

For the record, I’ve never seen these test results. Staff have not either or this would have 
been brought forward in our discussion on the RHVP. 

I will review the results later.242 

229. On February 12, 2019, at 6:13 p.m., Mr. Soldo forwarded his email exchange with 

Mr. Bentley to Mr. McKinnon. He wrote:  

Discussion with Kevin Bentley by teleconference. 

Friction testing was initiated as the MTO was requested to review the adequacy of a certain 
aggregate from a supplier pit in Quebec in order to allow them to be on the approved list 
for MTO contracts. The stone was used by Dufferin as part of the SMA pavement on the 
RHVP. 

The test site was 4 km long, from Greenhill to CNR. Run for 7 year although some years 
the testing was not undertaken. 

The data shows that the SMA did improve in friction after the initial thin layer of asphalt 
cement wore off. 

I asked for the data to be sent over, received shortly after the call by email.  Kevin Bentley 
identified that the same methodology may not have been used in assessing the end friction 
value in the City testing. For comparison, the specification for Highway 407 includes a value 
of 30 where more investigation is required. The key to monitoring is to assess the long term 
trends. 

Asked for verbally and by email any other relevant documentation and in particular any 
correspondence of sharing the data and test results with the City. The MTO was going to 
review their files. The MTO indicated the Charles Brown has connected with them as well 
last Friday on this matter as well as several media outlets. The data was going to be 
released. 

Offered assistance of the Manager of Materials and Research area in reviewing and 
interpreting the analysis.243 

                                            
242 HAM0028694_0001 
243 HAM0028695_0001 
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thought you guys met with Chad and he was happy????? Did we get CIMA to finalize the 
report to our liking? Before they ask for a copy?237 

204. On December 5, 2013, Mr. Lupton responded by email to the same group and 

wrote: 

Yes to items 1 thru 5 or all of it. Did you see our info report? We did our best to discourage 
it at committee, but they wanted us to come back in a year’s time to discuss the impacts of 
the improvements. I have asked to report back on the OBL in April 2015. Do you retire 
before that?238 

205. Mr. Moore then responded by email to Mr. Lupton only. They exchanged the 

following messages: 

GM: They don’t want you to report in a year they want another report just on lighting! Now! 

GL: You can lead a horse to water... We tried. 

GM: I just shoot the horse! 

GL: Good plan.239 

206. On December 9, 2013, Dr. Uzarowski followed up regarding the status of the 

Purchase Order.  Hamilton issued Purchase Order 0000073087 to Golder Associates Ltd. 

dated January 6, 2014, in the amount of $8,000 for the friction testing. It was faxed to 

Golder on Jan 10, 2014.240  

2. December 9, 2013, CIMA produces last version of report

207. On December 9, 2013, Mr. Cooper responded to Mr. Applebee’s message of 

November 19, 2013, and advised that he had received “the go ahead for the wording 

changes” and instructed Mr. Applebee to proceed to make the final copies.241 Mr. 

                                            
237 HAM0004336_0001 
238 HAM0004337_0001 
239 HAM0004339_0001 
240 HAM0000502_0001; HAM0000497_0001; GOL0004369; and GOL0001102 
241 CIM0008063 
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Applebee emailed Mr. Cooper and asked “do you want the date changed on the report to 

December? It currently says October, but I can’t remember if we were going to keep the 

original date on the report or not. Doesn’t matter to me either way.” Mr. Cooper responded 

that the “original date is fine”.242 

208. Later that day, Mr. Applebee sent Mr. Cooper a .PDF of what he described as the 

updated report.243 The changes were not apparent on the face of the report and it was 

still dated October 2013.  

209. The revised report included information from Hamilton regarding the proposed 

implementation of certain countermeasures. The following was added to the executive 

summary: 

The City has indicated that with respect to a select number of countermeasures a staged 
approach to implementation will be undertaken. The details of this approach are highlighted 
here and are acknowledged in the timing noted in the tables. 

+ Signage Recommendations 

· The City will endeavor to undertake signage recommendations in the short term, 
with the expected completion of the end of 2013-2014. 

+ Pavement Marking and PPRM Recommendations 

· The City will re-paint the RHVP with the wide pavement markings during the annual 
marking rehabilitation program beginning in the spring of 2014; and 

· PRPMs will be installed with the next planned resurfacing of the RHVP, likely in 
the medium term (5 – 10 years). 

+ Illumination Recommendations 

Prior to the review of new illumination, the City will undertake the implementation of other 
countermeasures and monitor their effectiveness for a period of at least one year.244 

                                            
242 CIM0008063 
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210. The updated version of the report also included “[i]nformation from the City 

regarding funding and capital programs/planning” to the section describing factors 

considered by CIMA in providing its recommendations.245 

3. Work Continued by Dr. Uzarowski in December 2013

211. Dr. Uzarowski’s notebook contains an entry that suggests he met with Mr. Moore 

on December 10, 2013.246 Another entry, dated December 13, 2013, suggests Dr. 

Uzarowski and Mr. Moore may have had a call that day.247 On December 20, 2013, Dr. 

Uzarowski has a note to call Mr. Moore, Lisa Castronovo (Administrative Assistant, Asset 

Management, Engineering Services, Public Works, Hamilton) and Trevor Moore 

(Corporate Technical Director, Miller Paving Ltd., Miller Group).248 

212. On December 20, 2013, Mr. Trevor Moore emailed Dr. Uzarowski, attaching “as 

discussed” various brochures and guidelines relating to micro surfacing and slurry seal. 

Dr. Uzarowski forwarded this email to Dr. Henderson on December 20, 2013.249 

213. On December 31, 2013, Dr. Uzarowski emailed the initial draft of the report for 

Phase III of the Pavement and Materials Technology Review to Gary Moore.250 

4. Discussions with Shillingtons LLP Regarding RHVP Collision Claims

214. On December 19, 2013, Colleen Crawford (Senior Law Clerk, Shillingtons LLP) 

emailed Mr. Kirchknopf, copying Diana Sabados (now Diana Swaby, Supervisor, Claims 

                                            
245 HAM0041871_0001 at image 63 
246 GOL0007407 at image 19 
247 GOL0007407 at image 20 
248 GOL0007407 at image 22 
249 GOL0006503 
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(a) RHVP Lighting Study Proposal

254. On April 9, 2018, Mr. McGuire left Mr. Malone a voicemail regarding the status of 

the RHVP Lighting Study proposal, mentioning the recurring RHVP-related meetings 

called by Mr. McKinnon.266 

255. On April 11, 2018, Mr. Malone emailed Mr. Field the proposal for the RHVP 

Lighting Study. The proposal included reviewing previous environmental assessments 

(“EA”) for the LINC and RHVP, revisiting findings from previous collision analyses using 

recent data and conducting an illumination review to determine whether or not illumination 

should be installed within the study area.267 

256. On April 13, 2018, Mr. Field approved CIMA’s RHVP Lighting Study proposal. The 

$121,560 purchase order for the project was sent to CIMA on April 25, 2018.268 

257. On April 24, 2018, CIMA met with City staff regarding the RHVP Lighting Study. 

The work plan for the project was to include a review of original and subsequent EA 

documents to confirm what conditions regarding lighting were established during the EA 

and approval process. The study was also to involve a review of collisions and trend 

analysis.269 

258. On April 24 and 25, 2018, Manny Grewal (Project Engineer, Traffic Engineering, 

CIMA) exchanged emails with Mr. Cooper regarding the Speed Limit Reduction Study: 

                                            
266 CIM0017402 attaching CIM0017402.0001 
267 HAM0053036_0001 attaching HAM0053037_0001 
268 CIM0017386; and CIM0017058 attaching CIM0017058.0001 
269 CIM0017047 
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A. Introduction 

1. In 2015, Hamilton retained CIMA to prepare a safety review of the RHVP. Overview 

Document #7 will address the circumstances surrounding the 2015 CIMA Report, its 

preparation, and the events following its completion. Overview Document #7 will largely 

be organized in chronological order, but some events will be grouped together, slightly 

out of chronological order, where doing so promotes clarity and ease of understanding. 

2. Commission Counsel has endeavoured to confirm the names, organization, and 

position(s) held by the individuals referenced in this Overview Document. This information 

is provided in the body text where each individual is first referenced.1 A complete list of 

the individuals and their respective information can be found at Appendix A of Overview 

Document #7.  

3. The facts contained in Overview Document #7 have not been tested for their truth. 

Commission Counsel and the participants may call evidence from witnesses at the Inquiry 

that casts doubt on the truthfulness or accuracy of the content of the documents 

underlying this Overview Document. The participants will also be able to make 

submissions regarding what, if any, weight should be given to any of these documents. 

B. Fatal Collision May 2015 

4. On May 5, 2015, a collision on the RHVP resulted in the deaths of Olivia Smosarski 

and Jordan Hastings. A Spectator article published on May 7, 2015, described the 

collision as follows: 

                                            
1 Where more than one position is held by an individual within the time frame covered in this Overview 
Document, the information in the body text will reflect the position held at the time of first reference. For a 
complete list of all positions held by all individuals referenced in Overview Document #7, see Appendix A.  
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Olivia Smosarski and Jordyn Hastings, both believed to be 19, were killed shortly before 
11:30 p.m. Tuesday when their car crossed the grassy median, colliding with a minivan. 

… 

Police say a 2007 Mazda was northbound on the Red Hill when it inexplicably crossed the 
grassy centre median and went into the southbound lanes near Greenhill Avenue, where 
it was T-boned by a 2011 Honda minivan. 2 

5. On May 6, 2015, John Durant (District Supervisor Roads, District North, Roads & 

Maintenance, Operations, Public Works, Hamilton), emailed City staff, copying Terry 

McCleary (Superintendent - Roads, District North, Roads & Maintenance, Operations, 

Public Works, Hamilton). He wrote: “WE HAD A TWO VEHICLE M.V.A. ON THE 

R.H.V.P., AS OF 7:AM THE SOUTH BOUND LANES ARE STILL CLOSED, ALL 

BARRICADES AND ARROW BOARD HAVE BEEN RETURNED TO DIST. NORTH. 

ACCORDING TO POLICE IT WAS A TWO PERSON FATALITY. (PO15-596-572)”.3 

6. Mr. McCleary forwarded this email to Bob Paul (Manager, Winter Control, 

Operations, Public Works, Hamilton), Betty Matthews-Malone (Director, Operations, 

Public Works, Hamilton), and Jennifer Atkinson (Road Operations & Maintenance 

Coordinator, Roads & Maintenance, Operations, Public Works, Hamilton). Later that day, 

Ms. Matthews-Malone responded to this email chain, writing: “Terry, do we have good 

records identified for road condition?  I haven’t heard the cause of the accident but likely 

we could find ourselves part of a future legal discussion regardless of cause.  We should 

make sure we have our road patrol/condition assessment paperwork flagged.”4 

                                            
2 RHV0000289 
3 HAM0033384_0001 
4 HAM0033384_0001 
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7. After the deaths of Ms. Smosarski and Ms. Hastings, members of the public 

contacted various City Councillors expressing concern regarding collisions on the RHVP.  

8. On May 6, 2015, a member of the public emailed Councillor Doug Conley (Ward 

9, Hamilton) that he had “witnessed many more vehicles sliding into, or through the 

medians on my daily trips up and down the Red Hill” over the past year, and that the 

problem was “exacerbated every time it rains, snows, or there is frost on the road.”5 

9. On the same day, another member of the public emailed Councillor Scott Duvall 

(Ward 7, Hamilton): 

Hi Scott, so another two people have died on the Red Hill after crossing the grass median. 
They would have lived if there had been a concrete barrier down the center instead of a 
small ditch. I have written to you before about this problem, on any given day you can drive 
along this stretch of road and count about a dozen skid marks across the grass median 
going into oncoming lanes. I'm surprised there aren't more fatalities. How many more will 
it take before someone decides to build this barrier. I'll bet that you don't ever want the 
police knocking on your door bearing bad news. I hope that this will finally get the wheels 
in motion and something is done to prevent further tragedies. 6 

10. Councillor Duvall replied to the email, writing that he had “raised this at Council 

and several Council further commented on the issues and staff explained barriers are not 

required. I will bring this issue up again to Council. I have also included Gary Moore from 

Public Works to comment on both issues.”7 

11. On May 7, 2015, Gary Moore (Director, Engineering Services, Public Works, 

Hamilton) replied to Councillor Duvall’s email (with others copied but the member of the 

public removed)  writing:8 

                                            
5 HAM0033385_0001 
6 HAM0004628_0001 
7 HAM0004628_0001 
8 HAM0004628_0001 
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It is a very sad and unfortunate accident. I will ask Traffic Engineering to provide comments 
with regard to the Operation of the Red Hill in this regard, however until the nature of the 
accident is determined it would be premature to provide any comments. 

12. David Ferguson (Superintendent, Traffic Engineering, Traffic Operations & 

Engineering; Energy, Fleet & Traffic; Corporate Assets & Strategic Planning; Public 

Works, Hamilton), who was copied on Mr. Moore’s email, replied to Mr. Moore and 

Councillor Duvall (with others copied). He wrote that “[s]taff have already begun to gather 

this information with respect to the RHVP. We should have the information by the May 

21st PWC meeting.”9 

13. Geoff Lupton (Director, Energy, Fleet & Traffic; Corporate Assets & Strategic 

Planning, Public Works, Hamilton) replied in the email thread, adding that an update 

regarding the “LINC project” would also be appreciated.10 

14. On May 6, 2015, Mr. McCleary emailed Mr. Durant regarding the collision, asking 

him to “put together all the paperwork, reports weather road conditions etc. I have to 

supply to Management.”11 

15. On May 6, 2015, Mr. Ferguson emailed Stephen Cooper (Project Manager, Traffic 

Engineering, Traffic Operations & Engineering; Energy, Fleet & Traffic; Corporate Assets 

& Strategic Planning, Public Works, Hamilton), and Jason Worron (Senior Project 

Manager, Traffic Engineering, Traffic Operations & Engineering; Energy, Fleet & Traffic; 

                                            
9 HAM0004628_0001 
10 HAM0004628_0001 
11 HAM0024188_0001 
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Corporate Assets & Strategic Planning, Public Works, Hamilton) regarding the upcoming 

staff report to the Public Works Committee, writing:12 

Our RHVP report goes to PWC shortly, at the Agenda review meeting today, a couple of 
things came up that I will need to be prepared for in-case the questions arise. 

1.    Can you please follow up with HPS and find some details on the collision that occurred 
this morning, copy of the collision report 

2.    Can you provide me with an update on the consultant review for the Linc 

3.    Can you please prepare a collision review of the past 10 years focusing on crossover 
collisions, RHVP. 

4.   Can you also do a 3 year collision review of the RHVP from Greenhill to Dartnall, 
January to April. All collisions 

The Committee meeting date is May 21st, you should both attend the meeting. 

16. Hamilton also received interview requests regarding the collision. On May 7, 2015, 

Kelly Anderson (Communications Officer, Public Works, Hamilton) received a request 

from Corus Radio Hamilton to speak to someone from Public Works: 

Would someone from Public works be available to speak to road safety on the linc today? 

Given the recent collision and those in the past some are calling for there to be a barrier 
between the two lanes. 13 

17. Ms. Anderson forwarded the email to Mr. Moore the same day, writing:14 

Please see below. I’m not sure if we should even be doing an interview on this topic without 
knowing more details but I’m sending it to you just to see what you think about this barrier 
idea. Would that be something your group would decide or would it be Operations or 
Traffic? 

18. Mr. Moore replied:15 

I'm not in today and it would be someone from Traffic but any message should include the 
safety record for the LINC and Red Hill. I.e. There are almost 100,000 vehicles a day that 

                                            
12 HAM0042751_0001 
13 HAM0010716_0001 
14 HAM0010716_0001 
15 HAM0010716_0001 
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travel these roads safely and the overall safety record is very good except for the few very 
unfortunate incidents. 

19. On May 11, 2015, Councillor Conley emailed Mr. Ferguson, requesting a safety 

study on the RHVP.16 He wrote: 

Dave I would like to get a safety study done on the Red Hill Valley Express way 

Specifically having barriers that would stop a vehicle from going across the median and 
landing in the opposite lane 

I want to write a motion to this effect but need your help 

20. Mr. Ferguson forwarded the email the same day to Mr. Lupton, John Mater 

(Director, Corporate Assets & Strategic Planning, Public Works, Hamilton) and Martin 

White (Manager, Traffic Operations & Engineering; Energy, Fleet & Traffic; Corporate 

Assets & Strategic Planning, Public Works, Hamilton), writing: “Fyi. Was waiting for this.” 

Mr. Lupton replied: “Surprise.”17 

21. Mr. Ferguson replied to Councillor Conley the same day, writing: 

I am actually doing a presentation on May 21 and there is also a report on the RHVP update 
on previous works, so the motion will tie in perfectly. 

I will put something together for you.18 

22. On May 13, 2015, Mr. Ferguson provided Councillor Conley with draft language 

for a motion.19 

23. On May 11, 2015, Michael Kirkopoulos (Director, Communications, Corporate 

Communications & Intergovernmental Affairs, Hamilton) emailed Chris Murray (City 

                                            
16 HAM0004637_0001 
17 HAM0004637_0001 
18 HAM0056641_0001 
19 HAM0056642_0001 
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Manager, City Manager’s Office, Hamilton), writing: “Sam messaged me, says he wanted 

us to have the heads up, that we need to reassess safety concerns of Red Hill and Linc. 

He wants some help in preparing wording without creating liability issues.”20 

24. On May 11, 2015, Mr. Ferguson emailed Brian Malone (Partner, Vice-President, 

Transportation, CIMA), asking what the cost would be “to complete a review of the RHVP 

for possible barriers?”21 

25. Mr. Malone circulated this email internally to Pedram Izadpanah (Senior Project 

Manager, Transportation, CIMA), Brian Applebee (Project Manager, Transportation, 

CIMA), and Alireza Hadayeghi (Partner, Director, Transportation):22 

I was suspecting this would come after the double fatality on the RHVP last week.  

Can we convene and answer ASAP? 

26. Mr. Applebee replied to Mr. Malone, advising that he had spoken to Mr. Cooper 

regarding the matter earlier that afternoon.23 

27. Mr. Malone replied to Mr. Ferguson that he would call him the following day with 

an overview.24 

28. In response to a question from Mr. Applebee regarding the type of review 

requested by the City, Mr. Malone wrote:25 

                                            
20 HAM0058625_0001 
21 CIM0010200 
22 CIM0010200 
23 CIM0010200 
24 CIM0010197 
25 CIM0010195 
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I've told Dave that we'll call him tomorrow. As to the level, I think that they are seeking an 
analysis similar to the LINC, but with the focus clearly on the cross-over crashes. I suspect 
they have been confronted with the request/demand for installation of barrier after the 
double fatality of the two young girls, and they must report, so are seeking input to help. 

29. On May 12, 2015, Nancy Clark (Administrative Coordinator to the General 

Manager, Public Works, Hamilton) emailed Mr. Mater, Ms. Matthews-Malone and Mr. 

Moore.26 She attached a motion that was to be added to the agenda for the May 21, 2015, 

Public Works Committee meeting. The motion, dated June 1, 2015, was titled “Additional 

Safety Measures for the Red Hill Valley Parkway and the Lincoln M. Alexander 

Parkway”.27 It read:  

WHEREAS, the tragic deaths of Olivia Smosarski and Jordyn Hastings on May 6, 2015 
occurred on the Red Hill Valley Parkway; 

AND WHEREAS, the City of Hamilton parkways have been the scene of other traffic 
fatalities and accidents; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 

That staff be directed to investigate additional safety measures for the Red Hill Valley 
Parkway and the Lincoln M. Alexander Parkway, such as additional guardrails, lighting, 
lane markings or other means to help prevent further fatalities and serious injuries; and, 
report to the Public Works Committee with recommendations by December 7, 2015. 

30. Five minutes later, Mr. Mater emailed Mr. Ferguson, copying Mr. Lupton and Mr. 

Moore:28 

Fergy, where are we with respect to the review being done on the Linc? Could the works 
be expanded to include the Red Hill? 

Gary, what's your thoughts on this and the motion? 

31. Mr. Ferguson replied:29 

                                            
26 HAM0000600_0001  
27 HAM0000601_0001 
28 HAM0004638_0001 
29 HAM0000602_0001 
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Its moving a long, we ran into a delay trying to get CIMA access to GIS but it seems to be 
dealt with. Should have a draft report for July. 

I'm thinking we retain CIMA again and have them continue with the RHVP. 

32. Mr. Moore replied later that day:30 

The motion is fine. If they (Council) have the money to spend $150,000 per kilometer to 
put in guide rail ( 22kilometers x 2= 44km= $6.6M ) and another $200,000 per year for 
maintenance when the only thing it will do is increase the number of reportable accidents 
and possibly the number of deadly accidents, then it’s their decision. The lane orientation, 
median width, speed limit all allow for recovery of a vehicle that leaves the road without 
further incident or damage. Put up a guiderail and you have immediate damage to the car 
as well as the guiderail as well as the possibility of redirecting the car back into the travelled 
lanes. Not a simple answer especially when you add the speed profile issue. 

33. On May 13, 2015, the Hamilton Spectator published an article titled “Red Hill safety 

concerns revisited after fatal crash: Council still receiving complaints about lack of lighting 

in the upper part of the parkway”.31 This article referenced past safety reviews and public 

comments received by Council regarding the RHVP. The article read:  

Council will revisit a long-standing debate over lighting and safety on the Red Hill Valley 
Parkway after a crash that killed two young women last week. 

Olivia Smosarski and Jordyn Hastings, both 19, were killed late at night May 6 when their 
car crossed the grassy median near Greenhill Avenue and collided with a minivan. 
Hamilton police say they are still investigating the cause of the crash. 

But council should at least study if more safety measures are needed given past complaints 
about parts of the parkway, said Coun. Sam Merulla, who will introduce such a motion at 
an upcoming public works meeting. 

"I'm not saying (the parkway) is unsafe. But there have been complaints and there have 
been other traffic fatalities," he said. "We can look at things like lighting or guardrails and 
get a report back from the experts. That's the responsible thing to do." 

The last fatal crash on the Red Hill happened in 2012. Police said speed and rainy 
conditions contributed to the collision, which killed a couple in their 60s.The city completed 
an audit of the parkway from the Linc to Greenhill Avenue in 2013 based on complaints 
about safety, in particular lighting. That study spurred the $250,000installation of reflective 
"cat eyes" pavement markers early this year. 

Coun. Chad Collins said drivers welcomed the latest innovation but added he still gets 
complaints about the dark upper sections of the parkway. 

                                            
30 HAM0004638_0001 
31 RHV0000292 
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The city originally agreed to keep "light pollution" to a minimum along wildlife-heavy 
sections of the corridor as part of long-running environmental assessment negotiations 
over the contentious creek valley highway. 

"The lack of lighting, particularly in bad weather, seems to be the biggest concern. It has 
been since it opened," said Collins, who pushed for the original study. 

"I think it's entirely reasonable to look at extending the safety audit the rest of the way down 
the road." 

The last audit determined the parkway is safe to drive. 

Consultants or traffic engineers can re-examine road projects against the latest safety 
standards, said engineering director Gary Moore. 

But he cautioned changing safety infrastructure is a "complicated risk management 
equation" that has to look at everything from topography to traffic patterns to speed limits. 

"It's never as simple as whether you can afford a guard rail or not." 

34. On May 13, 2015, Mr. Malone made the following note in his notebook: 

Dave Ferguson 

- Detailed Analysis of RHVP as LINC 

- Also [text to be confirmed] in Lighting 

- May 21st mtg32 

35.  On May 13, 2015, Mr. Malone emailed Mr. Applebee and Mr. Izadpanah (with 

other internal CIMA staff copied), summarizing a discussion he had earlier that day with 

Mr. Ferguson:33 

I spoke with Dave Ferguson on this this matter today. He is going to be directed by his 
Public Works Committee to do a "detailed analysis of safety on the RHVP" in a manner 
similar to what we are doing for the LINC. He wants us to quote for the review which would 
be done under the roster. The review should also include a comprehensive review of the 
benefits and drawbacks of lighting. He recognizes that we previously did the review from 
Dartnall to Greenhill and asks that we utilize that information and background. The review 
would be for the RHVP, and would include the areas towards the escarpment where 
lighting is absent (essentially a repeat of the previous work) with a recognition that the 
answer regarding lighting is not simply NO as it was previously. 

                                            
32 CIM0022410 at image 6 
33 CIM0010192 
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The focus is clearly on the cross median crashes and the recent fatality. That crash 
occurred at night, close to King St. and the absence of lighting is being suggested as an 
issue. 

I told him that we would begin to prepare a "full" response so that he can respond to Council 
demands following the May 21 meeting. 

This should get a new BP # for the proposal. 

36. On May 14, 2015, after being advised that he was to be the Acting Director at the 

Public Works Committee the following week, Mr. Lupton emailed Mr. Ferguson, asking to 

review Councillor Sam Merulla’s (Ward 4, Hamilton) motion.34 Mr. Ferguson replied, 

writing “[a]lready started on. Chatted with Brian Malone to get a quote to complete the 

work.”35 

37. Mr. Ferguson forwarded the email, attaching Councillor Merulla’s notice of motion, 

to Mr. Malone the same day.36  

38. The PWC met on May 21, 2015.  During this meeting, Councillor Conley asked for 

a timeline for future repaving of the RHVP. Mr. Moore informed the PWC that staff 

expected the first “wholesale resurfacing” of the RHVP would occur in 2021. Mr. Moore 

also advised that the wholesale resurfacing of the RHVP was a significant project that 

was not included in the capital budget at that time.37 

39. At this meeting, the PWC recommended: 

That staff be directed to investigate additional safety measures for the Red Hill Valley 
Parkway and the Lincoln M. Alexander Parkway, such as additional guardrails, lighting, 

                                            
34 HAM0004644_0001 
35 HAM0004644_0001 
36 CIM0010187 
37https://pub-hamilton.escribemeetings.com/Meeting.aspx?Id=cf3759f1-cf6f-45a1-a19f-
3f74b9176a78&Agenda=Agenda&lang=English# at 3:42 minutes 

072



14 
 

Overview Document #7: The 2015 CIMA Report 
Doc 4124466 v1  

lane markings or other means to help prevent further fatalities and serious injuries; and, 
report to the Public Works Committee with recommendations by December 7, 2015. 38 

40. The PWC also recommended that staff report PW13081(a), an outstanding 

business list item relating to CIMA’s 2013 safety assessment, regarding improvements to 

the RHVP be received.39 This report stated:40 

Council Direction: 
On January 16, 2013, Public Works Committee (PWC), passed the following Motion which 
was subsequently approved by Council on January 23, 2013: 
 

“That staff be directed to investigate upgrading the lighting on the Red Hill 
Parkway in the vicinity of the Mud/Stone Church Rd interchanges, and that staff 
be directed to investigate better reflective signage and lane markings 
or other initiatives to assist motorists in the same area, that a full costing of all 
options and alternatives be presented to Committee for their consideration.” 

 
Information: 
As a result of this motion from PWC, staff retained CIMA+ Consulting to complete an 
Inservice Safety Review on the section of the Red Hill Valley Parkway (RHVP) between 
Dartnall Road and Greenhill Avenue. 
 
The study objective was to determine if any safety improvements could be made to 
enhance driver safety/performance and driver sense of security through this section of the 
Red Hill Valley Parkway (RHVP). 
 
The findings of the study indicated that the Red Hill Valley Parkway (RHVP) is operating 
safely. However, the report did suggest implementing several minor safety 
countermeasures that could enhance or improve driver safety and security, most of which 
was sign and pavement marking changes. Since reporting to the November 18, 2013, PWC 
meeting staff have completed, or are working on, the following action items. 
 
[Tables omitted]  
 
Many of the recommendations identified involved relatively minor changes to various 
signs and pavement markings in the study area. Staff completed the implementation of 
most of the identified signage countermeasures in 2013 and 2014. Pavement markings 
will be completed in the summer of 2015 as weather permits. 
 
The report also included a review of current lighting along the RHVP, between Dartnall 
Road and Greenhill Avenue. The original RHVP design and council approval, omitted 
the use of roadway lighting as a result of the various environment concerns within this 
area. As a result, the consultant’s report recommended the installation of Raised 
Permanent Pavement Markings (e.g. cat’s eyes) to assist with positive guidance for 
motorists; staff completed the installation in January 2015 and has since received 
positive feedback from the public. 

                                            
38 HAM0042848_0001 at image 4 
39 HAM0042848_0001 at image 3 
40 RHV0000570 
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41. On May 21, 2015, Mr. Ferguson emailed Mayor Fred Eisenberger (Mayor of 

Hamilton) and City Councillors about a media requests received following the PWC 

meeting:41 

After today's PWC meeting, Traffic Engineering was contacted by the Spec inquiring about 
the collision information on the Linc. I have provided this information to you for your records 
and in case you receive any inquiries. As mentioned today, the Consultant has been 
working on a full review of the Linc and will be providing us with recommendations, which 
we will bring to PWC/Council hopefully by the end of summer. 

As per direction today, we will also be retaining the same Consultant to complete the safety 
review and provide recommendations on the RHVP. We can expect that review will be 
completed closer to the end of the year. 

The following are the statistics for the Linc review that staff completed. 

Oct 1997 to Sept 2014 

Cross Median Collision (CMC) is defined as where a vehicle hits the center curb, enters 
the median or a vehicle travels across the median and enters opposing lanes. 

624 total collisions of which 131 were CMC's 
Of the total, there have been a total of 6 collisions that resulted in fatalities. 
Of total CMCs, 3 collisions resulted in fatalities. 
 
CMC's not exclusive to winter months, April has highest percentage of CMCs, Dec has the 
highest number of CMC at 16, Feb and May at 14.  

Higher occurrence of CMCs occur during peak hours, frequency increase as volumes 
increase.  

45 collisions resulted in vehicle crossing over 
67 resulted in vehicle in the median 
19 hit the curb. 
60 percent of all CMCs resulted in injuries, 3 collisions resulted in fatalities. 
 
67 CMCs occurred during daylight hours 
24 CMCs occurred in freezing rain/drifting snow or snow conditions 
 
70 percent of CMCs occurred with dry pavement conditions 
I have also attached a pic of the segment breakdown for collisions. 

                                            
41 HAM0024236_0001 
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42. On May 22, 2015, the Spectator published an article titled “Hamilton reviewing 

safety of its highways: Crashes involving medians a concern.”42 The article addressed 

safety reviews on the RHVP and LINC, and read as follows: 

The city was already studying how to stop a "concerning" number of median-crossing 
crashes on the Linc when a double fatality on the Red Hill Valley Parkway spurred new 
calls for safety guardrails. 

The public works committee asked Thursday for a review of possible new safety measures 
- including barrier separation - on the Red Hill after two young women died in a median-
crossing car collision on May 5. 

Hamilton police are still investigating the cause of the crash, but family members of Jordyn 
Hastings and Olivia Smosarski argue there is no reason to wait for more studies. 

"No other fatalities have to happen this way," said Leony Hastings, Jordyn's stepmother, 
who watched Thursday's meeting at city hall. 

"Just puts lights and a guardrail up." 

It's not that simple, said traffic engineering superintendent David Ferguson. 

He said adding median barriers can lead to different - or even more - collisions depending 
on factors like traffic patterns, speed and the design of a particular stretch of highway. 

"Whatever we do, we need to properly investigate the consequences first ... We never want 
to make things worse." 

But Ferguson added a city consultant is already reviewing a "concerning" number of 
median crashes on the Lincoln Alexander Parkway. 

He said the study was spurred in part by another serious median-crossing crash last 
October - which also resulted in the death of two young people. 

Aaron Haire, 18, and Kristine Williams, 19, were killed after their eastbound car crossed 
the median of the Linc near Garth Street and collided with two westbound vehicles. 

Ferguson said the public response following that crash triggered an "internal evaluation" of 
Linc collisions, which showed 131 incidents since 1997 where a vehicle either hit the centre 
curb, entered or crossed the median. One out of every four of those crashes occurred 
between Golf Links Road and Garth Street. 

Overall, those "cross-median collisions" resulted in three deaths, but only 45 of the 131 
actually resulted in cars crossing into opposing traffic. 

By comparison, the Red Hill has seen 19 "cross-over" crashes since it opened in 2007. 

                                            
42 RHV0000297 
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Ferguson said the number of cars entering or crossing the median on the Linc during dry 
pavement conditions was "concerning" for city traffic staff but added he doesn't want to 
presuppose any findings or recommendations that will come from the consultant. 

As a result of the new request from councillors, the city will now combine safety studies of 
both city-owned highways and report back late in the year, said Ferguson. 

Councillors could get an interim update on the Linc in July, however, based on consulting 
work already completed. 

Mountain Coun. Scott Duvall said the study will answer important questions about the city-
owned highways, but "it's just unfortunate that someone has to die before these things are 
brought up." 

"Is it something that will actually save lives, or could we be making things worse? I don't 
know," he said. Coun. Sam Merulla, who put forward the latest motion for a Red Hill review, 
argued the city has been "proactive" with periodic reviews of highway safety. He pointed 
to the 2013review of lighting on the upper portion of the Red Hill that led to the addition of 
"cat eyes" reflectors on the roadway. 

That review found the Red Hill is generally safe as designed but recommended various 
improvements to lane marking, rumble strips and signage. 

Most of the remaining suggested changes are coming in 2015. 

C. Assignment proposal, scope and data requests 

43. On May 22, 2015, Mr. Ferguson emailed Mr. Cooper and Mr. Worron, copying Mr. 

Malone. 43 In this email, Mr. Ferguson outlined items that needed to be reviewed by CIMA: 

The following items need to be reviewed and recommendations provided. 

1. Need for some type of Barrier and recommendation on type and expected cost. 

2. Is there a need for lighting and expected cost. 

3. An analyses of the types of collisions that are occurring and what is causing them (i.e. 
Weather conditions, speeding, distracted driving, etc) 

4. Report needs to be completed for September. 

44. On May 22, 2015, Mr. Malone replied to Mr. Ferguson, Mr. Worron, and Mr. 

Cooper. Mr. Malone attached a preliminary work plan to his email, which identified the 

background, purpose and scope of the study as follows:44  

                                            
43 HAM0004659_0001 
44 HAM0004659_0001 attaching HAM0004660_0001 
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1. Mr. Moore provides CIMA with a summary of 2007 and 2013 friction
testing data

106. On August 7, 2015, at 2:57 p.m., Mr. Moore forwarded an email with three 

attachments to Mr. Malone, writing: 113  

Here is the Red Hill friction testing summary. Not for republication! thanks 

107. The email Mr. Moore forwarded was sent by Dr. Uzarowski to Mr. Moore on 

January 24, 2014, under the subject line “Friction Numbers on RHVP”. That email 

included three attachments: two spreadsheets with friction data from the MTO testing in 

2007, and a paper titled “Addressing the Early Age Low Friction Problem of Stone Mastic 

Asphalt Pavement in Ontario”, authored by a joint MTO/Industry task group.114 The 

forwarded message read as follows: 

The surface asphalt on the RHVP is Stone Mastic Asphalt (SMA). Immediately following 
construction of the RHVP in 2007, the Ontario Ministry of Transportation performed friction 

                                            
113 CIM0010018 attaching CIM0010018.0001, CIM0010018.0002 and CIM0010018.0003 
114 CIM0010018 attaching CIM0010018.0001, CIM0010018.0002 and CIM0010018.0003 
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testing in both southbound lanes. The following table summarizes the results of this testing. 
The complete testing results are attached. 

Lane Average Friction Number Friction Range Number 
Southbound Lane 1 33.9 28.1 to 36.5 
Southbound Lane 2 33.8 28.4 to 37.4 

 

In 2013, the Friction Numbers were measured on the RHVP in both directions by 
Tradewind Scientific using a Grip Tester. The average FN numbers were as follows: 

SB Right Lane  35 

SB Left Lane   34 

NB Right Lane  36 

NB Left Lane   39 

In 2009 the Ontario Ministry of Transportation published a paper at the Canadian Technical 
Asphalt Association Annual Conference titled “Early Age Low Friction Problem of SMA in 
Ontario”. The paper presented results of SMA that had been placed on Highway 401. The 
Friction Number results following construction were below anticipated value of 30 and 
ranged from 24.9 to 28.8. The paper is attached. 

108. On August 7, 2015, at 3:26 p.m., Mr. Malone forwarded Mr. Moore’s emails, with 

attachments, to Mr. Applebee and Mr. Bottesini: “FYI and review. My note back to him 

follows.”115  

109. On August 7, 2015, at 3:26 p.m., Mr. Malone responded to Mr. Moore by email:116 

Thanks very much Gary. Don’t worry, we will not re-publish this information. 

To make sure I’m understanding correctly, this is the data from the MTO testing in 2007, 
as well as the MTO report on the subject.  Am I correct that FN numbers of less than 30 
are below a desired level? Figure 1 of the MTO report shows 30 as what appears to be a 
threshold. I have also read that FN numbers greater 35 (or higher) in a zone that would 
suggest skid resistance is not an issue on the pavement.  Is that correct?  

Do you have a performance specification for the FN value you strive for? 

The 2013 testing values certainly look higher. Are they done using the same methodology 
and tool as the MTO work, and thus could be directly compared? 

                                            
115 CIM0010013 
116 CIM0010017 
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To: David Thompson[DThompson@shillingtons.ca]; Colleen Crawford[CCrawford@shillingtons.ca]
From: Terry Shillington[/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=FBFEBFAEBF8E4DA181A619057F9E5360-TERRY SHILL]
Sent: Mon 11/26/2018 12:31:39 PM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: RE: Red Hill Friction report

Thanks – she is good with our review  and will let the others know – any questions she will call you or myself
 
CC thanks for the quick up date
 
T. R. Shillington

Certified Specialist in Civil Litigation
 

1500-148 Fullarton Street
London, ON N6A 5P3
Tel: 519.645.7330 ext 221
Fax: 519.645.6955
Web: www.shillingtons.ca
Email: TShillington@shillingtons.ca

This communication is intended for the use of the addressee only and may contain information that is privileged, confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. 
Any other dissemination, distribution, disclosure or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify the sender 
immediately and delete this message without making a copy.
 
From: David Thompson <DThompson@shillingtons.ca> 
Sent: November 26, 2018 12:02 PM
To: Colleen Crawford <CCrawford@shillingtons.ca>
Cc: Terry Shillington <TShillington@shillingtons.ca>
Subject: RE: Red Hill Friction report
 
I can’t  think of any concern in our litigation, except that it is not relevant. The last I heard the report had never been produced to 
Council. If they decide not to provide it under the FOI request they should let us know so that we don’t include it in our 
productions.
 
From: Colleen Crawford <CCrawford@shillingtons.ca> 
Sent: November 26, 2018 11:36 AM
To: David Thompson <DThompson@shillingtons.ca>
Cc: Terry Shillington <TShillington@shillingtons.ca>
Subject: FW: Red Hill Friction report
Importance: High
 
This report is listed in our Schedule A productions on the Lee / Melo and Barlow actions – we have not yet served our AOD (as we 
were waiting for the motion re common discoveries, etc. to be finalized).
 
 
From: Swaby, Diana <Diana.Swaby@hamilton.ca> 
Sent: November 26, 2018 11:31 AM
To: Terry Shillington <TShillington@shillingtons.ca>; Colleen Crawford <CCrawford@shillingtons.ca>
Subject: FW: Red Hill Friction report
Importance: High
 
Hi Terry, this afternoon, I am meeting with the GM of Public Works as well as the Director of Legal Services and John McLennan of 
our office concerning an FOI request to release this report.  I take it that they do not want to release this report.  Do you have a 
moment to discuss the implications of its release and how this report affects the litigation we have ongoing on the LINC and the 
RHVP?
 
Regards,
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Diana Swaby, CRM
Supervisor, Claims Administration
Corporate Services Department
Risk Management Services
City of Hamilton
Office location:  50 Main St. East, 4th Floor, Hamilton, ON L8N 1E9
Mailing address:  71 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON L8P 4Y5
Phone:  905-546-2424 ext. 5734
Fax:  905-540-5744
Diana.swaby@hamilton.ca
 
The contents of this e-mail transmission are privileged and confidential, intended only for the recipient(s) named above and are subject to litigation privilege.  Access to this email 
by anyone else is unauthorized.  This message may not be copied, reproduced or used in any manner without the express written permission of the sender.
 
From: Moore, Gary 
Sent: May 4, 2018 12:39 PM
To: 'Colleen Crawford' <CCrawford@shillingtons.ca>
Cc: Swaby, Diana <Diana.Swaby@hamilton.ca>
Subject: RE: Red Hill Friction report
 
Hi Colleen
No this report was never reported to Council.
 
Gary Moore
Director, Engineering Services
Engineering Services Division
Public Works Department, City of Hamilton
T:  905.546.2424 ext. 2382
 
 
 
 
From: Colleen Crawford [mailto:CCrawford@shillingtons.ca] 
Sent: May-04-18 12:24 PM
To: Moore, Gary
Cc: Swaby, Diana
Subject: FW: Red Hill Friction report
 
Good afternoon Gary,
 
You may recall speaking with Mr. Terry Shillington and myself last August regarding the friction testing that was done on the LINC 
and RHVP. 
 
We are in the process of preparing the City’s affidavit of documents with respect to a litigation matter involving a median crossover 
on the LINC.  Plaintiffs’ counsel has specifically asked us about friction testing.  We will likely need to produce a copy of this report 
in the City’s affidavit of documents.  We wanted to confirm, if any time, has this report been presented to council.  If so, would you 
provide us with a copy of any reports prepared for City Council and a copy of the meeting minutes.
 
Should you have any questions in this regard, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Thank you,
 
 
Colleen Crawford
Senior Law Clerk
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1500-148 Fullarton Street
London, ON N6A 5P3
Tel: 519.645.7330 ext 227
Fax: 519.645.6955
Web: www.shillingtons.ca
Email: ccrawford@shillingtons.ca  

This communication is intended for the use of the addressee only and may contain information that is privileged, confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. 
Any other dissemination, distribution, disclosure or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify the sender 
immediately and delete this message without making a copy.
 
 
 
From: Moore, Gary [mailto:Gary.Moore@hamilton.ca] 
Sent: August 15, 2017 8:26 AM
To: Colleen Crawford <CCrawford@shillingtons.ca>
Subject: Red Hill Friction report
 
As requested, the testing was done in late 2013 and I received it in early 2014.
 
Gary Moore
Director of Engineering Services
Engineering Services, City of Hamilton
(905) 546-2424  Ext.2382

www.hamilton.ca/canada150
 

289



290Tab 26



291



292



293Tab 27



294



To: 'Auty, Nicole'[Nicole.Auty@hamilton.ca]
From: David Boghosian[dgb@boglaw.ca]
Sent: Thur 12/13/2018 10:09:40 AM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: RE: Safety Analysis of the Red Hill Valley Parkway

Hi Nicole:
I take it that the Appendix represents the work the City has done in response to the recommendations in the CIMA report dated 
November 2015?? Do you happen to know the date of the report that the Appendix formed part of?
Also, I still haven’t received the draft report that CIMA has just completed on median barrier systems no the RHVP. I have followed 
up but if I don’t receive it in time to incorporate into my opinion, I will send my opinion along without that discussion.
Best regards,
David

From: Auty, Nicole [mailto:Nicole.Auty@hamilton.ca] 
Sent: Wednesday, December 12, 2018 4:05 PM
To: David Boghosian <dgb@boglaw.ca>
Subject: FW: Safety Analysis of the Red Hill Valley Parkway
David, let me know if this is what you were looking for.

City of Hamilton
Legal and Risk Management Services
Mailing address: City Hall
71 Main Street West
Hamilton, ON Canada L8P 4Y5
www.hamilton.ca

Nicole Auty
City Solicitor
Legal and Risk Management Services
Phone: 905.546.2424 ext. 4636
Fax: 905.546.4370
Physical Office: 50 Main St. East, 5th Floor, Hamilton, ON

The contents of this message are privileged and confidential, intended only for the recipients named above, and are subject to 
solicitor and client privilege. This message may not be copied, reproduced or used in any manner without the express written 
permission of the sender. If you have received this e-mail and are not the intended recipient, please delete it and call 905 546 
4520, collect if calling long distance. Thank you.
From: Soldo, Edward 
Sent: December-12-18 3:38 PM
To: Auty, Nicole
Subject: Fwd: Safety Analysis of the Red Hill Valley Parkway
Please see attached. Let me know if this is what you were looking for.
Thanks

Edward Soldo, P.Eng.
Director of Roads and Traffic
City of Hamilton
Sent from my iPhone
Begin forwarded message:

From: "Ferguson, David" <David.Ferguson@hamilton.ca>
To: "Pellegrini, Domenic" <Domenic.Pellegrini@hamilton.ca>
Cc: "White, Martin" <Martin.White@hamilton.ca>, "Soldo, Edward" <Edward.Soldo@hamilton.ca>, "McGuire, Gord" 
<Gord.McGuire@hamilton.ca>, "Cameron, Diana" <Diana.Cameron@hamilton.ca>, "Sharma, Dipankar" 
<Dipankar.Sharma@hamilton.ca>, "Olszewski, Chris" <Chris.Olszewski@hamilton.ca>
Subject: RE: Safety Analysis of the Red Hill Valley Parkway

Hi Domenic,
In Martin’s absence, please find attached the requested documents. 
Sincerely,
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David Ferguson, C.E.T.
Superintendent of Traffic Engineering
Public Works, Roads & Traffic 
City of Hamilton 
330 Wentworth St. N., 
Hamilton ON, L8L 5W2 
e-mail: david.ferguson@hamilton.ca
Tel: (905)546-2424 ext 2433

 Campaign 
Urges Drivers To Slow Down and Take the Road Safety Pledge.
“Hamilton roads are shared by motorists, cyclists and pedestrians alike; everyone has a shared responsibility to follow the rules of 
the road. This campaign, however, is asking drivers in particular to be aware that speed kills. Slow down, be respectful and take 
the pledge to keep our roads safe.” Take the Pledge by following the link https://www.hamilton.ca/streets-transportation/driving-traffic/road-safety-
pledge. 

From: "Pellegrini, Domenic" <Domenic.Pellegrini@hamilton.ca>
Date: December 6, 2018 at 9:16:27 AM EST
To: "White, Martin" <Martin.White@hamilton.ca>, "Ferguson, David" <David.Ferguson@hamilton.ca>
Subject: Safety Analysis of the Red Hill Valley Parkway

Good morning Martin and David,
Audit Services has come across a report that appears to have been approved by Traffic 
Operations regarding the safety of the Red Hill Valley Parkway. The Report is entitled “Red Hill 
Valley Parkway Detailed Safety Analysis”, completed in November 2015. Can we have a copy of 
this report? Have the recommendations made by this report been implemented? 
Also, could you please provide information on any other reports that were completed regarding 
the safety of the Red Hill Valley Parkway especially if they relate to the slipperiness of the 
pavement?
Thanks in advance for your assistance.
Domenic Pellegrini CPA, CMA, CIA
Senior Internal Auditor
Audit Services Division
City Manager’s Office, City of Hamilton
T: (905) 546-2424 Ext. 2207
Domenic.Pellegrini@hamilton.ca
This e-mail and any files transmitted with it are strictly confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual 
or entity to whom it is addressed. This e-mail and any files transmitted with it contain personal information 
protected by the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.56. If you are 
not the named addressee, you should not read, disseminate, distribute or copy this e-mail. If you have received 
this e-mail in error, please notify Charles Brown immediately and delete the e-mail from your system. If you are 
not the intended recipient you are notified that reading, disclosing, copying, distributing or taking any action in 
reliance on the contents of this e-mail is strictly prohibited by law.
E-mail transmission cannot be guaranteed to be secure or error-free as information can be intercepted, corrupted, 
lost, destroyed, delayed, or contain viruses. The sender therefore does not accept liability, and disclaims any and 
all responsibility, for any inaccuracy, error, or omission arising from the transmission of this e-mail.
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To: Soldo, Edward[Edward.Soldo@hamilton.ca]
From: Auty, Nicole[/O=GOVT/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=AUTY, 
NICOLEC95]
Sent: Wed 12/12/2018 9:58:27 AM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: RE: RHVE

Ok, thanks. I will send you an email about what I’m looking for.
 

City of Hamilton
Legal and Risk Management Services
Mailing address: City Hall
71 Main Street West
Hamilton, ON  Canada L8P 4Y5
www.hamilton.ca

Nicole Auty
City Solicitor
Legal and Risk Management Services
Phone: 905.546.2424 ext. 4636
Fax: 905.546.4370
Physical Office: 50 Main St. East, 5th Floor, Hamilton, ON

 
The contents of this message are privileged and confidential, intended only for the recipients named above, and are subject to 
solicitor and client privilege. This message may not be copied, reproduced or used in any manner without the express written 
permission of the sender. If you have received this e-mail and are not the intended recipient, please delete it and call 905 546 
4520, collect if calling long distance. Thank you.
 
From: Soldo, Edward 
Sent: December-12-18 9:58 AM
To: Auty, Nicole
Subject: Re: RHVE
 
I am in meetings most of the day, if GIC ends early I will call you.
 
Thanks
 
Edward Soldo,  P.Eng.
Director of Roads and Traffic
City of Hamilton
 
Sent from my iPhone
On Dec 12, 2018, at 9:45 AM, Auty, Nicole <Nicole.Auty@hamilton.ca> wrote:

Edward,
 
Do you have time later today to speak on this?
 

<image001.jpg>
City of Hamilton
Legal and Risk Management Services
Mailing address: City Hall
71 Main Street West
Hamilton, ON  Canada L8P 4Y5
www.hamilton.ca

Nicole Auty
City Solicitor
Legal and Risk Management Services
Phone: 905.546.2424 ext. 4636
Fax: 905.546.4370
Physical Office: 50 Main St. East, 5th Floor, Hamilton, ON

 
The contents of this message are privileged and confidential, intended only for the recipients named above, and are 
subject to solicitor and client privilege. This message may not be copied, reproduced or used in any manner without 
the express written permission of the sender. If you have received this e-mail and are not the intended recipient, 
please delete it and call 905 546 4520, collect if calling long distance. Thank you.
 
From: Soldo, Edward 
Sent: December-12-18 8:06 AM
To: Auty, Nicole
Subject: RE: RHVE
 
Yes,
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He is expecting your call.
 
Thanks
 
Edward Soldo, P.Eng.
Director of Roads & Traffic
Public Works Department
City of Hamilton
 
77 James St North., Suite 400., Hamilton, ON L8R 2K3
Phone: 905-546-2424 ext. 4622
Fax: 905-546-4473
Email: Edward.Soldo@hamilton.ca
 
From: Auty, Nicole 
Sent: December 11, 2018 2:55 PM
To: Soldo, Edward <Edward.Soldo@hamilton.ca>
Subject: RHVE
 
Hi Edward,
 
Tried calling you back, sorry today got away from me. Was the contact Brian Malone?
 
Let me know when you have a moment to discuss.
 
Thanks,
Nicole
 

<image001.jpg>
City of Hamilton
Legal and Risk Management Services
Mailing address: City Hall
71 Main Street West
Hamilton, ON  Canada L8P 4Y5
www.hamilton.ca

Nicole Auty
City Solicitor
Legal and Risk Management Services
Phone: 905.546.2424 ext. 4636
Fax: 905.546.4370
Physical Office: 50 Main St. East, 5th Floor, Hamilton, ON

 
The contents of this message are privileged and confidential, intended only for the recipients named above, and are 
subject to solicitor and client privilege. This message may not be copied, reproduced or used in any manner without 
the express written permission of the sender. If you have received this e-mail and are not the intended recipient, 
please delete it and call 905 546 4520, collect if calling long distance. Thank you.
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To: David Boghosian[dgb@boglaw.ca]
From: Brian Malone[Brian.Malone@cima.ca]
Sent: Thur 1/31/2019 10:20:40 PM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: RE: RHVP

Thanks David. No, I had not seen these reports. Please forward the remaining parts.
Brian Malone
CIMA+
Burlington, Ontario
Tel: 289-288-0287 x 6802
Cell: 905-466-0421
From: David Boghosian <dgb@boglaw.ca> 
Sent: January-31-19 16:01
To: Brian Malone <Brian.Malone@cima.ca>
Subject: FW: RHVP
Hi Brian:
Nicole thought you should have Golder’s 2014 report if you don’t already have it. This is only part 1. If you do not already have it, 
let me know and I will send you the remaining 5 parts (broken up due to the size of the document).
Regards,
David

From: Auty, Nicole [mailto:Nicole.Auty@hamilton.ca] 
Sent: Friday, December 07, 2018 3:21 PM
To: David Boghosian <dgb@boglaw.ca>
Subject: FW: RHVP

City of Hamilton
Legal and Risk Management Services
Mailing address: City Hall
71 Main Street West
Hamilton, ON Canada L8P 4Y5
www.hamilton.ca

Nicole Auty
City Solicitor
Legal and Risk Management Services
Phone: 905.546.2424 ext. 4636
Fax: 905.546.4370
Physical Office: 50 Main St. East, 5th Floor, Hamilton, ON

The contents of this message are privileged and confidential, intended only for the recipients named above, and are subject to 
solicitor and client privilege. This message may not be copied, reproduced or used in any manner without the express written 
permission of the sender. If you have received this e-mail and are not the intended recipient, please delete it and call 905 546 
4520, collect if calling long distance. Thank you.
From: MacNeil, Byrdena 
Sent: December-07-18 11:24 AM
To: Auty, Nicole
Subject: FW: RHVP
Here is Part 1 of 6 of the Golder Report
Byrdena M. MacNeil, Solicitor
City of Hamilton - Legal Services Division
t: 905.546.2424, ext. 4637
f: 905.546.4370
e: byrdena.macneil@hamilton.ca
Courier Address: 50 Main Street East, 5th Floor, Hamilton, Ontario L8N 1E9
Mailing Address: City Hall, 71 Main Street West, Hamilton, Ontario L8P 4Y5
The contents of this e-mail transmission are privileged and confidential, intended only for the recipients named above and are subject 
to solicitor and client privilege. This message may not be copied, reproduced, retransmitted or used in any manner without the 
express written permission of the sender. If you have received this e-mail and are not the intended recipient, please destroy it and 
call 905.546.2424, ext. 4637, collect if long distance. Thank you.
From: Delry, Pam 
Sent: December-07-18 11:14 AM
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To: MacNeil, Byrdena
Subject: RHVP

City of Hamilton
Legal and Risk Management 
Services
Mailing Address: City Hall
71 Main Street West
Hamilton, ON Canada L8P 4Y5
www.hamilton.ca

Pam Delry

Legal Assistant
Legal and Risk Management Services, Corporate Services
City of Hamilton
Phone: 905.546.2424 ext. 3981
Fax: 905.546.4370
Courier/Service Address: 50 Main Street East, 5th Flr, Hamilton, ON L8N 1E9

This electronic transmission, including all attachments, is directed in confidence solely to the person(s) to which it is addressed, or an 
authorized recipient, and may not otherwise be distributed, copied, printed or disclosed. Any review or distribution by others is strictly 
prohibited. If you have received this electronic transmission in error, please notify the sender immediately by return electronic transmission 
and then immediately delete this transmission, including all attachments, without copying, printing distributing or disclosing same. Opinions, 
conclusions or other information expressed or contained in this email are not given or endorsed by the sender unless otherwise affirmed 
independently by the sender. Thank you.
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Hamilton, Ontario 1 

--- Upon commencing on Wednesday, March 20, 2019, 2 

 at 4:57 p.m. 3 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Members 4 

of council, we are back into our special council 5 

meeting for this afternoon.  I call the meeting to 6 

order, recognizing and acknowledge that we meet on 7 

traditional territory of the Mississauga 8 

Haudenosaunee Nations and within the lands 9 

protected by the Dish With One Spoon Wampum 10 

agreement. 11 

Members of the public are advised 12 

that our meetings are webcast live by the City of 13 

Hamilton and temporarily archived on the City’s 14 

website.  Other individuals and the media may also 15 

be audibly and/or visually recording this meeting, 16 

as well, a reminder that all electronic devices are 17 

to be switched to a non-audible function during 18 

council meetings. 19 

Madam Clerk, are there any changes 20 

to the agenda, please. 21 

THE REGISTRAR:  Yes, Mr. Mayor, 22 

and as this is a special council meeting, a 23 

two-thirds majority vote is required to add item 24 

5.3 to the agenda, which is time-sensitive, by 25 
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three Local Planning Appeal Tribunal appeals by 1 

Television City Hamilton Inc., settlement proposal. 2 

 It was referred from planning committee yesterday 3 

to council. 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 5 

you.  And the other -- that’s it?  Okay. 6 

So on that item, Councillor Farr. 7 

MR. FARR:  Yes.  I had a chance to 8 

chat with our director, Jason Thorne, and as a 9 

courtesy and hopefully with the willing of 10 

committee, I’m asking that 5.3 on the agenda be 11 

moved when we go in-camera to the front of the 12 

in-camera items instead of at the end.  It’s very 13 

straightforward.  We’ll get through it quickly, and 14 

a number of staff, including legal, would be able 15 

to vamoose. 16 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Well, it’s an 17 

in-camera item, and we need two-thirds majority to 18 

approve to have that -- 19 

MR. FARR:  I’ll move that. 20 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Moved and 21 

seconded by?  Ms. Pearson.  Okay.  E-vote is 22 

required.  I’m adopting the new lingo.  You vote, 23 

please.  You’re welcome.  The Jackson e-vote.  All 24 

right.  E-vote again.  E to vote.  E-vote squared. 25 
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Arlene and Judi, we need you to 1 

vote.  You’re voting on including an item on 2 

Television City as part of the in-camera agenda. 3 

Okay.  Thank you.  That’s 4 

definitely two-thirds majority, so that is on the 5 

agenda and in-camera portion. 6 

The member’s counsel, are there 7 

any declarations of interest?  None.  Member’s 8 

counsel, you have before you communications item 9 

3.1.  Is there any change to the disposition of the 10 

communications item?  So item 3.1 is a 11 

communication from Andrea Horvath, Ontario NDP 12 

leader, respecting the safety of the Red Hill 13 

Valley Expressway in urging the City of Hamilton to 14 

do the right thing and open the review of the 15 

circumstance to a judicial review, and the 16 

recommendation is that it be received. 17 

So we want to move that?  So are 18 

we -- is anyone speaking to this item? 19 

Councillor Clark.  Okay. 20 

Councillor Merulla, you’re up. 21 

MR. MERULLA:  Good evening, Mr. 22 

Mayor, and I appreciate Andrea Horvath’s letter.  23 

Just as an update, I did e-mail out today to all of 24 

you the press release where Andrea has asked the 25 
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premier and the government an apology based on the 1 

MTO’s involvement of the friction testing and the 2 

fact they had the same identical raw data from 2007 3 

to 2014 and did not make that public until last 4 

month. 5 

So if we can maybe formally have 6 

that press release included in the agenda as well. 7 

 It would tie into this particular letter.  So 8 

through you, Mr. Mayor, how would I go about doing 9 

that? 10 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  I’ll 11 

check with Madam Clerk. 12 

THE REGISTRAR:  Is that the e-mail 13 

that we received just prior to this meeting? 14 

MR. MERULLA:  That’s correct.  I 15 

sent it out, yes. 16 

THE REGISTRAR:  We can add it as 17 

3.2 of the same matter. 18 

MR. MERULLA:  Perfect. 19 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Communication 20 

item as well.  Okay. 21 

MR. MERULLA:  That’s all.  Thank 22 

you very much. 23 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you.  And 24 

then, the recommendation would be for it to be 25 

406



5 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

received?  Thank you. 1 

Councillor Jackson, I understand 2 

you have a motion then on these items? 3 

MR. JACKSON:  Yes. 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Go ahead. 5 

MR. JACKSON:  So then thanks, Mr. 6 

Mayor.  I move by myself, seconded by Ward 7 7 

councillor, Esther Pauls, that communications 3.1 8 

and now 3.2 that Councillor Merulla read from the 9 

Honourable Andrea Horvath, NDP leader, respecting 10 

the safety of Red Hill Valley Expressway, urging 11 

the City to do the right thing, open the review of 12 

the circumstances to judicial review, and the 13 

apology that Councillor Merulla read from her to 14 

the house be received. 15 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 16 

you. 17 

So again, e-vote required for the 18 

communication items coming right up.  Because 19 

normally when we do communications as a whole even 20 

though they’re received or referred, we do the 21 

whole group on electronic vote basis.  No?  We 22 

normally do. 23 

THE REGISTRAR:  In this case, 24 

they’re both to be received, so it can be a show of 25 
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hands. 1 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Oh, okay.  All 2 

right.  Technicalities. 3 

Okay.  All in favour.  Carried.  4 

Thank you. 5 

Yes, that’s right.  It kind of 6 

makes you feel like we’re back in a year ago. 7 

Councillor Merulla, you have you 8 

have item 4.1, a motion respecting an apology from 9 

the Province of Ontario, respecting the Ministry of 10 

Transportation friction testing results.  11 

Councillor Merulla, you want to indicate and you 12 

want to speak to that? 13 

MR. MERULLA:  Thank you, Mr. 14 

Mayor.  And it’s moved myself, seconded by 15 

Councillor Collins, respecting an apology from the 16 

Province of Ontario respecting the Ministry of 17 

Transportation’s friction testing results.  Whereas 18 

city council invites tension, the residents of the 19 

City of Hamilton have received an apology from City 20 

of Hamilton staff for the manner and the timing to 21 

which council was informed of the friction testing 22 

results on the Red Hill Valley Expressway. 23 

And whereas city council invites 24 

tension, the residents of the City of Hamilton have 25 
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not received an apology from the Province of 1 

Ontario respecting the Ministry of Transportation’s 2 

friction testing results, which concurred with the 3 

results within the City of Hamilton report during 4 

the same period of time, and in doing so, 5 

compounded the betrayal to city council and the 6 

residents of the City of Hamilton. 7 

Therefore, the result that city 8 

council demand an apology from the Province of 9 

Ontario respecting the Ministry of Transportation’s 10 

friction testing results on behalf of all residents 11 

of the City of Hamilton.  And just quickly, Mr. 12 

Mayor, throughout this whole process, I think the 13 

MTO’s involvement has been somehow ignored up until 14 

most recently in the house today when Andrea 15 

Horvath demanded an apology from the government, 16 

and also, an apology from the MTO which coincides 17 

with my notice of motion that I sent out last week. 18 

The most interesting component 19 

through this is that the raw data with respect to 20 

the 2013 City of Hamilton friction test is 21 

identical to the tests and results the Ministry of 22 

Transportation had.  So the raw data itself is 23 

identical.  What’s really interesting and really 24 

becomes a viewpoint of interest province-wide is 25 
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that the testing which the raw data that our staff 1 

had filtered through a scrutiny process is 2 

considered a platinum process versus that what the 3 

MTO does, which is considered a bronze process. 4 

So when they took that raw data 5 

and they filtered it through their assessment, the 6 

conclusion came back that everything was fine.  7 

It’s up to standard.  Our staff brought it through 8 

a more heavily scrutinized process, and the results 9 

came back that it was below standard.  The crux of 10 

my concern on that is this:  If the standard is a 11 

bronze standard and the Ministry of Transportation 12 

signed off the exact same raw data, that our staff 13 

never did and considered it to be below standard 14 

based on the friction testing, that how much of the 15 

supplied science that the MTO uses is implied 16 

throughout the entire province of Ontario, which 17 

means that every single highway in the province of 18 

Ontario would be subject to the same bronze 19 

standard whereas our staff brought it to a platinum 20 

standard. 21 

And that’s something that -- and 22 

throughout the judicial review, which I’m strongly 23 

supporting and we’ll be discussing later on -- is 24 

something we really need to focus in on in order to 25 
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get to the, I guess, bottom of the perception of it 1 

being a problem versus the reality of it. 2 

But clearly there’s an issue here 3 

province-wide.  If their standard is considered to 4 

be a bronze standard if they had the same raw data 5 

and everybody thinks the sky is falling, I truly 6 

look forward to that process in order to gain some 7 

sort of understanding and grip on reality on this 8 

particular issue.  I appreciate your time.  Thank 9 

you. 10 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank you 11 

very much. 12 

Councillor Clark, on that topic 13 

then. 14 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor, 15 

and I appreciate the mover of the motion and his 16 

intentions. 17 

What I found peculiar and 18 

problematic for myself when I learned that the 19 

Ministry of Transportation had conducted testing in 20 

2007 was that it was right after the highway the 21 

Parkway was opened.  And from my experience with 22 

the Ministry of Transportation, they just don’t go 23 

around randomly testing highways, and I don’t 24 

understand why they chose at that moment to come to 25 
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Hamilton and test the Parkway under the 1 

administration of the City of Hamilton, and really 2 

to this day, it baffles me. 3 

And then they had follow-up tests, 4 

and then they didn’t share the information with our 5 

transportation staff, our road staff, our 6 

management people, which again baffled me, and we 7 

need to find out why they would have done that, and 8 

if they were looking for something or they were 9 

curious about something or they had concerns about 10 

something, why didn’t they just simply speak up to 11 

the City?  Why did they do it in the manner that 12 

they did?  And I mean, we only found out about it 13 

by happenstance. 14 

So I support the member’s motion. 15 

 I think there’s an awful lot more that we need to 16 

find out about what the Province knew and what they 17 

didn’t know and why they didn’t share it with us, 18 

and I think that’s why we included it in the 19 

motion.  Thank you. 20 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 21 

you. 22 

Councillor Whitehead. 23 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Yeah, thank you. 24 

I think part of the context is -- 25 
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that we were already aware of is that in the 1 

construction of the Red Hill Expressway, our staff 2 

had consulted with MTO, and it was the MTO that was 3 

already using what was apparently supposed to be a 4 

higher type of product on some of the highways, and 5 

through that consultation, we had decided to use 6 

the same material.  So I think they probably had 7 

some interest in monitoring that type of material 8 

and whether or not in fact it was delivering what 9 

the specs had indicated. 10 

I do agree with the speaker -- the 11 

former speakers that you would still think that 12 

because it seemed to be an informal partnership in 13 

the context of the type of material being used and 14 

whether it met the specs that was indicated at the 15 

time that we implemented it, that they would have 16 

an interest in how it was performing so that -- you 17 

know, obviously they got other highways that they 18 

have -- well, my understanding -- the same product 19 

on, that they would have an interest, but what, 20 

again, boggles my mind is if they’re going to come 21 

in and do the testing, why those results wouldn’t 22 

be immediately shared with our own staff, and I 23 

think that’s a big, huge question.  So I certainly 24 

support what’s before us here today and hope we get 25 
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some answers.  Thank you. 1 

And I too have already put it out 2 

there and there’s not going to be any surprise.  3 

The motion I see here, we’ll deal with after the 4 

in-camera portion, but this is one of the few times 5 

that you’re not going to change my mind.  I am 6 

supporting the judicial review.  Thank you. 7 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you.  8 

We’re not there yet, so we can save that debate for 9 

a little later. 10 

Councillor Danko. 11 

MR. DANKO:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 12 

So just on this motion 13 

specifically, I genuinely appreciate the gist of 14 

the motion, the purpose for bringing this forward, 15 

but I think the base assumption here is that the 16 

MTO did something wrong or got bad results or 17 

somehow did something untoward that warrants an 18 

apology, and at this point, I don’t have evidence 19 

of that, so unfortunately, I can’t support the 20 

request for an apology. 21 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 22 

you. 23 

Councillor Merulla. 24 

MR. MERULLA:  I’m not sure if I 25 
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made myself clear originally, so just for the 1 

public record, the results from the Ministry of 2 

Transportation released last month haven’t been 3 

announced to anyone.  The raw data was identical to 4 

the raw data that our staff had.  So as it was 5 

mentioned in the house today and the apology was 6 

demanded today, the raw data itself then is 7 

filtered through a process, and I’m sure Councillor 8 

Danko knows better than I do that there are various 9 

different standards and different processes from an 10 

engineering perspective. 11 

So the standard in which our city 12 

staff used was superior to that than what the 13 

Ministry of Transportation uses.  So when you put 14 

it through a highly scrutinized process, so the 15 

data going in is identical, but the outcome 16 

differed.  The Province chose to not release that 17 

raw data to us or to alarm anyone that there’s a 18 

potential problem.  It’s the exact same reason why 19 

everybody’s up in arms about our own staff. 20 

So the Ministry and our staff did 21 

the exact same thing.  They tested the road.  They 22 

had the results and chose not to make that publicly 23 

known.  Our staff has apologized to council, and by 24 

extension, the community.  That begs the question 25 
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now:  Why would we not ask for the same to be 1 

applied to the MTO as the house today debated?  And 2 

my understanding is we see significant non-support. 3 

So really, it is an 4 

apples-to-apples comparison.  It’s identical.  The 5 

MTO staff and our staff, both had the same data, 6 

and they both chose not to for some reason make it 7 

publicly known, hence the reason why the motion is 8 

before us.  I appreciate your time. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  I think 10 

we’re clear on that, so we’ll test the will of 11 

council -- almost. 12 

Councillor Ferguson. 13 

MR. FERGUSON:  Yeah, my only issue 14 

is -- and I have a little bit of experience putting 15 

highways and did it for over 30 years.  The MTO is 16 

always experimenting with new surface coarse mixes, 17 

and municipalities do not build high-speed 18 

highways, so they turn to the MTO, what’s the best 19 

mix to put in here, and over the years, the MTO’s 20 

had a lot of problems, whether it’s rutting or 21 

indication of steel slag chunks coming up of 22 

surface coarse asphalt. 23 

I think our highway was one of the 24 

first to use to use trap rock, a very hard rock out 25 
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of Quebec, which is 100 per cent crushed, and the 1 

edges of that rock give you traction, and I suspect 2 

that they were just going out and experimenting to 3 

see how it’s performing to know what they do with 4 

our highways because we actually copied and pasted 5 

their design, which is very typical for 6 

municipalities. 7 

So I suspect this whole time is a 8 

bit of a tempest in a teapot, but I would like to 9 

get that confirmed by the MTO also. 10 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  All 11 

right.  We have no further speakers on the issue 12 

then, so the motion is before you.  E-vote. 13 

What’s e-vote?  Did you cancel 14 

that vote?  Did you?  Okay.  Hang on.  Okay.  Thank 15 

you. 16 

Councillor Whitehead. 17 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Well, it’s 18 

premature.  I was concerned that we’re going to be 19 

having a conversation in-camera, depending on the 20 

disposition of this council coming out of that 21 

in-camera session. 22 

We may be calling on the Province 23 

to facilitate any cost issues.  And so, at one 24 

point, we’re slamming them and saying, “You should 25 
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apologize,” and the other side, we may be saying, 1 

“Step up to the plate and help fund, you know, an 2 

investigation.”  So it just sort of concerned me 3 

not knowing what the result will be coming out of 4 

the in-camera session that we now -- we just -- the 5 

same hand that we may be asking to help fund may be 6 

the hand that we’re making demands of, and I was 7 

concerned about the -- 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  You could 9 

have made that point a little sooner.  That might 10 

have been better, but at this point, we’re passed 11 

it already. 12 

So on the in-camera portion, we 13 

have a potential motion moving to in-camera.  We 14 

have three in-camera items:  One, city manager; the 15 

other one, Television City; and third, the Red Hill 16 

Valley Parkway. 17 

Councillor Clark, do you want to 18 

talk about the -- 19 

MR. CLARK:  Yes, thank you very 20 

much, Mr. Mayor, and I’m sure everyone’s read the 21 

report.  So this is item 5.2, which is about the 22 

road infrastructure review from the outside legal 23 

counsel.  So I read the document now five times 24 

except for the very back, which was all of the 25 
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Acts, and I appreciated that they provided all of 1 

the statutes. 2 

The report for me when I read it 3 

was a -- virtually a line-by-line answering the 4 

questions that we as a council proposed to them, 5 

and they provided those answers back.  They 6 

provided advice to us in terms of how we may 7 

proceed on what the options were, what the 8 

advantages were. 9 

When I read the report -- and I 10 

completely agree that this is at this moment 11 

solicitor-client privilege.  It’s a privilege that 12 

is discretionary.  It’s a privilege that this 13 

council can waive. 14 

When I read the report, I could 15 

not find any material points in the report that 16 

would be a prejudice to the municipality and in any 17 

form of outside litigation or lawsuits that may be 18 

pending because it really didn’t provide any 19 

evidence from any wrongdoing or anything about the 20 

actual road test.  It only dealt with the law and 21 

here’s your options and here’s the way you might 22 

want to go and here’s the potential cost, etc., 23 

etc. 24 

So given all of that and given 25 
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that this is an incredibly compelling public 1 

interest within our municipality, as I read the 2 

report, it came to me that perhaps this report, we 3 

should be waiving our solicitor-client privilege, 4 

allow the report to be made public, have the 5 

discussion with the solicitor about this report in 6 

publics so everyone is all on the same page 7 

throughout this. 8 

We’ve already been hammered a few 9 

times from pundits about our five-hour meeting on 10 

this in-camera.  At the end of the day -- and I’m 11 

legitimately serious about this -- I don’t see any 12 

particular reason why we would need to keep this 13 

in-camera and have the discussion in-camera.  It 14 

could be 100 per cent in public, and at the 15 

appropriate time, I’d be happy to move the motion 16 

to waive our solicitor-client privilege to allow 17 

this to be discussed in public session. 18 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 19 

you.  Councillor Farr. 20 

MR. FARR:  Mine isn’t on this 21 

item, but a little bit earlier, I just did the 22 

appropriate time.  Let me know.  I’d like to move a 23 

motion to change the in-camera agenda to allow the 24 

Television City item to appear first on the agenda 25 
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at the appropriate time unless I can do that now. 1 

MR. EISENBERGER:  We will do that 2 

in-camera, so it will be fine. 3 

MR. FARR:  Oh, you will.  Thank 4 

you. 5 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Councillor 6 

Johnson. 7 

MS. JOHNSON:  Thank you, Mr. 8 

Mayor, and I did not read this five times but I did 9 

read it, and I come to the same conclusion:  Why 10 

isn’t this public?  And I really believe that if 11 

this report was made public and a public debate was 12 

held on this public document, then the public would 13 

understand why we made that informed decision.  So 14 

I support waiving the solicitor-client privilege as 15 

well and release this report.  I’d be happy to 16 

second it as well. 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 18 

Councillor Merulla. 19 

MR. MERULLA:  Just quickly, Mr. 20 

Mayor, from my perspective, this thing needs to be 21 

open in public.  We have absolutely nothing to 22 

hide, so let’s just get it out there.  Let’s do it 23 

and let’s do it as quickly as possible because we 24 

need to start the judicial review as quickly as 25 
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possible.  Thank you. 1 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 2 

Councillor Partridge. 3 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Yes, thank you, 4 

Mr. Mayor, and I agree 100 per cent.  I read it 5 

through and the two examples that are pointed to in 6 

this particular report have long been public and 7 

reviewed by the public and out in the public, so I 8 

could see nothing in this report that met all of 9 

the criteria for why we would keep this report or 10 

even this discussion in-camera.  So I believe too 11 

that it should be public.  Thank you. 12 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 13 

Councillor Whitehead, you’re on.  14 

Not on?  I’m happy to move on. 15 

Councillor Vanderbaek. 16 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  No, no -- 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Speak to me.  18 

All right.  You’re on. 19 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  The mike wasn’t 20 

on.  I have no legal advice to ask for.  There is 21 

no real legal advice here.  This is more of a 22 

process decision and a political decision, so for 23 

those reasons, it doesn’t make any sense for me 24 

whatsoever to go in-camera on this item, and so, I 25 
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wholeheartedly support us having this conversation 1 

in public. 2 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 3 

Councillor Vanderbaek. 4 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you.  So 5 

for all of the above reasons, I too think that this 6 

definitely needs to be in public.  Thank you. 7 

MR. EISENBERGER:  I’ve put myself 8 

on the speaker’s list, which I can’t do but I’m 9 

going to do now.  So I’m going to turn it over to 10 

Councillor Jackson. 11 

So I understand and I’m not -- I’m 12 

of the same ilk that I want this report to be 13 

public, and I think it would helpful to have a 14 

public debate, but I do want to hear from our legal 15 

staff in terms of the potential issues that would 16 

cause us some trouble if we start debating them 17 

publicly. 18 

So to our solicitor, Nicole, we 19 

can either do that in-camera because we are going 20 

to go in-camera for two items, and I would request 21 

that we get those two items out of the way.  One of 22 

them, as you know, is the city manager issue, and 23 

we don’t have to be waiting here for hours on end 24 

to have to deal with that issue. 25 
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And the other one is in Television 1 

City that Councillor Farr wants to put to bed, and 2 

then we can -- I would like to have some legal 3 

advice in terms of where the potential problems 4 

might be, so -- you know, some of that we could get 5 

now, but more appropriately, I think it might be a 6 

brief conversation in-camera to do that, and then 7 

come out of camera with the public document. 8 

So Madam Solicitor, can you give 9 

us some thoughts on some of the difficulties with 10 

what we’re proposing to do?  I mean, it’s eyes wide 11 

open, so we need to know what areas we might get in 12 

trouble in and what areas we are fully free to 13 

discuss. 14 

MR. JACKSON:  City solicitor. 15 

MS. AUTI:  Through the chair to 16 

the mayor, so the concerns that I would have and 17 

certainly I would welcome the opportunity to have 18 

more of a discussion in-camera on just the 19 

rationale for going in or out, but I can give you 20 

sort of my high-level thoughts at this point. 21 

I recognize obviously and see 22 

council’s desire to have a transparent discussion 23 

on the issue.  That said, there are obviously risks 24 

associated with that, particularly as there are 25 
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ongoing litigation matters, potential personnel 1 

issues, and I would just want to have an 2 

opportunity to discuss those. 3 

The report itself, there is a 4 

distinction obviously between the content of the 5 

report and the opportunity to have a discussion and 6 

a frank conversation with the external counsel that 7 

have been retained to provide you with that 8 

external advice, so we may want to have a 9 

conversation around whether the report is released, 10 

whether you have the discussion, and have an 11 

opportunity to have that frank conversation and 12 

probe those issues. 13 

I don’t want to get into too much 14 

of the detail, but certainly in my mind, there’s at 15 

least the issue of the breadth of the investigation 16 

and that particular conversation, and I would 17 

suggest potentially is, in my mind, better done 18 

in-camera so that you could have an opportunity to 19 

have those conversations freely.  That said, I 20 

guess that I prefer to get a chance speak to that 21 

in-camera, but I’m in council’s hands as always. 22 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you, Ms. 23 

Chair.  I mean, I think I would want counsel to 24 

have a brief opportunity to understand, you know, 25 
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some of the legal ramifications of what we’re about 1 

to do, and we can’t really do that out of camera, 2 

so I’m not suggesting that we bury this report.  3 

I’m fully in favour of having a public discussion. 4 

 I want this report to get out, but I want us all 5 

to be aware of the potential legal pratfalls that 6 

might be existing here, so I would ask that we have 7 

a brief discussion in-camera on that. 8 

MR. JACKSON:  Sure.  Back to you, 9 

Mr. Mayor. 10 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 11 

Councillor Ferguson. 12 

MR. FERGUSON:  I was going to ask 13 

the exact same thing you did.  I was going 14 

hopefully that we go in-camera and ask the city 15 

solicitor were we putting ourselves at risk or are 16 

we exposed?  Is there any potential lawsuits that 17 

could come out of this report?  And then if there 18 

isn’t, then we’ll go back in public and have the 19 

debate.  So I’m 100 per cent in line with what your 20 

thinking is. 21 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 22 

you. 23 

Councillor Clarke. 24 

Was it Councillor Danko?  Is it 25 

426



25 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

your first time on this one?  Maybe not.  So 1 

Councillor Danko. 2 

And Councillor Clark, if you’d 3 

indicate, I’d put you back on. 4 

MR. DANKO:  So just on the 5 

discussion, is it the intention to have the 6 

discussion in public as well?  So I have some 7 

questions to the external legal counsel that I 8 

don’t think I can skirt around between what is 9 

public and what’s not, and I’d like to have at 10 

least a portion of that discussion in-camera. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 12 

you. 13 

I’m going to turn to -- I think 14 

Councillor Clark was up first.  So you were there, 15 

and then we can go from there. 16 

Councillor Farr. 17 

MR. FARR:  Okay.  So the motion’s 18 

on the floor.  You hear the motion.  What prevents 19 

us as we have in the past, we keep this public, and 20 

if we’re straying, you just let us know we’re 21 

straying, and just like we’ve done many other times 22 

before, we’ll be sure to heed your advice, and if 23 

you suggest that we’re straying into an area that 24 

needs to be discussed in-camera, then we’ll act 25 
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accordingly, I’m sure. 1 

Through you, Mr. Mayor. 2 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Nicole. 3 

MS. AUTI:  Through you, Mr. Mayor. 4 

 So I hear you, Councillor.  My concern is that at 5 

that point, the statement may or may not have been 6 

made in public, so I’m happy to have the 7 

conversation and give you my advice on how to best 8 

protect yourself if you do decide to waive the 9 

privilege and not only on the report but also on 10 

the discussion and the interaction between 11 

yourselves and the exterior legal counsel. 12 

I can do that in public, and I can 13 

give you my caution and direction on that.  I think 14 

it would be beneficial, and certainly, you would be 15 

able to have a more fulsome discussion around what 16 

those cautions should be.  Ultimately, we have in 17 

the past and at least in my experience with you in 18 

the last couple of years, we have in one other 19 

instance done that.  Within that instance, we did 20 

in go in-camera to have the discussion first and 21 

then waived privilege on the report following that. 22 

So I would recommend that at a 23 

minimum is to at least have a brief -- however 24 

brief -- opportunity to have that discussion 25 
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in-camera, and then you can make a decision on what 1 

to do coming out of that, whether you want to waive 2 

privilege on the report and continue to have the 3 

debate in public. 4 

MR. FARR:  Okay.  Well, I’m of 5 

mind that you publicly caution us then on areas 6 

that we should avoid, as you just suggested among 7 

the two suggestions.  So that is just to let you 8 

know, and if we to get to that point, if I need to 9 

formally ask that she -- that Nicole, sorry, 10 

caution us publicly on where we would be straying, 11 

then we can maintain our support. 12 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 13 

Councillor Jackson. 14 

MR. JACKSON:  Mr. Mayor, I support 15 

your suggestion.  Our city solicitor has requested 16 

-- recommended we at least begin in-camera.  She’s 17 

our lawyer.  She’s protecting the corporation 18 

council.  I want to at least hear the advice in 19 

camera and then at some point in time have a full 20 

discussion out of camera.  Thank you. 21 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 22 

I think it was Councillor Clark 23 

that was back at the top of the list, and then 24 

we’ll go from there. 25 
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MR. CLARK:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor, 1 

and I can’t speak to the protocols and what has 2 

happened in the last four years.  I wasn’t here.  I 3 

can speak to my previous eight years, and there was 4 

a number of times where the council felt that the 5 

information was of compelling public interest, and 6 

it should be released to the public and the 7 

discussions should be in public, and the city 8 

solicitor as Councillor Farr indicated simply if a 9 

councillor was asking a question, and it was 10 

straying into an area where there was potential 11 

prejudice to the municipality, then the city 12 

solicitor spoke up directly and cautioned them, and 13 

the line of questioning stopped, and they went into 14 

camera later on to finish those questions.  So I 15 

can see both options completely viable. 16 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 17 

Councillor Whitehead. 18 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Thank you.  I 19 

heard our solicitor talk concerns about the scope, 20 

and from my perspective, going into a judicial 21 

review, for example, I mean, I don’t think we can 22 

actually define scope of investigation, so -- 23 

MR. EISENBERGER:  We’re weighing 24 

in to debate on the actual topic now.  We’re 25 
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talking about whether we go into camera or not into 1 

camera. 2 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Yeah, but -- 3 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Let’s not -- 4 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  I heard -- 5 

MR. EISENBERGER:  I caution you to 6 

not talk about the specifics. 7 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  I’m not getting 8 

into answers on that issue.  I’m trying to 9 

understand how scope becomes a legal confidential 10 

issue. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  That’s legal 12 

advice that you’d want to give in-camera. 13 

Nicole. 14 

MS. AUTI:  Through you Mr. Mayor. 15 

 So in my mind, at some point, counsel will need to 16 

give direction whether it’s -- well, at some point 17 

as to the breadth of whatever investigation you 18 

choose.  Some of that interaction and discussion 19 

around where you land on that spectrum of what is 20 

included in that might get into issues that touch 21 

on liability, and I can’t really say more than that 22 

at this point without kind of -- 23 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Thank you. 24 

MS. AUTI:  -- wandering into that, 25 
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but that’s my concern, but we can certainly -- 1 

either way, I mean, I will always give you my best 2 

advice in public or not, so I will do my best. 3 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 4 

Councillor Partridge -- no, sorry. 5 

 Councillor Wilson, first time. 6 

And Councillor Partridge, put 7 

yourself on again, please. 8 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  I’m on. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  It should go 10 

off.  There we go. 11 

Councillor Wilson. 12 

MS. WILSON:  Thank you.  I think 13 

it’s obvious the two aren’t mutually exclusive.  I 14 

think what I’m hearing is that there is a will and 15 

a want to have a discussion fully in public, but I 16 

heed the counsel of our solicitor, and that’s what 17 

she is here for, to give us the counsel, and I 18 

would appreciate hearing that counsel at the 19 

beginning of discussion.  So thank you. 20 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 21 

Councillor Partridge. 22 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Yes, thank you, 23 

Mr. Mayor, and I’m of similar mind.  I think, you 24 

know, if we go in-camera to begin with, that’s 25 

432



31 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

specifically to have the discussion around, you 1 

know, certainly any HR issues or employee issues, 2 

but as far as discussing the actual report, that 3 

needs to be done out in full session and out in the 4 

public. 5 

So I would just say that, you 6 

know, let’s not stray into discussing the report.  7 

When we are in-camera, we need to stay specific to 8 

any of the in-camera applicable issues.  Thank you. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  I think 10 

there’s fundamental agreement that I think 11 

everybody wants the report to be public, so I don’t 12 

think there’s any disagreement on that.  I think 13 

the disagreement is that we at least at the outset 14 

get some legal advice in terms of how we trip into 15 

that. 16 

So Councillor Merulla. 17 

MR. MERULLA:  Mr. Mayor, with all 18 

due respect, we’re headed towards a judicial 19 

review.  We’re not going to have any 20 

confidentiality under that -- I don’t think people 21 

understand the power of a judicial review.  So we 22 

are delaying the inevitable.  Nothing is going to 23 

be subject to confidentiality, and our lawyer is 24 

simply giving us advice, but we make the decision. 25 
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So folks, we are delaying the 1 

inevitable.  Let’s just open this whole thing up.  2 

Let’s have a public discussion.  I’m prepared to 3 

release this report today right now at this moment, 4 

to be frank, because I know there’s support for 5 

judicial review.  So if you’re going to support a 6 

judicial review and seek confidentiality 7 

simultaneously, you’re sucking and blowing at the 8 

same time. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  We’re not doing 10 

that.  So we are going to go in-camera on two items 11 

for sure, Television City and the city manager.  12 

And so, in the context of that, I don’t see any 13 

harm in getting a brief overview from our solicitor 14 

in terms of any of the potential problems of some 15 

of the discussions that might be had out of camera 16 

based on this report.  That’s all I’m saying, and 17 

we’re going to go into camera anyway. 18 

MR. MERULLA:  That’s fine.  I see 19 

that as a problem, but respectfully, I disagree.  I 20 

say that we deal with the other issues in-camera, 21 

but this one here, we just simply do it out in the 22 

open because I know where it’s headed, and we can’t 23 

delay the inevitable.  It’s kind of -- it’s silly. 24 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  It’s the 25 

434



33 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

will of council at any given point. 1 

So Councillor Pearson. 2 

MS. PEARSON:  Mr. Mayor, thank 3 

you, and I certainly appreciate city solicitor’s 4 

position, and I agree.  I support going in-camera. 5 

 I hate to be at the end of this years from now and 6 

going we missed something because we didn’t get 7 

in-camera information, so -- or didn’t ask the 8 

questions that we could have asked in-camera. 9 

So I want to uphold that here 10 

tonight.  I think we should be prudent in doing 11 

that, and I will support that we take that time.  12 

If everybody’s prudent in moving forward, then 13 

hopefully it will be very fast in-camera and not 14 

like the last meeting a month ago, and we can get 15 

at least the answers to the questions that we have. 16 

 Thank you. 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 18 

you. 19 

Councillor Clark. 20 

MR. CLARK:  So if I recall the 21 

practice in the past, that is, if there are a 22 

number of councillors who are wanting to seek 23 

counsel from our legal counsel, then historically, 24 

the practice is we go in-camera to hear that 25 
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counsel so that the majority doesn’t punish the 1 

minority, and they don’t have that opportunity. 2 

So I’m fine with that.  I 3 

understand that the intent to go in-camera is to 4 

hear the city solicitor’s advice in terms of how 5 

far we can go with questions and statements on this 6 

document, and then the intent is to come out of 7 

camera so it should be relatively short and release 8 

the document and have the discussion.  Correct? 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  That’s the 10 

intent, yes. 11 

MR. CLARK:  Then I would support 12 

doing that.  I’ll move my motion. 13 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So I’ll ask for 14 

a motion to move into camera then.  Moved by Clark, 15 

seconded by Ferguson.  The motion is to go into 16 

camera on all three items at the outset. 17 

Let me get to the -- what’s the 18 

procedural issue?  Microphone, Terry. 19 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Correct me if I’m 20 

wrong, once it’s on the floor, it’s in possession 21 

of council. 22 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So there was no 23 

motion made.  There were people talking about doing 24 

motions, but nobody actually formally made a 25 
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motion.  I’ve heard a motion now from Councillor 1 

Clark, seconded by Councillor Ferguson, to move 2 

into camera. 3 

Some have suggested that we 4 

separate them, which is fine, but let me read the 5 

motion to move into camera based on subsection 6 

8.1(b), (d), (e), and (f) of the City’s Procedural 7 

Bylaw 18-270 and Section 239(2)(b), (d), (e), and 8 

(f) of the Ontario Municipal Act, as amended, as 9 

the subject matter pertains to personnel matters 10 

about an identifiable individual, including City 11 

employees, labour relations, or employee 12 

negotiations, litigation or potential litigation, 13 

including matters before administrative tribunals 14 

affecting the City, and receiving advice that is 15 

subject to solicitor-client privilege, including 16 

communications necessary for that purpose. 17 

So the motion was to separate 18 

items, so to go into camera on Television City, do 19 

we need separate electronic votes on all of them? 20 

On the first item then, Television 21 

City.  Please indicate. 22 

Councillor Clark. 23 

MR. CLARK:  Again, I feel 24 

compelled to clarify that we agree that we’re going 25 
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in-camera in five to hear from the city solicitor 1 

to caution us in terms of what questions and 2 

statements, how far we can go with those questions 3 

and statements.  We’re not going in to hear the 4 

actual report.  The report will be released, and 5 

we’ll hear from the lawyer outside in public 6 

session.  We all agree to that because it’s a 7 

little bit different than what we’re moving here.  8 

That’s why I’m just making sure. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  No, I agree with 10 

that.  I think most everyone else does.  That’s 11 

certainly my intent. 12 

Everyone agreed on that?  Yes.  13 

Other than that those aren’t supporting that -- 14 

THE REGISTRAR:  It would just be 15 

Section F of the procedural bylaw and of the 16 

Municipal Act for 5.2. 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay. 18 

THE REGISTRAR:  For 19 

solicitor-client advice. 20 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Right.  Okay. 21 

So on three items then.  On the 22 

first item, Television City, all in favour?  Thank 23 

you. 24 

On the second item, the city 25 
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manager report.  Thank you for that.  Unanimous. 1 

And on the last item, to get to 2 

item F of the City’s bylaw to get advice from our 3 

solicitor regarding the privilege.  All in favour? 4 

 All right.  And the vote is -- okay.  So that’s 5 

carried. 6 

All right.  Thank you.  So I now 7 

ask the public and any staff to please vacate the 8 

room for a period of our closed session meeting and 9 

exit the chambers.  The members of the public will 10 

be invited to return once our deliberations are 11 

complete.  And we will wait the appropriate five 12 

minutes. 13 

--- Upon commencing the in-camera session 14 

 at 5:40 p.m. 15 

--- Upon resuming at 7:50 p.m. 16 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  So we 17 

have two items to identify.  One of them is 18 

Television City. 19 

Councillor Farr, you have the 20 

motion? 21 

MR. FARR:  Move by myself, 22 

seconded by Councillor Clark.  Local Planning 23 

Appeal Tribunal appeals by Television City Hamilton 24 

Inc., statement proposal, Ward 2:  A, that the 25 
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direction provided to staff in closed session be 1 

approved; and B, that Report LS19012 and its 2 

appendices and recommendations respecting Local 3 

Appeal Tribunal appeals by Television City Hamilton 4 

Inc. settlement proposal remain confidential. 5 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 6 

you.  And the seconder was?  Sorry, I missed that. 7 

MR. FARR:  Clark. 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 9 

you. 10 

E-vote.  All that are here have 11 

voted.  Thank you.  And that’s approved. 12 

Councillor Jackson, if you would 13 

take the chair.  Please indicate here, and I will 14 

put forward a motion.  Okay. 15 

MR. JACKSON:  Mr. Mayor. 16 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you.  And 17 

it’s moved by myself, seconded by Councillor 18 

Pearson on the city manager recruitment process, 19 

that:  A, that the executive director of human 20 

resources be directed to offer Janette Smith the 21 

position of chief administrative officer, city 22 

manager, effective May the 6th, 2019; and B, that 23 

the clerk be directed to prepare the necessary 24 

bylaw to appoint and prescribe the duties and 25 
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responsibilities of the chief administrative 1 

officer for council’s consideration on March 27th, 2 

2019. 3 

MR. JACKSON:  Good. 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 5 

MR. JACKSON:  Okay.  All right.  6 

E-vote. 7 

MR. FERGUSON:  Hey, I’m the deputy 8 

mayor.  Hey. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Where’s 10 

our recordkeeping here?  Okay.  But you have voted, 11 

so let’s -- 12 

MR. FERGUSON:  That’s all right. 13 

MR. EISENBERGER:  And the final 14 

tally is? 15 

MR. JACKSON:  Let the new city 16 

manager know, Mr. Mayor, it was unanimous. 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you all 18 

very much, and thank you to the recruitment and 19 

congratulations to Janette Smith, and we’ll be 20 

introducing her on the 27th of March. 21 

On to the next item, we have a 22 

direction on the report relative to the Red Hill 23 

Valley Parkway.  We are going to have a 24 

presentation.  There is a -- 25 
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So remind me, Madam Clerk, we’re 1 

going to make the report public.  Do I need a 2 

motion in that to waive solicitor-client privilege? 3 

THE REGISTRAR:  You do. 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 5 

you.  So I’ll have that motion moved by Clark, 6 

seconded by Pearson. 7 

All in favour?  I think electronic 8 

vote on this one would be important to waive 9 

solicitor-client privilege.  Point of order?  Yes. 10 

So just to be clear, I asked 11 

Janette what she preferred, Ja-nette or Jan-ette, 12 

and she prefers either one, but thanks for that 13 

technicality. 14 

So back to the motion, the move to 15 

waive solicitor-client privilege on the Red Hill 16 

Valley Parkway report, electronic vote now.  Thank 17 

you.  Also unanimous. 18 

Thank you very much.  I’m now 19 

going to turn it over to Nicole Auti for her 20 

overview presentation and then to our expert legal 21 

counsel.  If you could introduce them, by the way, 22 

that would be helpful. 23 

MS. AUTI:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor.  24 

So I will turn it over to Eli Lederman to speak to 25 
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you on the matter that you’ve requested, which is 1 

the various vehicles and types of investigations 2 

that are available to council.  So Mr. Lederman 3 

will go through that and certainly can answer 4 

council’s questions on that, subject to the 5 

conversation that we’ve just had. 6 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Just 7 

before we do, have we made copies of the report 8 

available to media? 9 

THE REGISTRAR:  No, we have not.  10 

We -- not confidential copies. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Right.  So we 12 

waive solicitor-client privilege to make the 13 

document public and to get legal advice in public. 14 

 And so, I’m asking:  Are we giving the report to 15 

media and other people that are interested?  And 16 

you say you’ve made copies, so are we free to 17 

release those now?  Thank you.  I just want to be 18 

clear.  So if they could hand those out, that will 19 

be great, and I’ll turn it back over to our legal 20 

counsel. 21 

Thank you, sir.  Sorry for the 22 

interruption. 23 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Thank you, Mr. 24 

Mayor.  I intend to address briefly this evening to 25 
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review some of the facts and the issues raised in 1 

the report that we’ve been asked to prepare.  Let 2 

me briefly start by outlining our mandate, and that 3 

is that we were asked to prepare a report on the 4 

investigation procedures available under the 5 

Municipal Act of 2001 and to assist council in 6 

assessing its options regarding the appropriate and 7 

most effective investigation procedure to employ. 8 

As you’ve seen from what we’ve 9 

said in our report, the most effective procedure 10 

will in large measure depend on the scope of the 11 

investigation, and the critical question to be 12 

determined is:  What questions do you want answered 13 

from the chosen form of investigation?  Let me 14 

provide to you some of the factual background as we 15 

understand them and that have been presented to us 16 

that led to our review of the different options and 17 

our ultimate recommendation. 18 

First, we are aware that there was 19 

a draft report prepared by Tradewind Scientific 20 

Limited dated November 20, 2013.  That report had 21 

been commissioned by Golder Associates Limited to 22 

test friction levels on the Red Hill Valley Parkway 23 

as part of a larger safety audit. 24 

In January of 2014, the report was 25 
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submitted to the City’s department of engineering 1 

services.  The information and/or findings 2 

contained in that report were not presented to 3 

council or to the public.  We understand from the 4 

facts that had been presented to us that in August 5 

or September of 2018, the director of engineering 6 

services became aware of this report, and the 7 

report was then disclosed to the public in February 8 

of 2019. 9 

Based upon that factual 10 

background, council can commence an investigation 11 

with varying degrees of scope, and the 12 

determination that this council will make will have 13 

to have regard to which questions are sought to be 14 

answered as a result of that factual background.  15 

Let me briefly outline for you the different 16 

investigation options. 17 

There are three types of 18 

investigations available under the Municipal Act.  19 

The first is a judicial investigation often 20 

referred to as a judicial inquiry pursuant to 21 

Section 274 of the Act.  Second, an investigation 22 

can be carried out by an appointed ombudsman 23 

pursuant to Section 223.13 of the Act.  And third, 24 

an investigation by the appointed auditor general 25 
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may be pursued under Section 223.19 of the act. 1 

The procedural powers that are 2 

granted to both a commissioner who is appointed 3 

under -- pursuant to a judicial inquiry and to an 4 

auditor general are both governed by the Public 5 

Inquiries Act under Section 33.  The powers that 6 

are conferred upon an ombudsman are under a 7 

separate piece of legislation called the Ombudsman 8 

Act. 9 

The powers of both the ombudsman 10 

and the auditor general pursuant to the legislation 11 

can be delegated to a third party who would then 12 

undertake an investigation.  This leaves council 13 

with, in effect, five options:  One, it can request 14 

a judicial inquiry; two, it could appoint an 15 

ombudsman to conduct the investigation; three, it 16 

could appoint an ombudsman and direct that he or 17 

she delegates their powers to an independent 18 

external investigator to conduct the investigation; 19 

four, it could request the current auditor general, 20 

which is Mr. Charles Brown, to conduct the 21 

investigation or replace Mr. Brown and direct his 22 

replacement to conduct the investigation; or fifth, 23 

it could direct Mr. Brown to delegate his powers 24 

for the purposes of the investigation to an 25 
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independent external investigator. 1 

Let me briefly address the 2 

different options under the Municipal Act starting 3 

with the option of seeking or requesting a judicial 4 

inquiry or judicial investigation.  Let me begin by 5 

providing an overview of what a judicial inquiry 6 

has been said to accomplish.  The Honourable 7 

Justice Bellamy, who was the commissioner, the 8 

judge who was appointed to commission the Toronto 9 

Computer Leasing Inquiry said this about public 10 

inquiries: 11 

Public inquiries are often 12 

convened in the wake of public shock, horror, 13 

disillusionment, or suspicion.  They are expected 14 

to uncover the truth.  Inquiries are 15 

investigations, and in that sense, they are 16 

informative and educational.  They are also 17 

preventative in that they seek to ensure that any 18 

mistakes uncovered will not be repeated. 19 

There are some examples.  Some are 20 

quite notable of the types of judicial inquiries 21 

that have been conducted in the past.  As I 22 

mentioned, Justice Bellamy had conducted the 23 

inquiry into the Toronto computer leasing matter, 24 

and that involved an inquiry into all aspects of 25 
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leasing contracts for computers and software 1 

between the City of Toronto and two companies, 2 

including into the history of the contracts and 3 

their impact on the right payers of Toronto. 4 

That judicial inquiry took three 5 

and a half years.  It consisted of 241 hearing 6 

days.  There were 156 witnesses called to testify. 7 

 There were 124,000 documents, 22 parties 8 

withstanding, and I’ll come back to the standing 9 

point in a moment.  It involved 60 lawyers.  The 10 

costs of that inquiry were in the range of $11 11 

million, and the report that was generated from 12 

that inquiry made 241 recommendations. 13 

There is another example that is 14 

the Krever Inquiry, which was an inquiry into the 15 

contamination of the Canadian blood supply.  That 16 

judicial inquiry took four years, consisted of 17 

175,000 documents, and 25 parties were granted 18 

standing, and the cost was approximately $15 19 

million for the conduct of that judicial inquiry. 20 

The scope of a judicial inquiry 21 

can be set by council.  Council can ask for a 22 

judicial inquiry on a broad range of matters.  23 

Section 274 of the Municipal Act provides that if a 24 

municipality so request by resolution, a judge of 25 
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the Superior Court of Justice shall:  A, 1 

investigate any supposed breach of trust or other 2 

misconduct of a member of council, an employee of 3 

the municipality, or a person having a contract 4 

with the municipality in relation to the duties or 5 

obligations of that person to the municipality; or 6 

B, it may inquire into any matter connected with 7 

the good government of the municipality, and under 8 

those two provisions of the Municipal Act, those 9 

would be the applicable provisions which would 10 

warrant or enable council to ask for a judicial 11 

inquiry into the matters at issue raised here. 12 

And even though council can 13 

include in the request for a judicial inquiry the 14 

scope of that investigation, once a judge -- which 15 

would be a sitting judge of the Superior Court of 16 

Justice -- is appointed to commission the inquiry, 17 

he or she may amend the scope as he or she deems 18 

necessary to investigate or to commission the 19 

matters he or she sees fit, and the municipality in 20 

that circumstance is not consulted on the process 21 

undertaken by the commissioner. 22 

With respect to the actual process 23 

that is engaged by the commissioner, there is no 24 

specific or prescribed process that a commissioner 25 
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must follow.  Each inquiry -- judicial inquiry, 1 

that is -- has its own policies and procedures 2 

established by the commissioner at the outset of 3 

the inquiry. 4 

There are some standard practical 5 

and procedural steps that must be or that are 6 

typically implemented upon the appointment of a 7 

judicial inquiry.  There are logistics involving 8 

the renting of office space, equipment, and a 9 

hearing room for the conduct of a hearing.  There 10 

are staffing issues involving a hiring of legal 11 

counsel, administrative and investigative staff. 12 

There are rules of procedure that 13 

are established to seek -- that are drafted and 14 

seek feedback from stakeholders.  There’s a 15 

document management system that are engaged to 16 

manage an electronic database of documents 17 

particularly in cases that involve a significant 18 

volume of documents.  It may involve the retention 19 

of a third party to manage the documents. 20 

There are issues with respect to 21 

standing pursuant to a judicial inquiry.  Standing 22 

means that there are parties -- they may be given 23 

the right to review documents, examine witnesses, 24 

and make submissions.  That process of granting 25 
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standing to certain parties in a hearing, in a 1 

judicial inquiry, can be time-consuming and often 2 

causes delays in the process of the inquiry. 3 

In many ways, that can explain a 4 

number of the delays or why it is that a judicial 5 

inquiry takes longer than some of the other forms 6 

of investigation, which we’ve outlined in our 7 

report and which I’ll come to.  There is the 8 

investigation process that is part of the inquiry 9 

which involves collecting documents, identifying 10 

and interviewing witnesses, and retaining experts 11 

where necessary, and then ultimately, the judicial 12 

inquiry culminates in a public hearing where there 13 

are opening statements, examinations and 14 

cross-examinations and closing submissions by 15 

commission counsel and all other parties who have 16 

standing. 17 

The powers that are conferred upon 18 

the commissioner are enumerated under the Public 19 

Inquiries Act, which allows for a commissioner to 20 

summon witnesses and documents relevant to the 21 

inquiry, of course with the exception of privileged 22 

documents or privileged evidence, and it allows for 23 

a commissioner to apply to the Court where a 24 

witness is under summons and doesn’t appear.  You 25 
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could -- the commissioner can apply to the Court to 1 

enforce that summons to compel a witness to attend 2 

and testify. 3 

Those same powers under Section 33 4 

of the Public Inquiries Act are also afforded to an 5 

auditor general who can conduct an investigation 6 

under the Municipal Act, which I will come to.  The 7 

power to compel a witness under summons to appear, 8 

that is also provided to the auditor general but is 9 

not a power that is conferred to an ombudsman under 10 

the Ombudsman Act. 11 

Just finishing with the process 12 

involved with the judicial inquiry is after the 13 

hearing and the witnesses have all testified.  The 14 

commissioner will deliver a report and can make 15 

findings of fact, can make findings of misconduct, 16 

and can make recommendations on policy changes and 17 

protocols. 18 

A commissioner’s findings under a 19 

public judicial inquiry cannot establish criminal 20 

culpability or civil liability.  There are no legal 21 

consequences to a public inquiry, and in fact, 22 

commissioner’s determinations or findings in a 23 

report following a judicial inquiry have no greater 24 

impact than the findings arrived at by an ombudsman 25 
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or by an auditor general under the legislative 1 

provisions. 2 

There is -- just to highlight that 3 

point, it has been found by the courts looking at 4 

the impact of findings made pursuant to judicial 5 

inquiry that judges determine rights as between 6 

parties.  The commission, meaning the commissioner 7 

appointed to convene a judicial inquiry, can only 8 

require and report.  Judges who are hearing civil 9 

or criminal trials, they may impose monetary or 10 

penal sanctions.  The only potential consequence of 11 

an adverse finding in a judicial inquiry is that 12 

reputations could be tarnished and recommendations 13 

are obviously made. 14 

Let me provide to you some advice 15 

or input with respect to the typical time frame and 16 

anticipated costs that may be associated with a 17 

judicial inquiry, and some of these may be 18 

considered disadvantages to proceeding with a 19 

judicial inquiry over some of the other forms of 20 

investigation that we have identified. 21 

We are of the view that one 22 

disadvantage associated with a judicial inquiry is 23 

its potential time and expense in that a judicial 24 

inquiry is typically expensive because of the 25 
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length of time that it takes, the number of 1 

parties, the number of counsel involved, all of the 2 

issues that I described for you as to some of the 3 

typical logistics involved in pursuing a judicial 4 

inquiry. 5 

It’s our experience that the cost 6 

of an inquiry can range between 2 million to $11 7 

million and can take at a minimum about a year and 8 

a half to come to a conclusion from the time that 9 

it is commenced.  It’s our experience that many 10 

judicial inquiries exceed the initial budget and 11 

the expected time frame measure.  That’s because 12 

there are a number of unanticipated issues that 13 

arise during the course of a judicial inquiry. 14 

First, the commissioner may 15 

broaden the scope of the inquiry that was not 16 

anticipated or expected.  Second, there may be 17 

legal skirmishes or disputes that arise that delay 18 

the progress of the inquiry.  For example, if 19 

there’s an issue relating to a party who seeks 20 

standing and is not afforded standing, there can 21 

then be a debate or a judicial review application 22 

within the context of the inquiry.  The inquiry is 23 

put on hold while those issues get determined and 24 

could lead to further delay to getting to the 25 
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answers that are being sought pursuant to the 1 

judicial inquiry. 2 

To put it in perspective, another 3 

-- the judicial inquiry involving the Toronto 4 

leasing issue, that inquiry cost approximately $11 5 

million against its original budget, which we 6 

understand would have been about $1 million. 7 

Let me turn then to the other two 8 

forms of investigations that we have identified in 9 

our report and our matters to consider as potential 10 

avenues to investigate the facts that we’ve been 11 

advised about.  These are investigations by the 12 

ombudsman or an investigation by the auditor 13 

general, and I intend to walk you through how these 14 

investigations are distinct from judicial 15 

inquiries. 16 

One key difference is that there 17 

is greater control as to who is controlling the 18 

process whereas a commissioner appointed under the 19 

judicial inquiry can go beyond the scope where the 20 

mandate set or expected when an ombudsman or an 21 

auditor general is appointed to conduct an 22 

investigation, terms of reference, and questions 23 

are put to that individual or that group to 24 

investigate and answer the questions that have been 25 
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framed and posed. 1 

Investigations carried out by the 2 

ombudsman and the auditor general are similar.  3 

Although they are distinct from judicial inquiries, 4 

the two of them are similar.  Let me begin by 5 

referring you to Section 223.13 of the Municipal 6 

Act, which expressly allows council to appoint an 7 

ombudsman to carry out an investigation relating to 8 

prescribed matters. 9 

223.13 permits the appointment of 10 

an ombudsman who reports to council and whose 11 

function is to investigate an independent manner 12 

any decision or recommendation made or act done or 13 

omitted in the course of the administration of the 14 

municipality, its local boards and such 15 

municipally-controlled corporations as the 16 

municipality may specify and affecting any person 17 

or body of persons in his or her personal capacity. 18 

Similarly, the provisions of the 19 

appointment, the provisions of the Municipal Act 20 

that would allow for the appointment of the auditor 21 

general to conduct the investigation is set out in 22 

223.19 of the Municipal Act.  It permits the 23 

appointment of the auditor general to assist 24 

council in holding itself and its administrators 25 
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accountable for the quality of stewardship over 1 

public funds and for achievement of value for money 2 

in municipal operations and that the auditor 3 

general may exercise powers and shall perform the 4 

duties as may be assigned to him or her by the 5 

municipality.  In other words, it allows the 6 

municipality to specifically appoint an auditor 7 

general to conduct an investigation into specified 8 

matters. 9 

Let me address briefly who can be 10 

appointed as the auditor general or as the auditor 11 

general’s delegate or as the ombudsman or as the 12 

ombudsman’s delegate.  The legislation permits the 13 

municipality to appoint anyone, including external 14 

investigators, or employees of the City can also 15 

appoint a retired judge to act as either the 16 

ombudsman or act as the auditor general for 17 

purposes of carrying out investigations under these 18 

provisions that I’ve just identified. 19 

So whereas a judicial inquiry 20 

involves the request of the Court and chief justice 21 

and the regional senior justice to appoint a 22 

sitting judge of the superior court to act as a 23 

commissioner under the ombudsman investigation or 24 

an auditor general’s investigation, anyone can be 25 
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appointed to carry out the investigation, including 1 

a retired judge or any other independent party, to 2 

carry out -- or whoever, council or the 3 

municipality, sees as appropriate to conduct the 4 

investigation. 5 

But similar to the judicial 6 

inquiry, the procedure for an ombudsman 7 

investigation or an auditor general’s 8 

investigation, there is no prescribed procedure, 9 

and the ombudsman or the auditor general is devise 10 

a flexible procedure that is appropriate to the 11 

scope of the investigation to be carried out. 12 

Council can direct the auditor 13 

general or the ombudsman to publish a draft 14 

procedural guide and invite written feedback from 15 

stakeholders to ensure public accountability and 16 

involvement in the process for carrying out the 17 

investigation. 18 

At a minimum, the procedure 19 

involved by an auditor general or ombudsman would 20 

involve typically the review of documents, 21 

conducting interviews of witnesses, retaining 22 

experts, if necessary, and drafting a final report. 23 

 Council can then require the ombudsman or the 24 

auditor general to provide periodic reporting to 25 
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ensure council and the public is apprised of the 1 

status of the investigation. 2 

Like a public inquiry, an auditor 3 

general can summons witnesses and documents 4 

relevant to the investigation except of course for 5 

privileged evidence or documents, and equally, the 6 

auditor general can apply to the court where a 7 

witness fails to comply with the summons and can 8 

obtain an order from the court, compelling a 9 

witness to testify or to be interviewed, if 10 

necessary. 11 

Even though an ombudsman can 12 

summons witnesses and documents relevant to the 13 

investigation, except for privileged documents, an 14 

ombudsman does not have the same power that the 15 

auditor general does to apply to the Court to 16 

enforce or to compel a witness to participate or to 17 

be interviewed the way that the auditor general or 18 

a commissioner under the judicial inquiry has. 19 

The ombudsman or the auditor 20 

general, they can both make findings of fact, 21 

findings of misconduct, and make recommendations on 22 

policy changes and protocols much like a 23 

commissioner of the judicial inquiry can do as 24 

well.  Findings of fact or misconduct cannot be 25 
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used to establish civil or criminal liability 1 

similar to the process pursuant to a judicial 2 

inquiry. 3 

Information received in the course 4 

of the investigation conducted by the ombudsman or 5 

the auditor general, including evidence from 6 

witnesses, are to be kept confidential.  However, 7 

the information from the investigation can be 8 

disclosed in the final report generated by the 9 

ombudsman or by the auditor general as the case may 10 

be. 11 

With respect to the ability for to 12 

us advise council with respect to the anticipated 13 

timing and costs associated with either -- any of 14 

these investigations in large measure is dependent 15 

upon the ultimate scope that is determined to be 16 

pursued.  The investigation regarding a more 17 

limited matter in terms of why a report was not 18 

disclosed to council and/or to the public.  In our 19 

view, that would probably take between two to four 20 

months for an ombudsman or an auditor general to 21 

investigate and deliver a report. 22 

Of course, the cost of an 23 

ombudsman’s investigation or the cost of an auditor 24 

general’s investigation will also depend on who is 25 
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selected to act as the delegate of the ombudsman or 1 

the delegate of the auditor general.  It would 2 

depend on whether a retired judge is retained for 3 

that purpose or whether it is a law firm that is 4 

retained for the purposes of carrying out the 5 

investigation or whether it’s an accounting firm 6 

that is retained for that purpose. 7 

And so, the cost associated with 8 

that will vary depending on who is selected or 9 

appointed to carry out the investigation.  Based on 10 

our assessment of cost at this stage without 11 

knowing the precise scope, we would estimate for a 12 

four-month investigation as an auditor general’s 13 

investigation or as an ombudsman’s investigation. 14 

As we’ve said in our report, we 15 

would estimate the cost if a moderate-sized firm 16 

was retained for the purposes of conducting 17 

investigation to be in the range of $300,000. 18 

As you’ve seen from our statements 19 

and set out in our report, it is not our view that 20 

a judicial inquiry is well suited for the 21 

investigation based on the facts as we understand 22 

them, but rather, that either the auditor general 23 

or an ombudsman investigation would probably be 24 

more suited for both a timing and cost perspective 25 
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and for a public disclosure perspective to be the 1 

most suitable method of getting to the answers 2 

behind what it is that the municipality is seeking 3 

to obtain. 4 

Of course, the selection or the 5 

appointment of the appropriate individual to 6 

conduct the investigation is important in that it 7 

ought to be a neutral independent objective 8 

investigator to conduct the investigation to ensure 9 

that all necessary facts are obtained, and a report 10 

is delivered that is available and accessible to 11 

the public to understand what recommendations or 12 

what findings have been made by either the 13 

ombudsman or the auditor general. 14 

In our view, a judicial inquiry 15 

which are initiated are often initiated when there 16 

are complex facts, large volumes of documents that 17 

need to be reviewed and assessed, and many, many 18 

witnesses who need to testify as to a state of 19 

affairs to allow for a commissioner to arrive at a 20 

conclusion and to provide recommendations typically 21 

involve much more complex and more significant 22 

documents in terms of large volumes of documents to 23 

deal with those types of matters. 24 

As an investigation is broader in 25 
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scope and as they are -- if there are larger or 1 

bigger issues to be reviewed, then in those 2 

circumstances, judicial inquiries can often become 3 

the appropriate way of investigating these types of 4 

matters in coming to a conclusion or 5 

recommendation. 6 

Where there are more discreet 7 

issues that are being sought to be investigated and 8 

where there are specific recommendations that are 9 

being sought -- arising out of a specific or 10 

isolated set of circumstances, in those cases, an 11 

ombudsman’s investigation or an auditor general’s 12 

investigation may be more appropriate and much more 13 

cost effective. 14 

As we’ve indicated in our report, 15 

the next steps as we’ve identified them is for 16 

council to determine the scope of the 17 

investigation, and subject to the determination of 18 

that scope, a follow-up report can be prepared for 19 

the purposes of determining and proceeding with the 20 

recommended or proposed type of procedure to 21 

investigate the matters at issue. 22 

Those are my comments with respect 23 

to the various procedures. 24 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you very 25 
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much for the thorough presentation on the report.  1 

We have questions.  I’ll start with Councillor 2 

Terry Whitehead. 3 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Thank you, Mr. 4 

Mayor. 5 

I’m surprised that in your 6 

reference, I read the full Bellamy report in 7 

regards to the investigation to book -- I think it 8 

was Councillor Collins that allowed me the 9 

opportunity to read it and understand some of the 10 

benefits of these processes and significant regards 11 

to the changes in procurement in Toronto.  But you 12 

didn’t mention Elliot Lake is probably the most 13 

recent inquiry. 14 

And in that inquiry -- and I’m 15 

going to read something from the commissioner 16 

because this is what I think the public is looking 17 

for in respect to the process.  So first of all, 18 

every -- the hearings, the investigations, the 19 

witnesses, everything was on camera, on cable, was 20 

televised.  It was probably the most transparent 21 

process in regards to the community as practical.  22 

I don’t know if you distinguished that the other 23 

options as you identified would take the same 24 

approach. 25 
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MR. LEDERMAN:  No, that’s correct. 1 

 The judicial inquiry would involve a hearing which 2 

is conducted in public.  The ombudsman’s 3 

investigation or an auditor general’s 4 

investigation, those interviews are conducted in 5 

private and then ultimately the report made by the 6 

auditor general or the ombudsman is made public. 7 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  So I want to make 8 

that distinction right off the bat.  It’s a much 9 

more transparent process through the judicial 10 

inquiry process than the other options you put on 11 

the table.  I’m looking at just one paragraph out 12 

of the findings, and I think this touches me in the 13 

context that I came from.  Like, I was very 14 

familiar with the issues in the mall when it was 15 

originally built.  It was a two-year process -- or 16 

less than two years, just less than two years, so 17 

you’re right about sort of the time frame. 18 

550,000 pieces of evidence was 19 

produced, but this is just one paragraph.  The 20 

evidence is inconvertible, that the collapse of the 21 

section of the roof of Algo Mall was caused by the 22 

severe rusting of the connection between the one 23 

column and one beam, but although it wasn’t rust 24 

that defeated the structure of the Algo Mall, the 25 
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real story behind the collapse is one of human, not 1 

material failure. 2 

Many of those who coin our 3 

occupation -- or occupation touched the mall 4 

displayed failings, its designers, its builders, 5 

its owners, its architects, its engineers, as well 6 

as a municipal and provincial officials charged 7 

with the duty of protecting the public.  Some of 8 

these failings were minor.  Some were not.  They 9 

range from apathy, neglect, indifference through 10 

mediocrity, ineptitude, and incompetence and 11 

outright greed and obfuscation and duplicity, 12 

occasional voice of alarm and warning. 13 

There’s some similarities here in 14 

respect to what’s happening here in Hamilton.  15 

Warning signs went unseen by eyes likely averted 16 

for fear of jeopardizing the mall’s existence and 17 

the social economic centre of Elliot Lake.  I just 18 

want to frame that in the context of what’s 19 

happening here in Hamilton. 20 

So we have a major expressway, and 21 

regardless of the fact that a report appears to be 22 

allegedly withheld -- because I don’t want to get 23 

into any legal lawsuits, but let’s say allegedly 24 

withheld -- whether it impacted our function as a 25 
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council to make the right decisions at the right 1 

time. 2 

And then the other piece of that 3 

is people died on the Red Hill, and their families 4 

are asking the same question.  Could this be 5 

averted?  I don’t know the answers to those 6 

questions, and the only way that we could appease 7 

those families is having an open -- 8 

So when you say, like, how 9 

significant the issue is in regards to the 10 

community, to me, ultimately, it’s about trust and 11 

ability for this council to make right decisions 12 

based on the best information before them, and if 13 

it appears that is called into question, then we’ve 14 

lost the confidence of this community.  So we have 15 

a role and responsibility.  So this is grander than 16 

the investigation.  This is about an open 17 

transparent process that enables the broader 18 

community to understand what actually took place. 19 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  And so, 20 

I’m going to ask you to focus on -- 21 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  So that’s a frame. 22 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So we don’t have 23 

a motion on the floor right now. 24 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  I understand. 25 
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MR. EISENBERGER:  You’re debating 1 

between options.  We should be asking questions of 2 

the presenter before we get to any recommendation. 3 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  I just framed it. 4 

 So now the -- 5 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Your 6 

frame is pretty deep. 7 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  -- question is:  8 

Can the other two models effectively do that as 9 

opposed to a judicial inquiry? 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Well, ultimately, 11 

that’s going to be for the municipality to decide, 12 

that in my view, what you achieve through an 13 

ombudsman’s investigation or from an auditor 14 

general’s investigation is a report that is made 15 

available to the public that will make 16 

recommendations, that will make conclusions about 17 

what happened, and flowing from that, 18 

recommendations as to whether anything needs to be 19 

changed, whether there ought to be any amendments 20 

or changes in policy or direction so that council 21 

can move forward. 22 

All the way that a report from a 23 

commissioner following a judicial inquiry is made 24 

available to the public and affects the conduct of 25 
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council.  So it’s in that sense that the result 1 

that is generated by either an ombudsman’s 2 

investigation or an auditor general’s investigation 3 

are both important and necessary as part of 4 

providing public confidence, that the matter has 5 

been reviewed and investigated and acted upon by 6 

providing a determination or conclusions, findings 7 

as to whether there were findings of fact, findings 8 

of -- if there’s any misconduct. 9 

All of that can be achieved 10 

through an auditor general’s investigation, an 11 

ombudsman’s investigation just as that can be 12 

achieved through the judicial inquiry process.  The 13 

only difference in terms of public involvement is 14 

that whereas the public is involved at getting 15 

information and input from the public for setting 16 

the procedure that would be employed by the 17 

ombudsman or auditor general investigation, the 18 

actual interviews that are conducted are conducted 19 

privately by the ombudsman or the auditor general 20 

as opposed to publicly during the course of the 21 

hearing. 22 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  I’m really happy 23 

you distinguished that because I think that is the 24 

fundamental issue from my perspective, the ways 25 
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where I’m going and what my position is.  In your 1 

report here under the judicial review, you 2 

indicate:  “Inquiry into the conduct of any part of 3 

the public business of the municipality, including 4 

business conducted by the commissioner appointed by 5 

the council --“ 6 

Sorry, that’s not the one. 7 

The one you had here is basically 8 

-- oh, here it is. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Give us a page 10 

number, please. 11 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Page 737. 12 

“Once a 13 

judge is appointed as a 14 

commissioner of the 15 

inquiry, the municipality 16 

is stripped of its ability 17 

to control the inquiry 18 

process.  For example, all 19 

the municipality sets is 20 

the initial scope of the 21 

inquiry.  The commissioner 22 

may without consulting the 23 

municipality expand the 24 

scope of the investigation 25 
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where he or she deems 1 

appropriate to go.” 2 

Does that apply to the other two 3 

options? 4 

MR. LEDERMAN:  No.  The other two 5 

options allows for the terms of reference to be 6 

framed by the municipality to say, “Here are the 7 

issues” or “Here are the questions that are sought 8 

to be investigated.” 9 

And so, what that allows is it 10 

allows some measure of control to ensure that an 11 

inquiry that may have been started for the purposes 12 

of investigating a certain set of facts does not 13 

creep or go beyond what was anticipated, which is 14 

controlled by the commissioner who has the 15 

discretion to expand the scope or adjust the scope 16 

as he or she deems fit. 17 

So that’s the difference between 18 

the level of control that is framed by the 19 

different investigations. 20 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  So I appreciate -- 21 

so far, we distinguished two distinctful pieces 22 

between the other option you identified of the 23 

judicial inquiry. 24 

One, the judicial inquiry is 25 
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clearly a more transparent, open process which the 1 

community can observe.  In fact, in this one, they 2 

actually even attended -- not just watch it on 3 

screen, but they can actually attend and watch the 4 

cross-examinations and the questions and so forth, 5 

the procedural arguments, whatever took place. 6 

The second piece that you clearly 7 

distinguished is that we appear to have control of 8 

the other two, and this one, if the judicial 9 

commissioner feels necessary to go beyond that 10 

scope, they have the ability to do so.  To me, that 11 

speaks of public confidence. 12 

You know, help me understand if 13 

I’m a layperson or family member that had somebody 14 

die on the Red Hill Expressway, would the 15 

perception of a controlled process versus one that 16 

is, you know, clearly of much greater independence 17 

-- maybe it’s a rhetorical question. 18 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Well, it’s a 19 

subjective question, so I don’t think -- that’s 20 

your opinion.  I think we’re going to ask our legal 21 

advisor an opinion on that issue. 22 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  No, that’s fair.  23 

That’s fair.  I mean, I was asking as a rhetorical 24 

question.  Didn’t expect an answer because, really, 25 
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this is about public confidence. 1 

Thank you. 2 

MR. LEDERMAN:  There is a point 3 

though that could be answered about that, which is 4 

that the ability to provide an ombudsman or the 5 

auditor general with the power to go beyond the 6 

scope of his or her mandate can also be provided in 7 

that the municipality could advise or instruct the 8 

ombudsman or the auditor general to, if they so 9 

wished, if they feel necessary to go beyond the 10 

scope.  Typically, the municipality would set the 11 

terms of reference for the auditor general. 12 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Thank you.  I 13 

didn’t see that on the other comparatives.  I just 14 

saw it on the judicial inquiry that that power and 15 

authority was there, so to me, that was a 16 

distinguishing piece between the other two and this 17 

one. 18 

MR. LEDERMAN:  The distinction is 19 

that in a judicial inquiry, the commissioner -- 20 

there is no way of limiting the commissioner from 21 

going beyond that.  That’s not to say that the 22 

municipality cannot ask the ombudsman or auditor 23 

general to have unlimited -- 24 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Fair enough.  25 
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Thank you. 1 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 2 

Councillor Merulla. 3 

MR. MERULLA:  Thank you, Mr. 4 

Mayor. 5 

And on that point because that was 6 

going to be my next question, nowhere in any report 7 

that I’ve read or anything that we discussed was 8 

that ever elaborated on.  So through you, Mr. 9 

Mayor, clearly you at the beginning of your 10 

presentation stated that the rationale for 11 

supporting either an ombudsman and/or the -- 12 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Auditor general. 13 

MR. MERULLA:  -- the AG was the 14 

fact that you had more control over the actual 15 

investigation, but now you’re saying that, in 16 

essence, we can open it up and expand it to the 17 

same extent as a judicial review; is that correct? 18 

MR. LEDERMAN:  You do have more 19 

control with respect to the appointment of an 20 

ombudsman or an auditor general in that the 21 

legislation enables the municipality to set the 22 

terms of reference or to set the scope of the 23 

mandate to be investigated.  As part of that 24 

though, the municipality could choose to open the 25 
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scope and allow the discretion to be given to the 1 

auditor general to pursue an investigation however 2 

he or she sees fit. 3 

That is different than the powers 4 

which -- or the control which the municipality does 5 

not have once a commissioner has been appointed, 6 

which is that a commissioner has the ability to go 7 

outside of the scope set by the municipality even 8 

if the municipality had proposed a set frame of 9 

reference or terms of reference for the 10 

commissioner. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Councillor 12 

Merulla. 13 

MR. MERULLA:  Okay.  So through 14 

you, Mr. Mayor, so when it comes to control, we can 15 

actually eliminate our control and open up the 16 

scope completely; is that correct?  We can give a 17 

blank cheque with respect to the control. 18 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I guess if -- I 19 

don’t know about the term “blank cheque,” but 20 

certainly with the abilities that the municipality 21 

has with respect to the appointment of an auditor 22 

general, it can certainly ask the auditor general 23 

to go down whatever path he or she feels necessary 24 

to review the matters at issue. 25 
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MR. MERULLA:  Okay.  Now, on the 1 

second point with respect to the private versus the 2 

public process, that, we have no control over.  3 

That’s correct.  So the ombudsman and the AG, they 4 

will be private interviews and not within a public 5 

realm; is that correct? 6 

MR. LEDERMAN:  The interviews 7 

conducted by the ombudsman or the auditor general, 8 

yes.  Those would be carried out in private.  The 9 

report generated by the ombudsman or the auditor 10 

general would be made public.  The process for the 11 

manner in which the auditor general or the 12 

ombudsman carries out the investigation may also 13 

involve the input of the public to insist in 14 

getting input from stakeholders as to what would be 15 

the most effective process, so there is public 16 

involvement in that process if the ombudsman or 17 

auditor general wish to obtain that. 18 

MR. MERULLA:  Now, by assessing 19 

which option is the most open and transparent with 20 

respect to the day-to-day operation of that 21 

investigation, clearly the judicial review is the 22 

most open and transparent process.  Through you, 23 

Mr. Mayor. 24 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Solicitor. 25 
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MR. LEDERMAN:  It depends on how 1 

you define “transparency.”  Certainly with respect 2 

to the testimony of witnesses during a live 3 

hearing, that is correct.  You would have that 4 

ability to have witnesses testify in the public 5 

through a judicial inquiry whereas the interviews 6 

that are conducted by the ombudsman or the auditor 7 

general are conducted privately, but the reports 8 

that are generated both by a commissioner under 9 

judicial inquiry and the reports generated by an 10 

ombudsman or auditor general are all public. 11 

MR. MERULLA:  Yes, but -- through 12 

you, Mr. Mayor -- you must give credence to the 13 

scrutiny of the public lens of the entire process 14 

that’s being unravelled publicly as opposed to a 15 

series of private interviews versus something that 16 

is publicly scrutinized through judicial review.  17 

So I guess the openness of that, in my perspective, 18 

is what I’m trying to pinpoint.  And public 19 

accountability can only, in my opinion, be exposed 20 

under the glare of public light and scrutiny. 21 

So moving on to the actual scope 22 

of the issue itself, clearly I think everyone 23 

recognizes that I am supporting a judicial review. 24 

 I am doing so because of the openness, the 25 
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transparency of it as well as there’s an aspect to 1 

this that was brought up in our previous discussion 2 

surrounding my ability to the city itself. 3 

My understanding, what we’re 4 

explained at our previous meeting in February was 5 

that, indeed, going the route of a judicial review, 6 

there’s less liability at stake for the city than 7 

an AG process and/or an ombudsman process; is that 8 

correct? 9 

MR. LEDERMAN:  No.  There’s no 10 

difference with respect to a potential liability 11 

regardless of whether it is pursued by way of a 12 

judicial inquiry or whether it is pursued through a 13 

ombudsman’s investigation or an auditor general’s 14 

investigation. 15 

MR. MERULLA:  Okay.  So we did get 16 

two different answers to that particular question 17 

because at the previous meeting in February, we 18 

were told that there’s less liability associated 19 

with a public inquiry.  So just a point of note to 20 

-- 21 

MR. EISENBERGER:  That would have 22 

come from Nicole Auti, I would assume. 23 

So Nicole, do you want to clarify? 24 

MS. AUTI:  Through you, Mr. Mayor, 25 
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I’m reluctant to have discussions about what we 1 

discussed in-camera at a previous -- 2 

MR. MERULLA:  It wasn’t in-camera. 3 

 I think I brought it up -- 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  It had to be 5 

in-camera. 6 

MS. AUTI:  The only information 7 

I’ve given to council on that subject was 8 

in-camera, so without council authorizing me to 9 

speak about that in public, I am limited in my 10 

ability to do so. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 12 

you. 13 

MR. MERULLA:  Would you concur 14 

with what our outside council just stated then is 15 

my question. 16 

MS. AUTI:  Through you, Mr. Mayor, 17 

again, I’m reluctant to give council my legal 18 

opinion in public on that particular point.  It’s 19 

beyond what we had discussed in terms of the 20 

process generally.  I’m happy to give that opinion 21 

in-camera if council would wish me to do so. 22 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 23 

Councillor Merulla. 24 

MR. MERULLA:  Okay.  So I’m a 25 
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little concerned about -- I know I heard previously 1 

in what I said publicly even to what I’m hearing 2 

today, but regardless, in looking at the next 3 

focus, now the actual control issue which 4 

Councillor Whitehead brought up, to me, it suggests 5 

-- when you say the control aspect and now that 6 

you’ve clarified that component too suddenly, which 7 

is -- 8 

So I need you to elaborate again 9 

-- because this, again, is new to me at this moment 10 

-- two things:  First, the liability issue is not a 11 

non-starter, when it was; secondly, no one’s ever 12 

mentioned the fact that we can open up the control 13 

until now.  So can you just elaborate on that point 14 

as well?  So we’re talking the control aspect is 15 

identical between a judicial review and an AG and 16 

ombudsman process. 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 18 

you. 19 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  So as I 20 

indicated before, with a judicial inquiry, there is 21 

no ability to confine or to restrict the 22 

commissioner from choosing to pursue matters that 23 

are outside of the proposed scope or terms of 24 

reference of the investigation or inquiry selected 25 
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or recommended or requested by the municipality. 1 

For an ombudsman’s investigation 2 

or an auditor general’s investigation, there is the 3 

ability for the municipality to control the terms 4 

of reference or the scope of the investigation to 5 

be carried out by either the ombudsman or the 6 

auditor general.  But as part of that, the 7 

municipality can advise the auditor general to go 8 

beyond the scope that it has set just as a judicial 9 

commissioner has that ability as well. 10 

MR. MERULLA:  But through a 11 

judicial review, he would go beyond that scope 12 

without direction; is that correct?  So he would 13 

follow the evidence and go where he needs to go 14 

whereas in this particular case, we would have to 15 

direct him to go there; is that correct? 16 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So a commissioner 17 

would be entitled to expand the scope of the 18 

investigation as he or she sees fit.  A ombudsman 19 

or an auditor general would not be able to do that 20 

unless the municipality conferred that right onto 21 

the ombudsman or auditor general. 22 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Councillor 23 

Merulla. 24 

MR. MERULLA:  Well, that differs 25 
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again from what we were told.  Okay.  I’ll leave it 1 

at that for now.  I just need to hear everyone 2 

else.  Thanks. 3 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay. 4 

Councillor Danko. 5 

MR. DANKO:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 6 

So Mr. Lederman, on your report 7 

under what findings can be made, it is findings of 8 

fact, findings of misconduct, and also 9 

recommendations on policy changes and protocols, so 10 

three kind of separate areas of findings that could 11 

be made.  And from my reading of the report, all 12 

three questions of what findings could be made are 13 

the same for all three options for judicial 14 

inquiry, ombudsman, and auditor, correct? 15 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct. 16 

MR. DANKO:  Under the powers of 17 

the three options, the one that stands out as being 18 

-- I don’t know if this is the right term, but less 19 

powerful as the ombudsman.  So I’m just going to 20 

leave that one out and focus on the judicial 21 

inquiry versus the auditor general’s report.  So on 22 

the question of summons, is there any difference 23 

between the two? 24 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Between the 25 
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judicial inquiry and the auditor general 1 

investigation? 2 

MR. DANKO:  Yes. 3 

MR. LEDERMAN:  No, there’s no 4 

difference.  They are both granted the same powers 5 

under the Public Inquiries Act. 6 

MR. DANKO:  So third parties, 7 

employees of the corporation.  Is there any limit 8 

to who can be summoned? 9 

MR. LEDERMAN:  No.  There is no 10 

limit.  They’re either option. 11 

MR. DANKO:  Either option.  Okay. 12 

 What about compelling documents, compelling 13 

internal documents versus external third parties?  14 

Is there any difference between the two? 15 

MR. LEDERMAN:  There is no 16 

difference.  Both a commissioner under judicial 17 

inquiry or an auditor general can summons documents 18 

in the same fashion. 19 

MR. DANKO:  So if a witness is 20 

summoned and they decide that they don’t want to 21 

appear under either one, what remedies are 22 

available under either the auditor general and the 23 

judicial inquiry to compel a witness to testify? 24 

MR. LEDERMAN:  They have the same 25 
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powers in that a commissioner can apply to the 1 

Court to enforce a summons, and of course, in the 2 

course of a judicial inquiry, that would involve 3 

compelling a witness to testify in a hearing, and 4 

the power to compel a witness to be subjected to 5 

the interview requested by the auditor general.  So 6 

it’s the same power to compel by applying to the 7 

Court for that remedy. 8 

MR. DANKO:  Okay.  So again, same 9 

between the two. 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes. 11 

MR. DANKO:  When a witness 12 

testifies, are they under oath?  Are they obligated 13 

to be truthful in their answers between the two? 14 

MR. LEDERMAN:  They are under oath 15 

during the course of a judicial inquiry, during a 16 

hearing. 17 

MR. DANKO:  So under an auditor 18 

general, they’re not sworn in under oath? 19 

MR. LEDERMAN:  In an auditor 20 

general pursuant to the summons, they would be 21 

interviewed under oath as well. 22 

MR. DANKO:  Okay.  And are there 23 

penalties if they withhold evidence, if they 24 

destroy evidence, if they lie while they’re 25 
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testifying, or -- I don’t know what the term is for 1 

that, contempt of court or -- you know, perjury. 2 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So perjury is a -- 3 

it is an offence that would have to be pursued as a 4 

criminal act that would have to be proven in court 5 

in a criminal proceeding.  So it would be subject 6 

to proof that a witness either during the course of 7 

sworn testimony during a public hearing or a 8 

witness who has sworn under oath to give truthful 9 

evidence during the course of an interview, if it 10 

were proven that they had provided false evidence 11 

in either forum, they could be subject to criminal 12 

sanction for failing to testify pursuant to their 13 

oath. 14 

MR. DANKO:  And that would be for 15 

either form, the judicial inquiry or the auditor 16 

general’s report. 17 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct.  It 18 

would all be subject to the obligations of the 19 

summons, so it’s all dictated by the terms of the 20 

summons. 21 

MR. DANKO:  So to summarize so 22 

far, the findings are the same.  The powers of the 23 

inquiry are more or less the same.  I’m going to 24 

move on to the independence.  So one of the big 25 
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differences that I think has been teased out is 1 

that a judicial inquiry is conducted in public 2 

versus the auditor general’s investigation which 3 

would be done privately. 4 

So for a public perception point 5 

-- I’m not going to ask you to comment on this, but 6 

I could see that you would have the perception that 7 

a judicial inquiry would be more independent.  And 8 

also on the terms of control where the municipality 9 

sets the scope, the judicial inquiry, there’s more 10 

of a chance that the judge will investigate what he 11 

thinks needs to be -- he or she -- investigated 12 

versus an auditor general’s where they’re subject 13 

to the terms of reference.  However, we just heard 14 

that that could be on open-ended terms. 15 

So do you have anything to add on 16 

the independence of the judicial inquiry versus an 17 

auditor general’s report? 18 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So with respect to 19 

the independence, in large measure, the 20 

independence that is achieved through a judicial 21 

inquiry comes with the independence of the 22 

judiciary, the fact that there is a sitting judge 23 

who is appointed to commission an inquiry.  There 24 

is the benefit of -- there can be no suggestion 25 
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that the inquiry is not independent when you have a 1 

judicial officer appointed to conduct the 2 

investigation or the inquiry. 3 

And equally, with respect to who 4 

may be selected to conduct the auditor general’s 5 

investigation, that if a retired judge or other 6 

objective or neutral credible party were to be 7 

retained for the purposes of conducting the 8 

investigation, I would equally find that 9 

independence can be achieved through that lens as 10 

well. 11 

MR. DANKO:  So in selecting the 12 

judge who would be in charge of a judicial inquiry, 13 

the municipality wouldn’t select that specific 14 

judge.  They would just say, “We apply for a 15 

judicial inquiry,” and that would be selected by -- 16 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct.  A 17 

request would be made to the chief justice of the 18 

Superior Court of Justice of Ontario as well as to 19 

the regional senior justice of this region for the 20 

purposes of finding a judge, and it would be up to 21 

the chief justice and the regional senior justice 22 

for the purposes of appointing a judge to conduct 23 

the judicial inquiry. 24 

MR. DANKO:  So that would be 25 
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another level of independence.  For the auditor 1 

general, would it be possible to task the AG to 2 

select somebody that the municipality is not 3 

involved with in picking that person?  Just so you 4 

have the same level of independence. 5 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Absolutely.  I 6 

mean, what could happen is the municipality could 7 

set a process for the selection of the appropriate 8 

auditor general or delegee to conduct the 9 

investigation by that process itself being left to 10 

a neutral party to select a request that an 11 

independent impartial person be appointed to 12 

conduct that investigation. 13 

MR. DANKO:  And in your discussion 14 

there, I think I heard you mention that from a 15 

public disclosure perspective, an auditor general’s 16 

report would be recommended.  Can you elaborate on 17 

that? 18 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So the report 19 

that’s generated by the auditor general or in the 20 

case of the ombudsman, that is made publicly 21 

accessible.  And the way that report would be 22 

written would be to first set out the mandate that 23 

had been given to the auditor general or to the 24 

ombudsman.  They would review the evidence that 25 
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they had obtained during the course of the 1 

investigation, and that would include information 2 

that they had obtained from witnesses. 3 

It would identify important 4 

information they obtained from the review of the 5 

relevant documents, and it would ultimately arrive 6 

at inclusions, whether they’re findings of fact, 7 

whether they’re findings of misconduct, whether 8 

there are policy recommendations that would then 9 

flow from that report.  All of that would be 10 

captured in the report and delivered and made 11 

available to the public. 12 

MR. DANKO:  So moving on to kind 13 

of the time frame involved here, so I think we’ve 14 

established that -- or in my mind, we have anyway 15 

-- the auditor general’s investigation has the 16 

power to reach similar findings -- the same 17 

findings.  They have the similar powers of 18 

investigation -- same powers of investigation.  19 

They have slightly different levels of independence 20 

but can be made quite similar. 21 

The one big difference that I 22 

notice is there’s a much, much shorter time frame 23 

for the auditor general’s investigation.  So maybe 24 

you can comment on the benefit of a 25 
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two-to-four-months investigation.  I think the 1 

report said nine months maximum to find out what 2 

happened.  And also of critical importance -- to 3 

me, anyway -- is to make policy change and 4 

protocols as soon as possible to change the systems 5 

that are in place. 6 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Absolutely.  And in 7 

large measure, the time frame that we’ve identified 8 

and the differences also is dependent on the 9 

ultimate scope that is determined to be 10 

investigated, but subject to the determination as 11 

to the scope that is to review, by and large, an 12 

auditor’s investigation would be faster in arriving 13 

at a completed investigation and a list of 14 

recommendations than a judicial inquiry. 15 

So that in many respects is by 16 

virtue of the fact that a judicial inquiry will 17 

involve the public hearing.  There will be issues 18 

about who has standing to participate in that 19 

judicial inquiry, all having the effect of 20 

extending the amount of time it takes to get to a 21 

final report with recommendations. 22 

MR. DANKO:  So on scope, I have 30 23 

scope questions that I would have liked to discuss 24 

in-camera, so I’m going to skip most of those.  25 
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However, I think the two -- they had to -- to where 1 

the scope may land, the two that are, I think, 2 

missing from a lot of this discussion, we’re 3 

talking a lot about findings of fact:  Where, who 4 

did what, when did they do it, and why, looking for 5 

somebody to blame. 6 

Could you expand a little bit on 7 

what the findings of misconduct in either judicial 8 

inquiry or the auditor general scope might look 9 

like? 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s difficult to 11 

answer without having a investigation being carried 12 

out.  It would be a difficult thing for me to 13 

assess as to how a finding of misconduct might be 14 

arrived at or whether there is any misconduct at 15 

all.  That obviously would be one of the issues for 16 

the investigator, whether it’s a commissioner of an 17 

inquiry or whether it is an auditor general to 18 

determine.  So it would be difficult for me to give 19 

you an example of that. 20 

MR. DANKO:  So would it be 21 

necessary to define findings of misconduct as part 22 

of the scope in either one? 23 

MR. LEDERMAN:  It wouldn’t be 24 

necessary, but it certainly could be one of the 25 
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questions put to the investigation to ascertain 1 

whether any acts of misconduct had occurred. 2 

MR. DANKO:  My last question -- 3 

and thank you for indulgence here -- is on 4 

recommendations on policy changes and protocols 5 

because, again, to me, that is just as important 6 

than the findings of fact.  Is there -- facts.  Is 7 

there any difference between what we would 8 

anticipate a judicial inquiry to recommend as far 9 

as policy changes and protocols versus the auditor 10 

general? 11 

MR. LEDERMAN:  No.  Again, it 12 

would be entirely subject to the determinations 13 

made by either the commissioner or by the auditor 14 

general to them, based on those determinations, 15 

make recommendations to changes in policies or 16 

protocols if necessary.  Both can flow from either 17 

the inquiry or from an auditor general’s 18 

investigation. 19 

MR. DANKO:  So again, the big 20 

difference though is we would anticipate getting 21 

those recommendations within nine months versus 22 

years. 23 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes, subject of 24 

course to the scope that is ultimately conferred on 25 
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the investigation. 1 

MR. DANKO:  So I’ll conclude 2 

there, and I think -- I still have an open mind 3 

here.  I haven’t made up my mind versus judicial 4 

inquiry or auditor general’s investigation.  5 

However, I’ll listen to the rest of the speakers, 6 

but I think there is good merit of going with the 7 

AG report even though that might not be the 8 

politically expedient choice.  So thank you for the 9 

answers.  I appreciate it. 10 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Good questions. 11 

 Thank you very much. 12 

And good answers as well.  Thank 13 

you. 14 

Councillor Brenda Johnson. 15 

MS. JOHNSON:  Thank you, Mr. 16 

Mayor. 17 

And thank you very much for your 18 

overall explanation for all three.  I know it’s 19 

getting late.  I would have preferred probably a 20 

chart that said this is what they -- and have it 21 

comparable, so bear with me. 22 

For your first option, the 23 

inquiry, I don’t know how familiar you are with the 24 

incidences that you have quoted in here and how 25 
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they started off being something small and end up 1 

being much larger and way over budget.  Would you 2 

have any opinion as to whether or not maybe the 3 

scope was too vague, so therefore, they were able 4 

to go into different directions rather than to stay 5 

focused and be in one area or can you comment on 6 

why you think it went so over budget? 7 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I can’t really 8 

speak to the precise reasons as to why past 9 

judicial inquiries have exceeded their original 10 

expected time frames or cost other than to tell you 11 

from our experience with judicial inquiries what 12 

are some features about judicial inquiries that 13 

have the ability to cause delay and increase cost. 14 

And that, in many respects, has to 15 

do with if there are issues that arise that involve 16 

legal challenges to the courts that places a delay 17 

in the hearing.  It has to do with the length of 18 

time that it takes to have witnesses testify live 19 

at a hearing.  That, in and of itself, often takes 20 

longer than anticipated. 21 

There are many schedules that get 22 

adjusted and need to be readjusted as a result of 23 

witness availability, so there are those general 24 

features that make the ability to predict or set 25 
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out the time frames associated with the judicial 1 

inquiry difficult. 2 

MS. JOHNSON:  And thank you for 3 

that answer.  My second question is:  You also 4 

suggested that an office would be required; 5 

staffing may be required; document management 6 

system, probably retaining a third party to manage 7 

those documents, but again, this is where the chart 8 

would have been helpful.  Would the ombudsman and 9 

the AG require the same criteria? 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Likely not, but 11 

again, it would depend on the scope that is set so 12 

that if there are masses and volumes of documents 13 

that are anticipated for an auditor general to 14 

review or an ombudsman to review, then that could 15 

affect the manner in which those documents are 16 

provided to the auditor general or to the 17 

ombudsman. 18 

MS. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  19 

And the previous speaker was doing a good job 20 

comparing the two, and it took a lot of my 21 

questions away, but I also wanted to include the 22 

ombudsman into this, so I could get a fulsome 23 

understanding. 24 

So for all three, is it the 25 
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investigation starts, it finishes, but no updates 1 

are provided in between?  Nothing is provided to 2 

the public to say, “We’re almost done” or “We’ve 3 

completed three-quarters”?  I guess I’m watching 4 

too much CNN, but is there any way that is -- does 5 

that make sense?  Do we get updates or does the 6 

public get updates? 7 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  So the 8 

process in which updates are provided can be 9 

entirely set by the municipality and can insist 10 

that the ombudsman or auditor general provide 11 

updates to the public and to the municipality at 12 

various points along the way during the course of 13 

the investigation.  So all of the procedures and 14 

the rules governing those investigations can be set 15 

and established by the municipality to ensure that 16 

information is being provided and things are moving 17 

on track. 18 

MS. JOHNSON:  Okay.  And my 19 

understanding is the auditor general and the 20 

inquiry can summon witnesses and compel production 21 

of documents.  I heard that conversation before.  22 

Am I to believe now the ombudsman wouldn’t be able 23 

to compel witnesses, wouldn’t be able to compel 24 

documents? 25 
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MR. LEDERMAN:  So the ombudsman 1 

can issue summonses to witnesses to interview them 2 

and to issue summons to review documents.  The 3 

difficulty of the difference is if the witness 4 

refuses to comply, the ombudsman, under the 5 

legislation, does not have the same power that the 6 

auditor general or a commissioner has under 7 

judicial inquiry to apply to the Court to compel 8 

compliance with the summons. 9 

MS. JOHNSON:  Okay.  But the other 10 

two can. 11 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes. 12 

MS. JOHNSON:  Okay.  So again, 13 

this is where the chart would have been helpful.  14 

The investigation must be conducted in private.  15 

However, any information that is necessary to 16 

establish grounds for the conclusions and 17 

recommendations of the report can be made public.  18 

Is that not the same with all three, that the 19 

report becomes public in all three? 20 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct.  21 

The report is public in all three. 22 

MS. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Again, the 23 

chart would have been great -- for me, anyways.  24 

Well, no, it does because then I can say this is 25 
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comparing apples to apples for me, and what I’m 1 

doing is I’m going back and forth from page to page 2 

to see if there’s any inconsistency with the 3 

language. 4 

Those are my questions right now, 5 

and I apologize, I was late coming in today.  I was 6 

at the MPC at 8:30 this morning, so thank you. 7 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Thank you. 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Councillor 9 

Vanderbaek. 10 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you, Mr. 11 

Mayor.  Through you, Mr. Mayor, I just want to 12 

clarify something and make sure that I’ve 13 

understand it correctly.  The judicial inquiry is 14 

the only vehicle where witnesses are required to be 15 

interviewed in public; is that correct? 16 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  That is that 17 

process where there is a hearing in which the 18 

witnesses would testify live as part of the 19 

inquiry. 20 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you.  And I 21 

think I understood you to say that the ombudsman 22 

and the auditor general are within the control of 23 

the municipality and the public.  So if the public 24 

wanted certain things to be investigated and 25 
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council agreed to it, council could tell either of 1 

those two individuals that they need to look at 2 

those things. 3 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct. 4 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Is that the same 5 

thing for the judicial inquiry?  Can we tell the -- 6 

I understand that they can expand it where they 7 

want, but can we tell them that we want these 8 

things investigated, and are they compelled to 9 

investigate those things? 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So the municipality 11 

can advise the commissioner that these are the 12 

things that are sought to be investigated.  The 13 

commissioner typically will follow that request but 14 

is not limited in that request.  The commissioner 15 

can go beyond that scope and can pursue other lines 16 

of inquiry. 17 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you.  So 18 

through you, Mr. Mayor, I want to back up one 19 

space.  Are they compelled to address those 20 

questions that we ask them to address? 21 

MR. LEDERMAN:  The legislation 22 

does speak in a form of “shall,” that they shall 23 

investigate the matters that are put before the 24 

commissioner, so in that sense, it does suggest 25 
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that they are compelled to do it.  And practically 1 

speaking, most commissioners will pursue the 2 

inquiry that they’ve been asked to pursue.  The 3 

only difference is is that they are not required to 4 

limit their inquiry to what has been requested by 5 

the municipality. 6 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you.  So 7 

they’re not bound by our questions.  They could go 8 

beyond them.  I thought that’s what you had said.  9 

If we make application for a judicial review, can 10 

it be denied?  Can it be determined that it is not 11 

complex enough or it does not meet the criteria? 12 

MR. LEDERMAN:  No.  Pursuant to 13 

the terms of the legislation, if the request is 14 

made of the chief justice and regional senior 15 

justice, a commissioner shall be appointed. 16 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you.  And 17 

my last question:  One of the things that bothers 18 

me about the option of a judicial inquiry is the 19 

length of time that it potentially could take 20 

before -- and I’m thinking in particular not so 21 

much about the entire community, but the portion of 22 

the community that has suffered heartache and loss 23 

on that Red Hill Expressway, for them to get 24 

answers. 25 
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And so, what I’d like to know is: 1 

 Can our appointed auditor general do some kind of 2 

a simultaneous investigation and report to us on 3 

the processes that happened and how those might be 4 

improved? 5 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Before arriving at 6 

a final conclusion, is that -- 7 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Before the 8 

judicial inquiry comes back with a final 9 

conclusion, can simultaneously our auditor general 10 

employed by the City -- because Charles Brown is 11 

our auditor general -- can he and his staff 12 

simultaneously be looking at what happened in his 13 

view process-wise, procedure-wise in the division 14 

or the department? 15 

MR. LEDERMAN:  The difficulty with 16 

running two processes that are investigating the 17 

same issues at once is that you run the risk of the 18 

two processes conflicting with each other, both in 19 

terms of scheduling, timing, and the review of 20 

documents.  So there would be a practical reason to 21 

avoid commencing two separate processes that are 22 

evaluating the same issue. 23 

Typically, what would be done is 24 

an investigation is carried out either through the 25 
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form of a judicial inquiry or through the form of 1 

an auditor general’s investigation to arrive at the 2 

conclusions and make recommendations, and it would 3 

be difficult to have those two processes running in 4 

tandem where they’re investigating the very same 5 

issues. 6 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you.  Those 7 

are my questions. 8 

Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 10 

you. 11 

Councillor Pearson. 12 

MS. PEARSON:  Thank you.  Thank 13 

you very much, and I do appreciate all the 14 

questions around the table because they’ve been 15 

asked and answered, and I appreciate the answers.  16 

I’ve been ticking off, so I don’t want to belabour 17 

anymore if I don’t need to. 18 

I just wanted to ask because I am 19 

going through just on a different -- so under the 20 

-- so the judicial inquiry, I understand the powers 21 

there and I understand the difference with the 22 

ombudsman, but under the auditor general, it says 23 

something that’s a little bit different that is not 24 

mentioned in any other, and I’m just trying to find 25 
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it again.  My apologies.  It has to do with -- 1 

shoot.  Sorry. 2 

Anyways, I’ll go in the second 3 

question, and I’ll keep looking for this.  The 4 

other is:  Under the judicial inquiry, I understand 5 

the process if somebody doesn’t want to give 6 

evidence, then it becomes a further legal issue as 7 

perjury or whatever, gives incorrect answers as 8 

they’re being subject to investigation, correct? 9 

MR. LEDERMAN:  It could be. 10 

MS. PEARSON:  Or closed if it’s 11 

done by an attorney general. 12 

MR. LEDERMAN:  If a witness is 13 

testifying under oath and it is subsequently 14 

determined where there are grounds to believe that 15 

the witness has given false evidence, that witness 16 

regardless of whether it’s through the judicial 17 

inquiry or through an auditor general investigation 18 

could be subject to sanctions for perjury. 19 

MS. PEARSON:  And under the 20 

auditor general, that was always mentioned as far 21 

as -- it would be obligations of a summons, and 22 

they would also -- if they don’t meet those, they 23 

would have -- who would set fines and charges? 24 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So those are two 25 
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separate matters.  There is a power to issue a 1 

summons for a witness or to review a document, and 2 

then if a witness then fails to comply with that 3 

summons, the investigator, whether it’s the auditor 4 

general or whether it is a commissioner by way of 5 

the inquiry can apply to the Court to enforce the 6 

summons. 7 

MS. PEARSON:  So that process is 8 

totally independent of the investigation though, 9 

correct? 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Correct. 11 

MS. PEARSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I 12 

appreciate that.  I can’t find the paragraph, so 13 

I’ll ask with indulgence that I may come back and 14 

ask the question further.  Thank you. 15 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 16 

Councillor Clark. 17 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 18 

 I appreciate this. 19 

Mr. Lederman, I wonder if I might 20 

indulge the committee to give you some bragging 21 

rights.  Could you share with us some of the public 22 

inquiries that you were directly involved in? 23 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So I could only 24 

speak to -- our firm has been active in a number of 25 
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judicial inquiries over time.  Probably the most 1 

recent is -- well, there’s a public inquiry 2 

happening now involving the town of Collingwood, 3 

and our firm is acting for the municipality in 4 

respect of that inquiry. 5 

There is an outstanding provincial 6 

judicial inquiry involving the matters relating to 7 

the Elizabeth Wettlaufer issues in which our firm 8 

was acting as commission counsel in that inquiry.  9 

That hearing has been conducted.  The report is 10 

outstanding, has not been released at this point in 11 

time but is expected, I think, in July of this 12 

year. 13 

MR. CLARK:  And your firm was 14 

involved in both inquiries? 15 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Correct. 16 

MR. CLARK:  And your role in those 17 

inquiries? 18 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So I was not the 19 

lead counsel in those matters, and I was not 20 

involved in those, but my colleagues at my firm 21 

have been directly involved.  And Mr. Lenczner, who 22 

is involved in this process, he too has been 23 

involved in judicial inquiries in the past. 24 

MR. CLARK:  That kind of backfired 25 
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on me.  I’m sorry, I was hoping for a long list of 1 

inquiries that you were directly involved with, but 2 

thank you very much.  Your firm is well-known 3 

across the province, and everyone I know speaks 4 

quite highly of your firm, so -- 5 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Thank you. 6 

MR. CLARK:  -- kudos for that. 7 

Can we touch briefly on, Mr. 8 

Mayor, the auditor general, the ombudsman. 9 

My understanding of the Act is 10 

that they conduct their interviews in private, and 11 

in essence, they interview witnesses 12 

confidentially.  Is that correct for both of them? 13 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That during the 14 

course of the ombudsman’s investigation and an 15 

auditor general’s investigation?  Yes.  They would 16 

meet with the investigator for the purposes of 17 

obtaining the information or the evidence from 18 

them, and that is done behind closed doors. 19 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  And when 20 

they compile, draft the final report, they may 21 

reference the actual quotes from the interviews 22 

that they have conducted?  Do they actually 23 

reference the individual witnesses that gave that 24 

quote or do they just give a witness number and 25 
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this was the quote? 1 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Well, they can 2 

identify the individuals who they spoke with and 3 

obtained that evidence from. 4 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  And can 5 

you clarify whether or not under the Municipal 6 

Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy 7 

Act, whether or not third parties may compel an 8 

auditor general or an ombudsman to provide their 9 

notes and their interviews and transcripts of those 10 

interviews? 11 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Well, they cannot 12 

in that the process is mandated by the legislation 13 

that the investigation carried out by the ombudsman 14 

or auditor general is to be kept confidential. 15 

MR. CLARK:  So to summarize, if I 16 

may.  So the auditor general, the ombudsman have 17 

the authority to conduct interviews with the 18 

witnesses who are deemed to be a witness.  I’m 19 

assuming that they somehow take notes.  There could 20 

be transcriptions, I don’t know, but at the end of 21 

the day, the only thing that becomes public is any 22 

specific quote that the auditor general or the 23 

ombudsman deems appropriate to add to their report, 24 

and nobody has an opportunity to see the actual 25 
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transcripts of the interviews. 1 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct.  2 

The working product would not be part of the 3 

report, but it would be up to the auditor general 4 

or the ombudsman to include whatever information he 5 

or she feels necessary to support the conclusions 6 

and ultimate recommendations made by the ombudsman 7 

or auditor general. 8 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  I 9 

appreciate that clarification.  My colleagues are 10 

on the table knowing there’s a bit of a -- I’m not 11 

going to say what you’re thinking -- political 12 

junkie and policy wonk.  So I was intrigued by your 13 

comment that an auditor general can find misconduct 14 

because historically -- and I went through a number 15 

of auditor general reports.  I don’t recall too 16 

many auditor generals actually finding misconduct 17 

or finding fault with anything. 18 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I guess it would 19 

depend on the terms of reference or the scope that 20 

was provided to the auditor general in those cases. 21 

 If there was a specific request as part of the 22 

auditor general’s mandate to ascertain whether 23 

there’s been any act of misconduct, it would 24 

certainly be open to the auditor general to 25 
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specifically make that finding if, at the 1 

conclusion of his or her investigation, the facts 2 

supported that conclusion. 3 

MR. CLARK:  Because I found it 4 

interesting that -- and I’m trying to remember who 5 

the auditor general that was involved with the 6 

tainted blood scandal, and then of course, the 7 

Krever Inquiry, different reports came back, and 8 

again, reading many provincial auditor general 9 

reports and federal auditor general reports, I 10 

don’t see finger-pointing to an individual for 11 

misconduct or wrongdoing. 12 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Again -- 13 

MR. CLARK:  Historically, I have 14 

not seen it and whereas the Krever Inquiry very 15 

clearly went to that direction, and it was a public 16 

request. 17 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Again, I think that 18 

can be ensured that the municipality, if it so 19 

chose to appoint an auditor general’s 20 

investigation, could make that a specific mandate 21 

for the auditor general to assess and make a 22 

finding as to whether or not any act of misconduct 23 

has occurred and to make recommendations flowing 24 

from that. 25 
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MR. CLARK:  I appreciate that.  1 

You also indicated that there is no ability to 2 

limit a commissioner from expanding the scope of 3 

the judicial investigation, so the superior court 4 

appoints a judge.  The judge comes in, receives the 5 

scope or the information that the municipality 6 

wants to have investigated.  During the course of 7 

their investigation, they uncover some other 8 

information that they feel is compelling and a part 9 

of the inquiry.  It has to be a part of the 10 

inquiry.  It has to be compelling to the inquiry.  11 

It isn’t this wide basis they can look at anything 12 

they want. 13 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s true.  It 14 

would be -- and the only time it would arise is if 15 

the commissioner felt it was necessary in order to 16 

arrive at a conclusion arising from the inquiry. 17 

MR. CLARK:  And so, where are the 18 

limitations to a justice when conducting a public 19 

inquiry in terms of how far a field he can or she 20 

can go with their inquiry?  The way -- forgive me 21 

if I’m misinterpreting, you make it sound like they 22 

can do anything. 23 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Well, in effect, 24 

when a commissioner has been appointed, they will, 25 
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practically speaking, pursue the scope that has 1 

been proposed.  All I’m saying is that the 2 

legislation does not preclude a commissioner from 3 

going beyond that scope however he or she deems 4 

fit. 5 

MR. CLARK:  Your wording was very 6 

precise there, and I appreciate that.  Practically 7 

speaking, you’re looking at the scope.  That’s 8 

their role, so any expansion of the investigation 9 

has to be specific to the scope.  It came from that 10 

scope.  It’s something that they uncovered as a 11 

“you know what, I need to talk to this witness 12 

too.”  So it’s not as -- as my colleagues here are 13 

not familiar with this stuff, it’s not a question 14 

of “let’s just widen this out and spend a bit more 15 

money.” 16 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I guess it depends 17 

though on when or how the scope could get expanded. 18 

 It may be that the commissioner determines to 19 

expand the scope even before documents have been 20 

reviewed in which case that then becomes the new 21 

scope of the inquiry. 22 

MR. CLARK:  You’re saying there’s 23 

no rules from the superior court that guides the 24 

commissioner in his role or her role. 25 
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MR. LEDERMAN:  It’s not that there 1 

are no rules.  It’s that the legislation as far as 2 

the statute goes does not constrain a commissioner 3 

appointed to conduct an inquiry to be limited to 4 

what the terms of reference or whatever the scope 5 

has been proposed by the municipality. 6 

MR. CLARK:  So are there rules 7 

that the justice would have to deal -- has to live 8 

by?  It’s the judge ordered by the superior court. 9 

 It can’t just -- I mean, I just find it 10 

fascinating that you’re suggesting they can go as 11 

far field as they want with no recrimination.  That 12 

seems to be what you’re saying. 13 

MR. LEDERMAN:  All I can tell you 14 

is what the legislation does.  The legislation does 15 

not preclude a commissioner from going beyond the 16 

scope that has been proposed to him or her. 17 

MR. CLARK:  And it doesn’t prevent 18 

a commissioner from, strictly speaking, sticking to 19 

the narrow scope that was provided from the 20 

municipality. 21 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Not at all.  In 22 

fact, the commissioner could very well just stick 23 

to what had been proposed without going beyond the 24 

scope of the mandate.  That’s correct. 25 
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MR. CLARK:  I’m curious why -- and 1 

this is my last question, if I may. 2 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Through the 3 

chair. 4 

MR. JACKSON:  Thank you, sir. 5 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 6 

MR. CLARK:  Why in your report -- 7 

you referenced the Krever Inquiry and the Toronto 8 

leasing scandal.  Comparatively speaking, they’re 9 

like apples and oranges to the scope of the 10 

investigation that we’re talking about here.  The 11 

Krever Inquiry was a national incident affecting a 12 

significant population, affected many employees, 13 

many public civil servants.  Clearly the cost of 14 

the Krever report was significant, given the scope. 15 

The Toronto leasing scandal ended 16 

up being the largest corruption scandal in the 17 

history of the Province of Ontario and ended up 18 

being a significant inquiry because of those 19 

allegations.  It’s kind of hard to have those 20 

compared to we’re looking at an inquiry here where 21 

there was a non-disclosure of a report, and we want 22 

to find out what happened with the non-disclosure 23 

report. 24 

So in your report, you say a 25 
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million dollars to $11 million.  $11 million scares 1 

people significantly.  That’s a significant number. 2 

 What’s the likelihood of that, given that this is 3 

a small municipality and this is a relatively 4 

narrow issue? 5 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So hard for me to 6 

assess the likelihood in terms of the cost. 7 

MR. CLARK:  But would you agree 8 

with me that the Krever example and the Toronto one 9 

is the far end of the scale? 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I would as compared 11 

to the issues that seemed to be -- that needed to 12 

be investigated presently, and that’s in large 13 

measure why it is that in our view, a judicial 14 

inquiry is not the most effective mechanism for 15 

investigating the issues to be determined and for 16 

answering the questions that this city council 17 

requires to be answered. 18 

So when you look at the other 19 

examples of judicial inquiries, you’re absolutely 20 

right.  They involve a much more significant -- the 21 

number of witnesses that are involved are 22 

presumably much more significant.  The number of 23 

documents to be reviewed are probably much more 24 

significant.  Again, it depends on the scope that 25 
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is set for the investigation, but when you look at 1 

the past judicial inquiries that have been 2 

conducted, they are all for the most part on the 3 

other end of the spectrum in terms of the cost and 4 

time that it would take to investigate the issues 5 

that are in play. 6 

In the present case, it may be 7 

that the issue to be determined or to be 8 

investigated is fairly discreet, and that in and of 9 

itself would militate in favour of a much more 10 

narrow approach to coming to a quick and fulsome 11 

investigation as to what happened and provide 12 

recommendations to ensure that any changes that 13 

needed to be made are made without delay. 14 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 15 

you. 16 

Councillor Clark. 17 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you. 18 

So the priority or the motivation 19 

for the recommendation is a quick and fulsome 20 

report back on the incident, and it’s fair to say 21 

that some around this table are seeing the priority 22 

as having an open and transparent examination of 23 

the witnesses and in open public format so that 24 

people can actually see what’s going on.  The 25 
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challenge for me and many of my colleagues is that 1 

when an auditor general and an ombudsman do that 2 

type of investigation, the examinations remain 3 

confidential except for any quotes that they choose 4 

to put in a report. 5 

And so, can you see the difference 6 

in terms of what the end goal is?  If the end goal 7 

for a municipality is to be open and as transparent 8 

as possible than having a public hearing -- which 9 

we’re used to in this setting all the time.  10 

Municipalities have public hearings virtually every 11 

week -- that type of public hearing is a priority 12 

for a municipality over and above having the quick 13 

brief report where the information is actually 14 

hidden for all times in transcripts that no one 15 

will ever see.  Can you see the difference? 16 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I understand.  17 

These are the issues that -- 18 

MR. CLARK:  -- we’re wrestling 19 

with. 20 

MR. LEDERMAN:  This council will 21 

have to make a determination.  All I can tell you 22 

is how the different investigations are distinct 23 

and how they’re similar, and ultimately, it will be 24 

for this council decide which is the most 25 
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appropriate in light of the factual circumstances 1 

to be investigated in this matter, having regard to 2 

the amount of time, having regard to the expense, 3 

and having regard to what is sought to be achieved 4 

and to what degree is the process in the different 5 

investigative methods, to what extent are they 6 

transparent if accessible to the public. 7 

MR. CLARK:  And finally, I just 8 

want to thank you and your colleague sincerely.  9 

This was produced to you in short order, and you 10 

have come back with a comprehensive report to us in 11 

short order, and the report has helped inform us in 12 

our deliberations, so I sincerely thank you for 13 

that, and I thank Nicole for her efforts to 14 

reaching out to you.  She had mentioned to us that 15 

she knew about the Collingwood judicial 16 

investigation and knew the solicitors, so this has 17 

been very helpful for us. 18 

So thank you, all three of you. 19 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Thank you. 20 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 21 

you. 22 

Councillor Partridge. 23 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Yes, thank you, 24 

Mr. Mayor, and I want to thank everyone for the 25 
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great questions that have been over the last couple 1 

of hours, and I’ve just got a couple of very quick 2 

ones.  I think my comment, first of all, is -- the 3 

struggle is as the former speaker said and others 4 

have said around the table with the judicial 5 

inquiry. 6 

The perception by our residents 7 

may be that it’s going to happen right away, and 8 

they’re going to get an answer right away, and that 9 

it will be a public process.  Well, we know it will 10 

be a public process, but it is going to take a 11 

length of time. 12 

So my question, Mr. Mayor, through 13 

you:  In terms of the judicial review that would be 14 

done, how would the public be informed about the 15 

public aspects of it?  So in terms of the timings 16 

of the hearings, the locations, etc. 17 

MR. LEDERMAN:  So typically, what 18 

happens is once the commissioner has been 19 

appointed, counsel for the commissioner will then 20 

get appointed as well.  A website is typically 21 

established in which all of the information 22 

regarding timelines, schedules, attendances of 23 

witnesses are published and updated. 24 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Okay.  So that is 25 
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the public part of it, and then that would also be 1 

shared on the City’s website or councillors can put 2 

it in their newsletters. 3 

I’m just looking for some feedback 4 

on that, Mr. Mayor. 5 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  All of that 6 

would be publishable and can be disseminated 7 

through various vehicles. 8 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Okay.  Thank you. 9 

 And in terms of the length of time, would the 10 

public also be informed about that as we move 11 

along?  So at each stage, is there going to be an 12 

update of the website?  Will there be any kind of 13 

notifications put in the newspaper?  I’m assuming 14 

that all of that cost would be borne by the 15 

municipality. 16 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes, it would, and 17 

there would be updates.  So to the extent that 18 

schedules that were set need to be extended because 19 

there’s been some delay or contingency that has 20 

occurred, the schedule would be updated on the 21 

website and the extensions obviously, yes.  All 22 

costs associated with the inquiry would be borne by 23 

the municipality. 24 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Thank you.  I 25 
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appreciate that.  I’m just going to ask Councillor 1 

Merulla -- 2 

Could you just move over to the 3 

next chair, sir, so that I can have some -- much 4 

better, much better.  Now you’re in their line of 5 

vision, but that’s okay.  I don’t care about that. 6 

 I appreciate that, Councillor. 7 

And so, my next question is on the 8 

auditor general because it’s my understanding that 9 

the auditor general certainly, Mr. Mayor, appears 10 

from the report to have more power than the 11 

ombudsman.  Is that accurate? 12 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes, in one 13 

respect, and that is with respect to the ability to 14 

enforce a summons whereas the ombudsman can issue a 15 

summons.  The ombudsman cannot apply to the Court 16 

under the legislation to enforce it or as the 17 

auditor general cannot only issue the summons but 18 

could also apply to the Court to enforce it. 19 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Okay.  Thank you. 20 

 And Mr. Mayor, my next question is with regards to 21 

the process for applying -- I don’t know if 22 

“applying” is the right word, but for an auditor 23 

general, what is the process that the City would 24 

have to go through?  I’m assuming we would not use 25 
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our own auditor general. 1 

MR. LEDERMAN:  It would be open to 2 

the legislation to use your auditor general, but in 3 

order to achieve any such question about the 4 

ability of the auditor general to conduct the 5 

investigation, I would suspect that the most 6 

appropriate way would be to have a delegate of the 7 

auditor general conduct the investigation, and a 8 

determination could be made about the process that 9 

would be employed to appoint or select an 10 

independent and qualified investigator to conduct 11 

the investigation. 12 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  But in your 13 

report, Mr. Mayor, when I read through the report 14 

and I’m looking at page 13 of 37, it says who could 15 

be appointed as auditor general.  It’s pretty 16 

broad.  Could you just unpack that a bit for those 17 

who are watching -- God bless you -- and for those 18 

that are here. 19 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  So the role 20 

performed by the auditor general to conduct this 21 

investigation can be anyone selected for that 22 

purpose.  It could be a law firm to conduct the 23 

investigation.  It could be a retired judge to 24 

conduct the investigation or any individual who is 25 
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deemed to be independent and impartial can be 1 

appointed for the purposes of conducting this 2 

investigation under the auditor general’s 3 

investigation. 4 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  And the process 5 

for that? 6 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That would be 7 

established by the municipality and can be done in 8 

consultation with public stakeholders to sort out 9 

and devise the most open and transparent process 10 

for that investigation to be carried out. 11 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  And the City -- 12 

through you, Mr. Mayor, if I understand correctly 13 

then with an auditor general, it would be the 14 

municipality that -- with legal advice that would 15 

set the scope of the inquiry.  Is that accurate? 16 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  The 17 

municipality and council can provide the terms of 18 

reference or the scope to be said or to be 19 

investigated by the auditor general to conduct the 20 

investigation.  The only issues that would need to 21 

be considered as part of that is the cost to be 22 

borne if the scope -- the larger the scope of the 23 

investigation, then the cost of the investigation 24 

would have to be taken into account as well. 25 
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MS. PARTRIDGE:  Okay.  Thank you. 1 

 And I’m not going to suggest, Mr. Mayor, for one 2 

minute that cost isn’t important, but you know, 3 

we’re dealing with something much bigger than that 4 

here, and I think, you know, the accountability, 5 

the trust, the transparency, the history of what 6 

has happened on the Red Hill, and the history of 7 

what has happened since 2013, all of those are 8 

coming into play. 9 

And you know, I’m hesitant to have 10 

the City set -- or the municipality set the scope 11 

with an auditor general, although, you know, I like 12 

the idea of the auditor general, but on the other 13 

hand, if there is need to expand the scope, I would 14 

rather have that happen and be an opportunity to -- 15 

you know, to really be able to dig into it as well 16 

and to bring others outside of our municipality, 17 

you know, other levels of government that may be 18 

appropriate, and that, you know, again, should not 19 

be the decision of the municipality but the 20 

decision of whoever’s doing the judicial inquiry. 21 

So thank you, Mr. Mayor.  I do 22 

appreciate all the answers. 23 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 24 

you. 25 
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But scope will be decided by the 1 

municipality on all the options, correct? 2 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct. 3 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Councillor 4 

Pauls. 5 

MS. PAULS:  Thank you.  As I sit 6 

here and we talk about being transparent and all 7 

that, I say as my fellow, John-Paul Danko, said, 8 

there wasn’t much difference between the auditor 9 

general and the judicial other than a few other 10 

things like being private and all that.  I think 11 

the perception, we need to have the public that an 12 

auditor general is almost the same as judicial.  We 13 

haven’t done a great job of doing that.  We’re 14 

learning little by little.  I find out that if the 15 

auditor general finds any criminal activity, that 16 

we could pursue that, can we? 17 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  If I 18 

understand the question correctly, the auditor 19 

general would be conferred the same power that a 20 

commissioner under a judicial inquiry has to 21 

investigate the matters at issue, including 22 

determining whether there’s been acts of 23 

misconduct, and the report is public and accessible 24 

to the public as well. 25 
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MS. PAULS:  Exactly.  So I believe 1 

the public needs to know that because if we assume 2 

we’re just doing a judicial because we know there’s 3 

criminal activities going on, you know, I don’t 4 

know if that’s what we want to do.  If the auditor 5 

general can do all this a much faster time where 6 

the public -- I can’t imagine two, three years 7 

going on with this.  If we could do the same thing 8 

as the auditor general, I think we should let the 9 

public know that it is a great investigation, just 10 

like we’re learning tonight.  So that’s my opinion 11 

in this. 12 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 13 

you.  And that is a debating point, so -- and I 14 

appreciate that, so you can weigh into that when 15 

and if we have a motion on the floor.  I’m going to 16 

go to Councillor Ferguson. 17 

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you, Mr. 18 

Mayor.  There has been a lot of good questions, and 19 

I appreciate Councillor Pauls going ahead of me 20 

because she said there’s not a big difference.  I 21 

think there is.  The big difference is the auditor 22 

general and the ombudsman -- correct me if I’m 23 

wrong, sir -- will take two to three months and 24 

cost about $300,000, where the judicial inquiry 25 
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will take three years and anywhere between one and 1 

$11 million. 2 

And you’re writing really a blank 3 

cheque because we lose control of that once you 4 

turn it over to judicial inquiries.  That’s what I 5 

heard, if that’s correct, and if they see they want 6 

to agree to the scope, they could spend up to $11 7 

million, which would be a big sticker shock to our 8 

constituents, I believe.  And of course, all three 9 

of them, there’s a public report presented, and the 10 

public report will review all the witness testimony 11 

and come to conclusions, state facts and what 12 

happened. 13 

As I listen around the table, one 14 

of the concerns I got, there’s some members of 15 

council that went public with their view for a 16 

judicial inquiry before we heard from the expert, 17 

and that puts them in a tough spot, and our expert 18 

is telling us don’t go the judicial inquiry route 19 

because it’s going to take too long.  I mean, in 20 

three years’ time, what else is going to get messed 21 

and covered up before we have policy change. 22 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So we’re getting 23 

kind of into the debate territory, so I’m going to 24 

ask everyone from here on 2.4 to ask specific 25 
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clarification questions of the solicitor.  Once we 1 

have a motion on the floor, we’ll have a discussion 2 

about which direction we should go.  That’s the 3 

debating point. 4 

And Councillor Whitehead. 5 

MR. FERGUSON:  Yeah, lighten up.  6 

I mean, I never interrupted you while you were 7 

talking. 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  You’re one to 9 

call interfere on -- breaking the basis. 10 

MR. FERGUSON:  Could you get 11 

control of the councillor, please, because I don’t 12 

like being interrupted. 13 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay. 14 

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you. 15 

MR. EISENBERGER:  I’ll have him 16 

stop interrupting you while you’re interrupting 17 

him. 18 

MS. PAULS:  Can I say something? 19 

MR. EISENBERGER:  No, not right 20 

now.  Hang on.  Hang on.  No, no.  Thank you. 21 

Councillor Ferguson, please have 22 

the floor.  You’re asking questions of clarity? 23 

MR. FERGUSON:  I’m getting clarity 24 

as I go. 25 
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MR. EISENBERGER:  Please stick to 1 

clarity issues. 2 

MR. FERGUSON:  You’ve lost my 3 

momentum. 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  I’m sorry, but 5 

I’m also trying to get to -- 6 

MR. FERGUSON:  I understand. 7 

MR. EISENBERGER:  -- the debating 8 

point that everyone wants to get to. 9 

MR. FERGUSON:  I’m a first-time 10 

speaker. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Yes, you are. 12 

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  And so, 13 

the difference is two to three months versus three 14 

years and $300,000 versus one to $11 million -- 15 

sorry? 16 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So can you let 17 

them finish and I’ll monitor the meeting.  You can 18 

-- I’ll turn to you when the time is appropriate 19 

for you to make your points. 20 

Councillor Ferguson, please 21 

continue. 22 

MR. FERGUSON:  I was interrupted. 23 

 I was just trying to summarize what I had said 24 

earlier. 25 
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MR. EISENBERGER:  Carry on. 1 

MR. FERGUSON:  If Councillor 2 

Whitehead could just stay quiet for a minute, I’ll 3 

finish in a hurry. 4 

And so -- well, the difference is 5 

I’ve already summarized one to 11 million versus 6 

$300,000.  I don’t want to be accused of debating 7 

again because I think I’ve already made this point, 8 

but I get constantly interrupted. 9 

And so, I think we need, sir, to 10 

have a transparency and trust matter resolved.  I 11 

would suspect we also have a pecuniary duty to 12 

watch costs, and we have to strike that balance.  13 

Would you agree with that? 14 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Well, yes.  I would 15 

think that the ultimate determination that council 16 

makes with respect to which investigation procedure 17 

should be pursued, in my view, would have regard to 18 

all of the factors that you’ve identified, 19 

including the length of time it would likely take 20 

to complete the different forms of investigations 21 

and the estimated costs and how they are different 22 

in the different forms of -- 23 

MR. FERGUSON:  We have to strike 24 

that balance. 25 
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MR. LEDERMAN:  It is certainly -- 1 

MR. FERGUSON:  Based on the expert 2 

advice that you’re providing to us today, would you 3 

also agree that if we go the attorney general 4 

route, it’s probably appropriate to have RAG hire 5 

an outside AG, so it’s not seen -- we can’t be 6 

accused of covering something up because we’ve gone 7 

external? 8 

MR. LEDERMAN:  My view about the 9 

efficacy of the investigation would be BS.  I would 10 

recommend that if the municipality were to 11 

determine to investigate this through the form of 12 

an auditor general’s investigation, that a 13 

independent impartial person -- 14 

MR. FERGUSON:  Outside. 15 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Outside would be 16 

appointed to conduct the investigation as 17 

experience. 18 

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  19 

I agree with that.  And you also agree that it’d be 20 

a good idea to give them the options you suggested 21 

we could to advance the scope if they discover 22 

something.  They need to follow that string. 23 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I don’t know that I 24 

would extend it to give a blanket discretion to 25 
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someone appointed to conduct an investigation, but 1 

perhaps there is a middle ground to say if during 2 

the course of your investigation you feel it 3 

necessary to expand the scope, then that should 4 

then be brought forward for approval before they go 5 

off and pursue that line of investigation on their 6 

own accord. 7 

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  So Mr. 8 

Mayor, that’s my -- so there’s outside AG with 9 

ability to expand scope if they’re required.  10 

That’s all. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 12 

you.  I’m just going to go down the list here 13 

because I think they’re all second-time speakers. 14 

So Councillor Pearson -- 15 

Okay.  Promise?  So real quick? 16 

MR. FARR:  One question. 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay. 18 

MR. FARR:  Just stating it’s from 19 

the report and it’s to our outside legal.  So on 20 

page 8 of 37, Mr. Mayor, fourth paragraph down -- 21 

third paragraph down.  Once a judge is appointed as 22 

the commissioner of the inquiry, there are a number 23 

of practical and logistical requirements, and it 24 

goes on.  So then in the fourth paragraph, it says: 25 
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“After 1 

this initial meeting, the 2 

commissioner will retain 3 

legal counsel.” 4 

So we’ll hire a judge, and that 5 

judge will hire a lawyer or lawyers through you? 6 

MR. LEDERMAN:  On the judicial 7 

inquiry. 8 

MR. FARR:  On the practical and 9 

logistical considerations of the judicial inquiry 10 

segment of this. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Mr. Lederman. 12 

MR. LEDERMAN:  That’s correct.  13 

The commissioner who is the judge appointed to 14 

conduct the inquiry would then have counsel 15 

retained for the purposes of advising the 16 

commissioner in the conduct of the inquiry, and 17 

that is a significant role played by counsel to 18 

give advice and to effectively conduct the inquiry 19 

and assist the commissioner in conducting an 20 

inquiry. 21 

Equally, the municipality would 22 

have its counsel representing its interests during 23 

the course of the inquiry.  So there’s a separate 24 

layer of lawyers that are retained specifically for 25 
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the purpose of acting as commission counsel. 1 

MR. FARR:  Right.  But then the 2 

commissioner also goes out, hires a lawyer, and 3 

then hires a chief administrative officer, so a CAO 4 

who oversee logistics.  It says here a 5 

communications officer liaise with the media.  6 

Junior lawyers -- so more lawyers -- researchers, 7 

investigators, law clerks, administrative, 8 

technological support, through you, then the crux 9 

of my question:  Would you suggest in having been 10 

part of judicial inquiries and part of -- that a 11 

lot of the costs are borne on staffing? 12 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Certainly that is 13 

an element of the cost.  Staffing is a significant 14 

element of the cost.  Again, it’s largely dependent 15 

on the number of documents, so if there are a 16 

significant volume of documents, then that might 17 

require additional staff to help manage those 18 

documents so that they are available for the 19 

commissioner in the process of conducting the 20 

inquiry. 21 

So it is dependent on the scope 22 

and the degree of information that is needed to be 23 

reviewed for the purposes of conducting the 24 

inquiry, but generally speaking, inquiries will 25 
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necessarily involve lawyers being retained for the 1 

purposes of acting as commission counsel, and then 2 

there are a number of back office or other 3 

administrative functions that need to be performed, 4 

all adding to the expense. 5 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 6 

you. 7 

Councillor Pearson. 8 

MS. PEARSON:  And I found the 9 

question.  Just for the relevance on it, Mr. 10 

Lederman, thank you again, and you’ve answered, 11 

again, some more questions that I had.  It’s on 12 

page 31 of 37, so just going through some of the 13 

differences, and it mentions under Section 223.20, 14 

no waiver of privilege.  I think this is under the 15 

AG. 16 

“A 17 

disclosure to the auditor 18 

general under Section 1 or 19 

2 does not constitute a 20 

waiver of solicitor-client 21 

privilege, litigation 22 

privilege, or settlement 23 

privilege.” 24 

Could you just clarify that?  It’s 25 
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the only area that I saw this, page 31 of 37. 1 

MR. LEDERMAN:  Yes.  So the way 2 

this provision works under the Municipal Act is 3 

that when a auditor general or an ombudsman compels 4 

the production of documents -- and equally would be 5 

the case for the compulsion of documents by a 6 

commissioner under a judicial inquiry -- what that 7 

means is it can access documents and compel the 8 

production of documents, but if there are 9 

privileged components of that document, it does not 10 

amount to a waiver of privilege. 11 

So they cannot necessarily get 12 

access to documents that are subject to privilege, 13 

and that would be the case in both a inquiry and a 14 

auditor general’s investigation.  So the ability to 15 

obtain evidence is always going to be subject to 16 

the caveat that there may be certain information 17 

that is protected by privilege.  Obviously those 18 

protections are not ironclad, and challenges could 19 

be made to assess whether privilege is validly 20 

asserted over certain information or documents. 21 

MS. PEARSON:  Thank you for that 22 

and appreciate it, but they stand as the same all 23 

across the board for all three opportunities. 24 

MR. LEDERMAN:  In terms of the 25 
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ability to compel information, it’s all subject to 1 

the ability to maintain privilege over the 2 

information if there is privilege. 3 

MS. PEARSON:  Thank you for that. 4 

 And I guess the last question I just want to ask, 5 

there was a comment about if it was the AG or the 6 

ombudsman, their investigation notes are 7 

confidential, so I guess the question would be -- 8 

and I’m assuming -- number one:  Can council direct 9 

the release of these notes at an appropriate time? 10 

MR. LEDERMAN:  No.  The 11 

legislation is clear that they shall be kept 12 

confidential, so that cannot be compelled. 13 

MS. PEARSON:  And we would assume, 14 

then, that whoever prepares it embellishes as much 15 

as possible on all the information provided in the 16 

public documentation, correct? 17 

MR. LEDERMAN:  I’m sorry, I’m not 18 

sure I follow that question. 19 

MS. PEARSON:  So if it’s the AG 20 

that we get, whoever takes on that responsibility 21 

-- and I support it being somebody appointed by our 22 

AG outside of our AG here -- that that person would 23 

contain as much as the information as they see 24 

absolutely proper to include in public 25 
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documentation, that would be given to us. 1 

MR. LEDERMAN:  The information 2 

that is published by the auditor general conducting 3 

investigation report would include in that report 4 

the information he or she felt necessary to support 5 

the conclusions or the recommendations arrived in 6 

that report which is made publicly accessible. 7 

MS. PEARSON:  Thank you for that. 8 

That’s it.  Thank you, Mr. Mayor 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 10 

Councillor Clark. 11 

MR. CLARK:  I have a motion to 12 

read and it’s seconded by Councillor Merulla.  13 

Shall I read it now? 14 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So I do have two 15 

additional speakers so -- 16 

Okay.  Well, let me ask the mover 17 

of the motion if he’s interested in having one more 18 

speaker that’s here waiting to speak -- sorry, 19 

you’re on the motion?  Okay. 20 

Go ahead, Councillor. 21 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you. 22 

Be it resolved that outside legal 23 

counsel in consultation with the acting city 24 

manager and the city solicitor be directed to 25 
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prepare the necessary documents to file an 1 

application before the superior court to initiate a 2 

judicial investigation pursuant to the Ontario 3 

Municipal Act, Section 274.1(a) and (b), 4 

investigation by a judge, and the Public Inquiries 5 

Act, Section 33, Public Inquiries, and that the 6 

scope of the judicial investigation could include 7 

but not be limited to the following questions which 8 

are to be referred to outside legal counsel for 9 

review and a report back to the General Issues 10 

Council Committee. 11 

And I can speak to it or -- 12 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Yes.  Please, 13 

yes.  So I’m going to assume that we’re done with 14 

legal advice and we’re into a debate on the motion. 15 

MR. CLARK:  Do you want me to move 16 

receipt of the -- 17 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Do we need to do 18 

that exactly at this point? 19 

MR. CLARK:  I don’t know. 20 

MR. EISENBERGER:  I don’t think 21 

so.  Perfect.  Carry on. 22 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you, sir.  I 23 

appreciate that. 24 

So regardless of the outcome of 25 
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any vote on this matter, the discussion has been 1 

most important and enlightening.  I have 2 

appreciated and respected the candour, the 3 

professionalism, the respect, and the leadership of 4 

our mayor and council colleagues as we learned 5 

about the non-disclosure of the Tradewind 6 

Scientific friction report. 7 

This revelation has caused many 8 

residents to have a crisis of trust and faith in 9 

their municipal government.  It is best summed up 10 

through the words of Dr. David Smosarski, who lost 11 

his daughter, Olivia, in a horrific accident on the 12 

Red Hill Parkway.  In a letter to council, Dr. 13 

David Smosarski said -- and I quote: 14 

“I am 15 

sure you can imagine my 16 

surprise and anger to hear 17 

that there was information 18 

pertaining to the surface 19 

of the Parkway 18 months 20 

before the passing of my 21 

daughter.  I do not 22 

understand why this report 23 

was not brought to the 24 

knowledge of the public and 25 

539



138 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

yourselves for so many 1 

years.  It is extremely 2 

disconcerting and shakes 3 

the foundation of belief 4 

and trust in our municipal 5 

government.” 6 

In many respects, Mr. Mayor, this 7 

issue is an existential crisis for us as one of the 8 

most important priorities for any municipal 9 

government is public safety.  Our abilities to make 10 

informed decisions about the safety of the Red Hill 11 

Valley Parkway were undermined by the 12 

non-disclosure of the document in November 2013 and 13 

September 2018. 14 

The recent revelation has damaged 15 

the public’s trust in this city and in the city 16 

council.  Council was surprised, and quite frankly, 17 

shocked to learn about the existence of this 18 

report.  Even more significant was the profound 19 

feeling of betrayal.  The revelation of this report 20 

has put councillors in an unprecedented, 21 

unenviable, and literally an untenable position. 22 

Going forward, I personally have a 23 

few priorities in how we move.  I think we all want 24 

the truth, the complete truth that gives a full 25 
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picture.  I want full transparency.  I want to 1 

ensure that it does not happen again.  I want to 2 

rebuild trust with our citizens and to improve our 3 

government structure and policies. 4 

Personally, I have witnessed a 5 

number of judicial investigations, auditor general 6 

and ombudsman reports over the years.  The 7 

acceptance of their veracity of such reports has, 8 

in my experience, always been the highest in a 9 

judicial investigation.  Why?  Simply because it is 10 

a completely open and transparent process.  11 

Observers, media, citizens are free to witness the 12 

examination of the witnesses and experts. 13 

I cannot understate the importance 14 

of this opportunity to rebuild public trust.  The 15 

complexities of human nature lead people to trust 16 

their own observations more than reading the 17 

interpretations of witness examinations, statements 18 

of politicians, and dare I say media reports. 19 

In a judicial investigation, 20 

people trust, accept and believe the findings of a 21 

justice not just because of their total judicial 22 

independence and the completely 100 per cent arm’s 23 

length process but because the testimony, 24 

cross-examinations, and presentations of evidence 25 
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is held in an open public setting where any 1 

interested party can attend.  They can watch the 2 

recordings.  They can read the transcripts.  This 3 

process is the only option that rebuilds trust with 4 

complete surety. 5 

In the end, that is the real 6 

issue, the loss of trust.  We cannot rebuild trust 7 

by delegating an ombudsman and auditor general to 8 

conduct an investigation where their interviews of 9 

witnesses are private and remain confidential.  10 

While the substance or the quotes of their 11 

testimony may be referenced in a final report, the 12 

actual interviews remain forevermore confidential, 13 

and as we confirmed here tonight cannot even be 14 

accessed through Freedom of Information request. 15 

I am aware of the trepidations 16 

regarding the potential cost of the judicial 17 

investigation.  I feel compelled to mention that 18 

comparing a possible judicial investigation on this 19 

narrow Hamilton issue to other more complex public 20 

inquires like the Krever Inquiry into the tainted 21 

blood or the Toronto leasing scandal appear to me 22 

to be examples of where the scopes were much 23 

broader, provincial or even national, and their 24 

final costs were well expected in those inquiries. 25 
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The Collingwood judicial 1 

investigation seems to be much more in line with my 2 

expectations in terms of a narrow scope.  From my 3 

personal perspective, the open, transparent arm’s 4 

length nature of a council requesting the Ontario 5 

Superior Court to appoint a judge to conduct a 6 

judicial investigation where witnesses are 7 

examined, cross-examined in open session is what is 8 

needed and what is wanted by this community. 9 

As such, I support a judicial 10 

investigation.  I have amended my motion to refer 11 

the questions and the second part of the motion to 12 

outside counsel for review and consideration to 13 

help us formulate the final scope in terms of 14 

reference for such an investigation. 15 

I want to thank Councillor Merulla 16 

for seconding the notion, and I leave your vote to 17 

your good judgment.  Thank you. 18 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 19 

Councillor Whitehead. 20 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Thank you, Mr. 21 

Mayor. 22 

As Commissioner Bélanger said at 23 

the ILA Inquiry, I think it’s very important to 24 

stress that the commission while created by the 25 

543



142 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

government and publicly funded is entirely 1 

independent.  It draws its conclusions and makes 2 

recommendations based entirely upon evidence 3 

presented to the commissioner by commission counsel 4 

during the hearings. 5 

The submissions of the 6 

participants and upon the advice it received from 7 

the invited experts and publicly accessible 8 

roundtables at no time during the entirety of his 9 

proceedings was there been any form of intervention 10 

or interference by government or by any participant 11 

or third party.  All the commission funding 12 

recommendations were accepted by the attorney 13 

general, my request for a time extension and 14 

release the budget contingency funds were granted 15 

without reservation or exception. 16 

And then the other thing I wanted 17 

to highlight because there is a distinction between 18 

what a attorney general can compel versus judicial 19 

commission, and the commissioner actually addresses 20 

here.  That’s why there’s inconsistency with the 21 

advice you’re getting and what actually took place. 22 

 The commissions process have been completely 23 

public and transparent, and I have resisted all 24 

request to make them less so, except in two 25 
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circumstances. 1 

I ordered non-publication of 2 

photographs of the deceased victims and ordered 3 

blacked out irrelevant personal information 4 

concerning the spouse of the participant.  So 5 

that’s the only exception -- and there was a lot of 6 

request in this hearing because I followed it.  The 7 

beauty about it is you could follow it from 8 

Hamilton because it was all posted as well. 9 

So when I take a look at -- and 10 

Councillor Clark really summarized it nicely.  This 11 

isn’t just about cost.  This is not just about 12 

whether it’s going to be six months or a year and a 13 

half.  What this is about is public confidence in 14 

the decision-makers around this table. 15 

This issue is relevant to the 16 

families who lost their lives or members on the Red 17 

Hill Expressway.  It’s relevant to them.  You can’t 18 

shake that.  It’s relevant to our critics.  It’s 19 

relevant to our friends.  This issue has profoundly 20 

impacted many people in this community and the 21 

confidence of this council to have an open 22 

transparent process in which people could observe, 23 

participate, and be happy with in regards to the 24 

accountability process. 25 
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I’m not suggesting the other 1 

alternatives that have been put on the table are 2 

bad processes.  I don’t think it answers the call 3 

in regards to meeting what the general public in 4 

our community expect, and that’s an open and 5 

transparent process in which they can observe the 6 

questioning, the documentation that’s being 7 

presented to the judge or the commissioner. 8 

You just have to be -- and Elliot 9 

Lake -- and take a look at the profound impact this 10 

process -- it was part of clearing the air, and the 11 

council was under significant pressure because they 12 

were the ones that bought them all.  They’re the 13 

ones that took the engineering ports, and they’re 14 

the ones that were more aware of what the issues 15 

were prior to the collapse than the broader 16 

community. 17 

Well, guess what, ladies and 18 

gentlemen around this table, the general public, 19 

regardless of how the media has printed this out 20 

and presented it and regardless whether staff 21 

apologized for a report that we didn’t get, there’s 22 

still many people out there that believe that 23 

council’s responsible for the actions of our staff 24 

and how this unfolded. 25 
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So at the end of the day, we’re 1 

decision-makers.  We ultimately have to make the 2 

right decision and what process we embark on that 3 

is fair, that is independent, that is transparent, 4 

and the other -- the attorney general doesn’t even 5 

come close.  Judicial review is the only choice, 6 

and anyone that doesn’t support that, shame on you. 7 

 Thank you. 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Councillor 9 

Danko. 10 

Shame on that statement. 11 

Go ahead, sorry. 12 

MR. DANKO:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 13 

 I want to know what happened, and I think much 14 

more importantly, I think the families out there 15 

who have lost loved ones or have been injured or 16 

have -- you know, even something as minor as 17 

suffered a collision and had to face the financial 18 

consequences of that on this road, they need to 19 

know what happened.  I’m really struggling and I’m 20 

still struggling with this decision. 21 

I think the points that Councillor 22 

Clark made so eloquently about the value of the 23 

public hearing process, I genuinely really take 24 

that to heart.  The transparency involved there is 25 
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so important.  However, I’m also interested in the 1 

way forward, and in that sense, I’m talking about 2 

changing our policies and our protocols to make 3 

sure that something like this doesn’t happen again. 4 

And in that sense, I’m not just 5 

talking about Red Hill.  I’m talking about our 6 

entire corporate culture, any complacency that 7 

might be there, the expectations that are on our 8 

staff to what their professional obligations are, 9 

and to be frank, fear of reprisals from council.  10 

And I think those are issues that need to be 11 

addressed as soon as possible. 12 

So listening to this discussion, 13 

my head is still saying to go with the 14 

recommendations of our expert legal counsel, and 15 

that a judicial investigation is not the best way 16 

forward.  Now, having said that, I -- honestly, I 17 

still don’t know which button I’m going to push, 18 

but I’m very -- “pleased” is not the right word, 19 

but I’m glad that we were able to have this 20 

discussion in public so that anybody that wants to 21 

know how seriously we all take this issue and that 22 

the choices that were in front of us, it’s all out 23 

there on the public record. 24 

So in terms of the motion that’s 25 
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on the table, just one final point on that is that 1 

most of the scoping that’s in there -- and I 2 

understand that we’re going to ask this to go back 3 

to our legal counsel to help define the scope, but 4 

I want to make sure that beyond the findings of 5 

fact, that we’re also asking specifically for 6 

findings of misconduct and also recommendations for 7 

policy changes and protocols.  So I’ll leave it at 8 

that.  Thank you. 9 

THE CHAIR:  Thank you. 10 

Councillor Merulla. 11 

MR. MERULLA:  Thank you, Mr. 12 

Mayor.  Now, I want to thank Councillor Clark and 13 

Councillor Danko and Whitehead.  I think the bottom 14 

line is that everybody wants to find the best 15 

solution, and I look at this issue only because of 16 

how intimately involved I’ve been with that road 17 

from construction to where we are today, but more 18 

importantly, I think it’s important to clearly 19 

state tonight, again, that the road is safe if it’s 20 

used as prescribed, and we know that.  And that’s 21 

what we have concurrence with even with studies 22 

subsequent to the one that wasn’t shared with us. 23 

So when we look back to where we 24 

were in 2007 to where we are today, we know 25 
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anecdotally that we had a number of residents claim 1 

to us that there were issues with the road, whether 2 

it be slippery, whether it be issues when it’s wet, 3 

and we as a council -- particularly Councillors 4 

Jackson, Collins, and myself -- brought forward -- 5 

and Connely as well last term, and I believe 6 

Whitehead was involved with one issue as well -- a 7 

number of very thorough investigations or motions 8 

for staff to report back on. 9 

Even the girls -- the families of 10 

the young girls that were killed on the road were 11 

named in these motions on behalf of the family.  We 12 

brought forward those motions.  We were thanked by 13 

those families for doing that, and all along the 14 

line, every report we received, we continually 15 

added to the capital and operating aspects of the 16 

road to ensure public safety. 17 

We also never took their answer 18 

for granted.  When they came back, when staff came 19 

back with the report and say, “Everything’s fine,” 20 

we didn’t just take it for granted and accept it.  21 

We continued to push forward and it’s all 22 

documented.  And because we pushed forward, we were 23 

able to get the reports that basically now people 24 

are concerned about.  Those reports were, in 25 
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essence, borne by the work of the committee and 1 

council as a result of complaints from the 2 

community, and I think that’s been lost in this 3 

entire discussion. 4 

So in the scope itself, granted we 5 

need to know where things went wrong, if they did 6 

indeed, but also we need to have the scope 7 

incorporate where we did go right because at no 8 

time did committee and council simply take anyone’s 9 

word for it that everything is fine.  That said, 10 

everything’s fine.  We said, “Well, you know what, 11 

glad you told us that but dig deeper and deeper and 12 

deeper,” and we have a great deal of successes as a 13 

result. 14 

Also, what’s really interesting is 15 

that this report that’s in question in 2013, the 16 

one thing that would have happened from that report 17 

would have led to another report.  At no time was 18 

there a direct correlation between that report and 19 

the raw results, which by the way, even if they 20 

would have sent that report out to the public as a 21 

press release, unless you’re trained to decipher 22 

what it means, it’s like reading a Chinese Bible.  23 

It’s just you wouldn’t, as a layperson, understand 24 

what that raw data means.  That’s why we hire staff 25 
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and engineers to interpret that data to deduce what 1 

the conclusions are, and we rely on that heavily. 2 

So when I have private discussions 3 

with staff about “Hey, what’s going on with these 4 

anecdotal complaints surrounding slippery roads?” 5 

and they tell me, “No, there’s nothing there,” and 6 

if I then publicly state -- 7 

And back in 2015, when I brought 8 

forward my motion with respect to photo radar, 9 

specifically targeted the friction, and I share 10 

that with everyone, including the public with the 11 

staff member, and he clearly stated that -- when I 12 

asked him, “Is that road equivalent or better than 13 

the 400-series highways?”  The response was:  “It 14 

surpassed the standards of the provincial 15 

highways.” 16 

So everybody is aghast when they 17 

heard this, but -- now, let’s rewind to what I had 18 

mentioned earlier about the apology from the MTO.  19 

The real interesting component to this is that what 20 

he has said based on the facts, it’s true because 21 

the MTO, as I mentioned, uses an inferior process 22 

to assess the raw data, and the process that he 23 

used was a superior process, which then the outcome 24 

came in below standard, which then begs the 25 
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question:  How many other highways throughout this 1 

province are in that shape where they’re signing 2 

off as being acceptable when they’re below 3 

standard? 4 

So this is a massive issue 5 

province-wide, and more importantly, the issue of 6 

the MTO is an incredibly important aspect to this 7 

investigation because within that same series of 8 

questions, he references the fact that the MTO had 9 

done some testing in 2007.  So there was 10 

communication between our staff and the MTO. 11 

So the bottom line is this:  We 12 

need to know what happened, but we need to know 13 

what happened with all stakeholders.  And as you 14 

know, we are a creature of the province, and the 15 

MTO at the end of the day controls who we are, and 16 

in this particular case, not only do they control 17 

who we are, they were right in the middle of this 18 

and never shared it with us hence the reason why 19 

we’ve asked for that apology and hence the reason 20 

why Andrea Horvath asked for that apology today. 21 

And keep in mind that some might 22 

think that that might be heavy-handed against the 23 

Province, but you have to understand that this is a 24 

new government, and it was the old government that 25 
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would be held accountable.  So there is some merit 1 

to suggest that they being part of this process 2 

should be paying for a portion of this, but I can 3 

assure you that -- 4 

I was reading the Washington Post 5 

the other day and something really stood out in my 6 

head in reading that democracy dies in darkness, 7 

and one thing that we learned about this process is 8 

that there’s a big difference between watching 9 

someone answer a question under oath publicly 10 

versus reading a report of somebody being privately 11 

interviewed.  It’s a world of difference, folks, 12 

and what we owe the public is that public interview 13 

under oath rather than that private one, that 14 

someone is just going to transcribe subsequently. 15 

So say what you will about this.  16 

I know some people are throwing the $11 million 17 

amount.  I think Councillor Clark said it 18 

brilliantly.  I think that is exaggerated for 19 

whatever reason, but it’s a range, and granted, 20 

could be -- I don’t believe it’s that high, but I 21 

don’t see this as an expense.  I see this as an 22 

investment, and it’s an investment about the most 23 

important thing in a democracy or in a governing 24 

body has to offer, and that’s trust. 25 
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And when you’re in a situation 1 

where public believes that that trust had been 2 

breached, there’s no price tag that should be 3 

attached to trying to remove that or try to resolve 4 

that problem.  And to suggest that the money is 5 

more important than extorting that trust, I think, 6 

it’s problematic. 7 

So although I don’t think it’s 8 

going to be that much, it probably will be costly, 9 

but it’s far more costly to have the conspiracy 10 

theories continue down the road for years to come, 11 

when in reality, I know I’m not afraid of the 12 

truth.  I welcome a public inquiry and I look 13 

forward to it, and I appreciate your time.  Thank 14 

you. 15 

THE CHAIR:  Great.  Thank you. 16 

Councillor Vanderbaek. 17 

MS. VANDERBAEK:  Thank you, Mr. 18 

Mayor.  I said this a little earlier, and you know, 19 

I think that everybody realizes if they’ve watched 20 

this meeting tonight, they have to realize that 21 

everyone around this table wants to be open and 22 

wants transparency.  And for me, this is as much 23 

about the public trust as it is about the need for 24 

an investigation.  And so, I think for some, it’s 25 
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going to be about assessing blame, but in fact, 1 

it’s really about finding truth. 2 

And so, my pragmatic self says an 3 

auditor general can do the job, and we have an 4 

auditor general and his staff that I believe are 5 

fully capable of doing this.  They are fully 6 

capable of doing this.  They lack one thing, and 7 

that is supreme independence from this corporation 8 

and from this council, and I don’t think that what 9 

they can bring to the table is a rebuilding of 10 

trust in our community. 11 

And you know, there’s a lot of 12 

noise in the community in the last few weeks, and I 13 

don’t mean that negatively.  I just mean there’s 14 

been a lot of noise about -- busy noise about the 15 

need for a judicial inquiry, and I don’t want to 16 

make a decision based on an overwhelming amount of 17 

demand for a judicial inquiry.  I want to make a 18 

decision based on what I think is the best way to 19 

make the need in this community and this council. 20 

And really, a good part of that is 21 

recognizing the terrible heartbreak that discovery 22 

must have caused many families in our city who have 23 

lost or had injured members of their family and 24 

ripped the scab off of a healing pain that probably 25 
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brought back to day 1 everything that happened and 1 

the possibility that maybe something could have 2 

been done to avoid that dreadful void in their 3 

life. 4 

And I think that when you look at 5 

the depth of that, we have a responsibility to 6 

recognize it.  And so, for me, the very reasons 7 

that our expert advisor brought to the table about 8 

why we should not do a judicial inquiry are 9 

probably the very reasons why we should.  You know, 10 

it’s the freedom of the commissioner to expand 11 

scope.  It’s out of council’s control in many ways. 12 

 The cost potential, that scares me a bit, but more 13 

importantly, there’s a time frame to be looked at. 14 

And so, I mean, that’s one reason 15 

why perhaps it’s not been recommended.  It will 16 

take a long time.  It might take a long time, but 17 

you know, there’s public interviews.  We can’t 18 

direct them where we can direct an ombudsman or an 19 

auditor general.  I think that those reasons for 20 

not doing a judicial review are the very reasons 21 

why in this community at this point in time we need 22 

to do it. 23 

I think we owe it to ourselves to 24 

bear our soul and let what happens happen and what 25 
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had happened publicly and give people the 1 

opportunity to freely go to a website and check 2 

what’s going on and know what’s coming next.  And 3 

everything has a cost.  You stand up.  Your feet 4 

hurt.  You sit down and your rear end spreads.  5 

Everything has a cost, and we need to -- 6 

So in my estimation, we have to 7 

accept that cost.  And it may cost us money and it 8 

may be hard and we might not like the answers, but 9 

we have a responsibility, I believe, to put aside 10 

what might be our usual way of dealing with things 11 

to try and save money and to do what we know works 12 

anyway and put ahead of it the trust building that 13 

this community needs to see in us. 14 

And so, for that reason, I will be 15 

supporting this motion even though my Scottish 16 

blood and my Dutch husband probably would think 17 

that I should be doing something a little more 18 

cost-efficient.  I just believe that we have a very 19 

real responsibility in this instance to do more.  20 

So that’s where I stand.  Thanks. 21 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 22 

Councillor Wilson. 23 

MS. WILSON:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 24 

 This is an extremely difficult decision.  I so 25 
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appreciated so many of the questions -- in 1 

particular, because he asked all of mine and he did 2 

it in a much better job than I could ever do, 3 

Councillor Danko, comparing the different vehicles 4 

and the manner of investigation -- and what I took 5 

from that series of questions was that, in fact, 6 

there is very little difference in that it depends 7 

on the will and the direction of this council. 8 

We can provide the auditor general 9 

an unlimited scope in relation to this.  That 10 

person can engage with the public and seek feedback 11 

in a public place about the scope.  They can report 12 

periodically at their discretion to the public on 13 

how their work is going, but I think the 14 

reservation is in the trust and confidence.  And it 15 

has been stated on many occasions that is the only 16 

currency that government can provide, but I think 17 

having made that comparison and listening to the 18 

recommendation of the external counsel, I worry 19 

that -- and acknowledging that the interviews and 20 

the testimony provided in those interviews will not 21 

be public.  It will be private. 22 

I have the greatest of faith in 23 

whomever -- if someone was chosen on behalf of the 24 

auditor general -- I am an institutionalist by 25 
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heart -- that they would take this exercise 1 

seriously.  Their reputation is on the line as 2 

well, and when they lifted those quotes out of the 3 

interview, they would do so in respect of the 4 

process in knowing that the families want answers, 5 

knowing that the corporation needs answers, knowing 6 

that staff needs answers, so I have no doubt at all 7 

in the integrity of whomever was chosen. 8 

And then I listen to Councillor 9 

Clark’s compelling statement, and I don’t discount 10 

at all, as Councillor Merulla said, the bomb that 11 

comes from at least being given the opportunity to 12 

turn on your monitor, and if you so -- if you are 13 

inclined to follow the testimony and what that 14 

offers to someone who has some -- whose family has 15 

been forever maimed, I can’t imagine what that 16 

feels like, but I can only partially imagine what 17 

that might feel like to be able to have that public 18 

opportunity. 19 

So I am really torn, but I also 20 

feel obliged, and although this may not sit well, 21 

that we have overall a larger trust in confidence 22 

issue that extends far beyond this file.  I don’t 23 

think it is unique to this council and to this city 24 

because it is part of the rise of populism, and 25 
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we’re seeing a distrust of institutions across the 1 

western hemisphere and beyond, and that worries me 2 

very much. 3 

And that is also something that I 4 

think if we are -- and I believe we are -- 5 

committed to the principles of trust and confidence 6 

and the values behind them, that we must be 7 

committed to them in everything that we do.  That 8 

means considering as a corporation everything from 9 

our FOI process, everything from how we are 10 

encouraging and enabling our citizens to vote and 11 

get to the polls.  That means encouraging, enabling 12 

our citizens to see themselves in our budgets, not 13 

just the people who are able to get to the polls. 14 

So for me, it extends far beyond 15 

this file, and I say that without trying to 16 

diminish the hurt of the families.  So I am quite 17 

torn on this, and I’m -- the trust in confidence 18 

issue is very compelling but so is the need to get 19 

on with the protocols and the practices that will 20 

help lend and build back that trust. 21 

And that’s what I am anxious for 22 

more quickly than perhaps a judicial inquiry can 23 

provide for us, but perhaps I will have to wait for 24 

it, and I hope that in that scope, that we are able 25 
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to talk about the political culture that may cause 1 

some members of our staff not to want to bring 2 

something forward because it may be inconvenient or 3 

not within the political direction or the answer 4 

that we thought we wanted.  So I hope all of those 5 

things. 6 

Going forward, I will be listening 7 

for and looking for and asking questions about 8 

myself as a citizen and along with the councillors, 9 

so I’m really quite torn on this, but I am 10 

certainly being persuaded about the public 11 

confidence issue, but I will have to wait one more 12 

minute.  And the public can judge me accordingly. 13 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 14 

you. 15 

Councillor Ferguson. 16 

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you, Mr. 17 

Chairman, and let me just start by saying the first 18 

three speakers on the motion tonight who made the 19 

comment that they thought the $11 million number 20 

was exaggerated -- and by the way, those three 21 

individuals went public, saying they want a 22 

judicial inquiry before we got the expert 23 

information provided to us, I find that 24 

interesting. 25 
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I’m going to read to you from page 1 

6 of the report that we received tonight about the 2 

Toronto computer incident and what happened.  It 3 

says the Toronto city council passed a resolution 4 

authorizing this investigation in February 2002.  5 

It took until 2005 for the public hearing to be 6 

completed and the final report issued.  The initial 7 

budget of one million increased to over 11 million 8 

by the conclusion of the inquiry. 9 

So we’re in the exact same 10 

position here that Toronto was.  They thought it 11 

was going to cost a million, and it cost over 11 12 

million because you’re writing a blank cheque 13 

because you lose complete control.  I believe that 14 

the auditor general will be independent.  If this 15 

motion fails, I’m perfectly prepared to put a 16 

motion on the floor that we go to an auditor 17 

general and that it be an outside person, so it 18 

can’t be seen that it’s not independent and we’re 19 

trying to cover something up. 20 

Unlike Councillor Wilson, I have 21 

full confidence in the auditors and their 22 

professional integrity and that they will be 23 

independent and be serious about the job and 24 

deliver an appropriate report.  And I heard the 25 
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story about the two families and how they lost 1 

their loved ones, which is terrible, but damn it, 2 

they deserve to understand what happened in three 3 

months, not three years, and we are going to get 4 

this result in three months for $300,000 and not 5 

one to $11 million. 6 

Those are two very compelling 7 

arguments.  I have to believe that the auditor 8 

general will include in their report, which will be 9 

very transparent available to anybody who wants to 10 

read it, that they will make the appropriate quotes 11 

from what they find out when they’re interviewing. 12 

 They have to.  I’ve seen these reports too, and 13 

they always quote the witnesses and what they said, 14 

and once again, I have confidence in all of them. 15 

So I can’t support the motion 16 

tonight.  I think it’s time-irresponsible; it’s 17 

cost-irresponsible, and it puts those families -- 18 

drag it out for three years.  I hear Councillor 19 

Danko saying we may have a culture problem, this 20 

organization.  If that’s true, I want to know in 21 

three months.  I don’t want to know in three years 22 

because a lot more things could happen during that 23 

time period.  So I can’t support the motion before 24 

us, but I’d be happy to put the motion, Mr. Mayor, 25 
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for an outside AG if the motion fails.  Thank you. 1 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 2 

Councillor Farr. 3 

MR. FARR:  Thanks, Mr. Mayor, and 4 

thank you to my colleagues.  Great questions.  5 

Appreciate the debate.  Very difficult, obviously, 6 

for a whole lot of reasons.  Thanks to the mover 7 

and the seconder, and especially the public.  We 8 

always appreciate the engagement.  It’s probably 9 

not easy at that end either, given the 10 

circumstances, and there’s so many different 11 

stories to tell here, but I think I can -- I’m 12 

going to sum it up for myself, anyway. 13 

On January 23rd, so you know, I 14 

have never seen nor do I expect I will ever see 15 

senior staff -- and particularly, Dan and Public 16 

Works staff -- or hear or feel the sincere regret, 17 

true, obvious, deep regret when they had to briefly 18 

inform us that “in a couple of weeks, we need to 19 

tell you details on this one report.”  I don’t 20 

think I’ll ever witness that again as an elected 21 

official.  I think it was on that evening that I 22 

think we all knew there was something very, very 23 

serious and extremely different than what we’re 24 

used to happening here. 25 
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And we deal with a wide variety of 1 

issues and some are very, very uncomfortable, and 2 

others are happy-go-lucky, and others take a long 3 

time to consider and some are divisive and others 4 

are unanimous, but this was a scenario and a moment 5 

in time that I don’t think will ever be replicated. 6 

 I really don’t.  So starting from that January 7 

23rd, it’s clear we needed to look at this 8 

differently. 9 

So here we have a motion that is, 10 

you know, putting us in a direction that’s new to 11 

all of us, and for some, that’s -- you know, that 12 

can be scary.  Some of us don’t want to have to 13 

explain, and we will should this motion be passed 14 

here to our constituents who feel quite comfortable 15 

on the road. 16 

And we’re hearing them on the -- 17 

there are two types of pundits on this issue, and 18 

some are convinced that people need to pay 19 

attention, and I see people texting all the time.  20 

I hear it on the radio interviews when the 21 

call-outs go and the phoners happen.  I see people 22 

weaving.  They don’t know how to drive; they don’t 23 

know how to merge, and those same people may be 24 

living in our wards and asking us, “Why do you need 25 
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to spend $11 million?”  It’s about driver 1 

behaviour. 2 

And in a lot of ways on this and 3 

so many other roads, accidents and unfortunate 4 

deaths occur because of driver behaviour and 5 

stupidity, frankly.  So I don’t know if that will 6 

ever change.  It’d be great.  It’d be utopial if it 7 

did.  My question earlier, it was geared toward, 8 

you know, trying to get a greater understanding on, 9 

you know, what -- is anything between a million and 10 

11 million, and who knows, maybe more if you do a 11 

judicial inquiry.  The previous speaker is making 12 

very good points.  That’s why we call him “Frugal 13 

Fergie.” 14 

That said, when I’m asking about a 15 

CAO, a judge, a judge who appoints a lawyer, a 16 

lawyer appoints junior lawyers, law clerks, 17 

administrative, investigators, researchers, there’s 18 

a reason why it gets into the many millions, and 19 

there’s a reason why, quite obviously, all these 20 

people, some of whom may retire on this one 21 

objective.  I’m not kidding.  They may retire on 22 

this one multiyear objective based on what they may 23 

be able to take in monetarily from it, but that’s a 24 

big piece. 25 
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But I think -- through you to Mike 1 

-- if we’re paying -- is it the bulk out of tax 2 

stabilization?  Is it a reserve, a non-tax levy 3 

impact for most of the expenditures even though we 4 

don’t know?  We wouldn’t know in a judicial 5 

inquiry.  It’s pretty much open-ended where we get 6 

in whatever amount to pay for these many, many 7 

professionals that will be involved for many years. 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Mike. 9 

MR. ZEGARAC:  Through you, Mr. 10 

Mayor, we would report back with a recommendation. 11 

 It would likely be a reserve as a one-time 12 

expenditure.  It could be the tax stabilization 13 

reserve or another non-obligatory reserve. 14 

MR. FARR:  In tax stabilization 15 

and other reserves, they would have been described 16 

in the past as, to my recollection, rainy day funds 17 

or funds that pay for eventualities.  That pretty 18 

much sums it up in a lot of cases. 19 

MR. ZEGARAC:  Through you, Mr. 20 

Mayor, it’s typically -- tax stabilization would be 21 

the reserve we would typically turn to.  Again, we 22 

would want to review what our commitments are 23 

against that reserve, and again, we would report 24 

back with recommendations, whether it would be a 25 
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reserve or a series of reserves. 1 

MR. FARR:  Through you, is Charles 2 

still here -- Brown?  Can I ask a Charles Brown a 3 

question? 4 

And Charles, I’ll say in advance 5 

if you make your way up:  If you can’t answer this 6 

question, that’s fine, but there’s a lot of work -- 7 

no matter what direction we go, AG, a judicial, 8 

there’s a great deal of work to be done.  And 9 

Charles, can you, in open session, share any work 10 

on this particular one issue, in this one report, 11 

that you’ve done to date, and if you can, what 12 

happens to that work that you’ve done as our 13 

auditor general? 14 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Charles. 15 

MR. BROWN:  So what happens when 16 

council made the decision that they would go 17 

external, we would cease formally investigating the 18 

issue.  We turned our minds toward essentially 19 

protecting what we had gathered already so that 20 

once it was decided who would investigate, we could 21 

pass that on untainted.  And so, that’s the 22 

position that we’re in. 23 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Farr. 24 

MR. FARR:  And once you do, that’s 25 
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public then in a judicial inquiry? 1 

MR. BROWN:  That’s up to -- you 2 

know, that’s up to the commission, how they would 3 

handle that evidence.  Presumably, we would show 4 

them the evidence that we had gathered.  We would 5 

be questioned about it.  I’m not sure what the 6 

process -- how it would unfold from that point on. 7 

 I assume that we would be questioned in public 8 

about it. 9 

MR. FARR:  Okay.  So finally, to 10 

our outside legal whose recommendation -- who I 11 

thought I heard is attached to two judicial 12 

inquiries now and has in the past had a great deal 13 

of experience, yet he’s recommending here today 14 

that we do not go in that direction, and it’s based 15 

on a very narrow scope compared to maybe other 16 

judicial inquiries and all the other reasons that 17 

were shared.  I just want to thank them.  I 18 

appreciate that recommendation.  It really gave me 19 

pause.  I did not publicly share how I felt. 20 

All of us felt a lot of things, 21 

Mr. Mayor, but coming into today or receiving this 22 

a few days ago, you know, it was enlightening, and 23 

it was even more so with the discussions we’ve had 24 

in the last few hours, but full circle, Mr. Mayor, 25 
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this is as rare as it’s going to get for us as 1 

elected officials in our political careers. 2 

I genuinely feel that the staff 3 

who’ve been reporting on this today, particularly 4 

those from Public Works, are forever affected, and 5 

we appreciate the apology, and I think that they 6 

appreciate that what we need to do and no matter 7 

where we land, I think, hopefully we get some 8 

support for a judicial inquiry.  They’re going to 9 

cooperate and in the end appreciate those results. 10 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Great.  Thank 11 

you. 12 

Councillor Partridge. 13 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Yes, thank you, 14 

Mr. Mayor, and I have one question and then I’ll do 15 

my comments.  My question through you to the 16 

lawyer, who I can’t see right now -- 17 

Thank you, Councillor.  I truly 18 

appreciate it. 19 

So my question is:  My 20 

understanding is that when a municipality does a 21 

judicial review, there are funds available through 22 

the Province to tap into; is that correct? 23 

MR. LEDERMAN:  It has occurred.  24 

Requests have been made in which some funding has 25 
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been provided by the Province but it’s -- 1 

MS. PARTRIDGE:  Thank you.  2 

Because that is my understanding that absolutely we 3 

could make application to the province if that was 4 

the direction that we choose to go in.  So there’s 5 

been some statements thrown out here that, you 6 

know, we’re going to be looking at several years; 7 

we’re going to be looking at $11 million; we’re 8 

going to be -- we don’t know at this point, but 9 

quite honestly, cost has its place, but in this 10 

particular case, what we need -- we as a council 11 

need -- is information. 12 

Our staff need information.  We 13 

need to know what has happened.  The families 14 

deserve more information, and I believe that the 15 

depth of information is only going to come through 16 

a judicial review.  And so, you know, the 17 

devastation of our staff, the devastation of our 18 

parents, of our residents out there, I can’t even 19 

imagine the more information we have -- and quite 20 

frankly, our legal staff.  We don’t know where this 21 

is going.  We have no idea what the next few months 22 

or year may bring with more legal action. 23 

I think it is incumbent upon this 24 

council to ask for a full judicial review.  I think 25 
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it is a responsible thing to do, not just 1 

reasonable.  It is responsible.  And we have that 2 

responsibility.  I’m not going to reiterate some of 3 

the previous comments that were made so eloquently 4 

by my colleagues, but we need to do this for many, 5 

many reasons because at the end of the day, it’s 6 

not only the right thing to do; it is the necessary 7 

thing to do with a judicial review.  Thank you. 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you. 9 

Councillor Nann. 10 

MS. NANN:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor.  11 

I want to start off, first of all, saying thank you 12 

to all the public who’ve been calling, who’ve been 13 

e-mailing, who’ve been asking for some 14 

accountability of me as their ward councillor on 15 

this issue.  I also want to thank staff and the 16 

external legal team for coming in and providing us 17 

with the information that we needed to be able to 18 

make the most informed choice. 19 

And I truly appreciate my 20 

colleagues around the table for all the lines of 21 

questioning that have come forward throughout the 22 

several hours we’ve been at this.  This is most 23 

likely the heaviest scenario that I’ve had to deal 24 

with this in this kind of context in my entire 25 
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professional life.  And so, as a result, I’ve been 1 

spending a lot of time listening very, very 2 

carefully because I’m 100 per cent committed with 3 

all of you around this table to ensure that we get 4 

the truth, that we are absolutely committed to 5 

transparency, and that we are all bound to our 6 

accountability as elected officials. 7 

I’m also a bit of a systemic wonk. 8 

 So somebody else had mentioned that they’re a 9 

policy wonk in this table.  I’m more of a systemic 10 

procedural wonk, and from that perspective, I care 11 

deeply about what we’re going to change in terms of 12 

how we do our business.  And I have complete 13 

confidence in our auditing staff and services to do 14 

their work, but I also have tremendous confidence 15 

in our Public Works division, which has proven to 16 

me in the course of the 90-something days that I’ve 17 

been here to have the most rigorous processes in 18 

place for constant improvement in this entire 19 

corporation and who’ve actually helped expose this 20 

issue for all of us. 21 

And so, in that regard, I believe 22 

that there’s work underway already to continue to 23 

improve our procedures.  That said, there’s more to 24 

learn, and I believe that trust and confidence with 25 
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our residence is the most paramount thing right now 1 

and that requires a judicial inquiry, so I’ll be 2 

supporting the motion.  Thank you. 3 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 4 

you. 5 

Councillor Collins. 6 

MR. COLLINS:  Thanks, Mr. Mayor, 7 

and for me, it’s not a difficult decision.  I think 8 

I committed quite early in the process in terms of 9 

where I was going to go on this, and you know, I’ve 10 

had a very long history with Red Hill, and you 11 

know, just thinking coming into tonight’s meeting 12 

in terms of the controversy associated with that 13 

project. 14 

And for those of us who represent 15 

the area, Councillor Merulla and I, and I know even 16 

the mountain councillors, Councillor Jackson and 17 

others before who are no longer on council who’ve 18 

had to deal with Red Hill, and I think back to the 19 

nineties when we went through the EA process, and 20 

at that point in time, if you recall, transparency 21 

was a huge issue. 22 

And so, looking back to that 23 

process, extensive public meetings, I mean, this 24 

project was scrutinized to no end by three levels 25 
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of government, including other stakeholders like 1 

the Conservation Authority and others, 2 

environmental groups. 3 

And then through the nineties, it 4 

gravitated to the noise mitigation issues, and I 5 

know we were in people’s backgrounds, and they were 6 

very concerned about the noise.  And then we went 7 

through the construction process, and then we went 8 

through the occupation process where people were 9 

sitting in trees in the valley, and we couldn’t get 10 

equipment down there, and then it was on to the 11 

opening.  And after the opening, it was flooding. 12 

And with this file, it just seems 13 

like there’s always something next, and so, for me, 14 

this is a part of that transparent process that 15 

we’ve been in in the past.  Through all the issues 16 

that have come up, I think it’s very important to 17 

get all the information on the table.  And so, for 18 

me, the judicial inquiry, I think, accomplishes 19 

that. 20 

And most recently, beyond the 21 

flooding, it’s obviously been for me in terms of 22 

responding to constituent complaints, it’s been the 23 

speeding and the lighting.  And so, for those 24 

people who’ve been on council for any length of 25 
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time, as Councillor Merulla mentioned, we’ve been 1 

at this I don’t know how many times to Public Works 2 

in terms of motions to say, “Is there something we 3 

can do about the speeding?  Is there something we 4 

can do about the lighting?”  We’ve undertaken 5 

safety reviews. 6 

And so, I’m interested in 7 

understanding where the process may have gone 8 

wrong, and like Councillor Merulla, I believe 9 

there’s no shortage of information out there to 10 

suggest that -- and to point in the direction that 11 

council has gone, I think, above and beyond in 12 

terms of being proactive at looking for ways and 13 

means in which to make the roads safer and the area 14 

and the environment around the road safer. 15 

And that brings me from 16 

transparency to the word “control,” and for me, 17 

looking at all the options that were in front of us 18 

tonight, I keep thinking about that word “control,” 19 

and I was looking for the option that gave us a way 20 

forward with keeping council the further away from 21 

the process, and I think the judicial review 22 

accomplishes that.  It’s the process that takes us 23 

right out of the equation.  I think it’s in the 24 

report here.  If the public wants to read it, it 25 
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talks about that this can go in a different 1 

direction. 2 

This scope can broaden over time 3 

if, in fact, people who are leading this process 4 

see fit to take it in that direction, and I’m fine 5 

with that.  I think there’s so much information out 6 

there that it’d be beneficial to go over those 7 

things that we’ve done in the past, I think, that 8 

have made the road safer, and I think that same 9 

process will expose maybe some of the weaknesses 10 

and some of the warts in terms of where things 11 

didn’t go as planned and where we could have gone 12 

further. 13 

And so, for me, you know, the 14 

theme for me is about that issue of control.  I 15 

really want nothing to do with this process, and 16 

I’m cognizant of the cost.  I’m always someone, I 17 

think, around this table who, you know, talks about 18 

budgets and those things, but we’re oftentimes -- 19 

you know, as part of what we do at committee, we’re 20 

thrown some curveballs with projects and issues 21 

that come up where we just didn’t anticipate paying 22 

for something like that. 23 

I would point to the Emerald Ash 24 

Borer disease.  We didn’t anticipate many years ago 25 
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we’d be paying $25 million to deal with that issue. 1 

 The court costs.  We were evicted from the court. 2 

 We were told we were no longer a tenant.  We had 3 

to retrofit a building for 20-plus million.  We did 4 

that over the course of a couple of months. 5 

So I use those as examples of 6 

situations where things come our way, and we’re 7 

forced to pay a price for them, and I have no 8 

problem paying whatever costs is associated with 9 

this to get to the bottom of it because I think 10 

that whole issue of transparency and that whole 11 

issue of control, again, are two important themes 12 

for me. 13 

And as I said in our first meeting 14 

in-camera -- and I’ve said this publicly to my 15 

constituents and to my family and friends -- I live 16 

a couple blocks from that road, and I’m on it 17 

regularly.  I’m on it maybe two to three times a 18 

day, on weekends, a little bit more as I’m 19 

chauffeuring people around, and you know, I want to 20 

make sure that that road is as safe as possible for 21 

everyone who uses it, and my constituents expect us 22 

to go down this road in terms of the judicial 23 

review. 24 

My neighbours expect us to go down 25 
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this road, and I know my family and I myself expect 1 

us to go down this road to ensure that we get -- 2 

that we make our way through this process in a way 3 

that everyone at the end of it can look back and 4 

say we did everything possible to overturn every 5 

single stone to get all the answers in place so 6 

there are no conspiracy theories, you know, three, 7 

five, ten years from now to say they were hiding 8 

something. 9 

For me, this is just the cleanest 10 

and I think the most transparent process that we 11 

could take, and for those reasons, as I’ve said in 12 

the past and I’ll say again tonight, those are the 13 

reasons why I’m going to support the process that’s 14 

in front of us and the motion that Councillor Clark 15 

has presented. 16 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 17 

you. 18 

I think Councillor Brenda Johnson 19 

first time. 20 

MS. JOHNSON:  Thank you.  I didn’t 21 

know I was first time.  I thought Councillor 22 

Pearson was first time.  I’m still writing my 23 

notes.  That’s fine. 24 

MR. EISENBERGER:  It’s hard to 25 
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keep track. 1 

MS. JOHNSON:  I’ll tell you right 2 

now, five hours ago, I had my mind made up for 3 

something.  When in-camera, my mind started to sway 4 

another way, came out of camera, started asking 5 

questions.  My mind’s been floating all over the 6 

place.  And I keep coming back to -- now that I’m 7 

on the MPCA, there was a big auditor general’s 8 

report, 105 pages.  It wasn’t open hearings.  It 9 

was unleashing documents.  It was interviewing 10 

people on the side, I guess, as people just -- I’ve 11 

heard that term today. 12 

It was 105 pages, and it took me 13 

probably a week to get through it and really digest 14 

it properly because that’s how well it was put 15 

together, and it’s been out there in the public now 16 

for, I believe, about maybe three -- maybe five 17 

months, and I don’t recall anyone -- and this was a 18 

very highly contentious issue. 19 

Fortunately, no one has lost their 20 

lives over it, so let’s put that in perspective, 21 

but it was a very high -- and lots of public 22 

scrutiny, and I don’t recall anybody saying it was 23 

a conspiracy theory because they couldn’t watch the 24 

person being interviewed.  What they wanted was 25 

581



180 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

answers.  That’s all they wanted.  Give us the 1 

answers and give us the proof of where you got 2 

those answers.  That’s all they wanted and they got 3 

it. 4 

So now, everyone’s going back to 5 

that report, saying, “What have you done now with 6 

the recommendations that were in that report?”  So 7 

I keep going back to that, to my experience with 8 

this report.  I’ve read other auditor general 9 

reports as well, but this one is the most frequent 10 

in my mind right now, and after five years -- or 11 

five hours -- it feels like five hours -- being 12 

here, my brain’s a little bit fuzzy, and I can’t go 13 

back that far. 14 

But I keep coming back to that 15 

report and how conclusive it was, how it brought 16 

facts forward.  It was expedient.  It was quick.  17 

It had everything in front of them, and I don’t 18 

recall anybody saying, “But I didn’t get to see 19 

that person being interviewed, so how am I sure 20 

that is the exact same thing they said?”  It’s what 21 

people wanted.  They wanted answers.  I can’t speak 22 

on behalf of the families that have been affected 23 

by this situation, but I would hope they would just 24 

want the answers. 25 

582



181 

 

 
 
 
  

      Arbitration Place 

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720 

So I would like to test the will 1 

of the AG report along with Councillor Ferguson, 2 

let this vote go by, and if it doesn’t go by, I’d 3 

like to test the will of the auditor general 4 

because my experience with them up to now has been 5 

positive.  It’s been thorough and the answers were 6 

in those pages. 7 

So those are my comments for now, 8 

and we’ll just see how the rest of this goes. 9 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 10 

you. 11 

Councillor Pearson. 12 

MS. PEARSON:  Thank you, Mr. 13 

Mayor.  So as my colleagues around the table, some 14 

of them mentioned this has been probably one of the 15 

most difficult decisions that I think I have ever 16 

had to deal with around this council table in my 17 

days as a Hamilton councillor, and even issues -- 18 

well, I’m not going to say Stoney Creek.  We had 19 

some major issues in Stoney Creek, but none of them 20 

were affected lives being taken, and I think that’s 21 

what I’m weighing off on this.  And I came into 22 

this meeting tonight not in support of a judicial 23 

inquiry.  I’ll put that out on the line right now. 24 

I had a few residents send me 25 
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e-mails saying do the right thing, and I have to 1 

weigh off:  Well, yes, we have to do the right 2 

thing, but doing the right thing is also being 3 

fiscally responsible, and at the end, getting the 4 

same result.  So I’ve been absolutely torn.  I want 5 

to thank also staff, the outside external solicitor 6 

that sat here all evening and gave us as best as he 7 

could all the information, and certainly, his 8 

recommendation that a judicial inquiry is not the 9 

most appropriate mechanism for this inquiry. 10 

I certainly weighed that and 11 

weight all the comments around the table.  At the 12 

end of the day, I also weigh the fact of the 13 

timelines because we’re ready to pave, to repave 14 

the Red Hill Parkway, and I’m not sure exactly when 15 

that’s going to start.  And looking at going 16 

through an auditor general process, we may take 17 

three months to whatever that might give us some 18 

answers that we could address before we get new 19 

pavement down. 20 

I don’t know.  I’m guesstimating 21 

on that, but are those potential options that could 22 

have been there?  And I’m weighing that as well.  23 

There’s other issues, though, in the reports that 24 

came forward with not just the friction testing.  25 
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There were other issues.  And I’ve only become a 1 

member of Public Works this term, but I’ve said in 2 

many meetings over the terms -- 3 

And believe me, there’s been many 4 

issues that had been raised with regards to issues 5 

of the construction of the Red Hill, not just some 6 

of the bends, but the lighting, the edges, etc., 7 

and I know that initiatives are being put in place. 8 

 And some of the reasons there were restrictions 9 

were involvement with communities at the time of -- 10 

you know, we didn’t want to see certain things put 11 

in because of the habitat and the animals, etc. 12 

So there’s good reasons some 13 

things were done and some things weren’t, but going 14 

forward, I think we have to look at safety being 15 

the foremost in our eyes.  So I looked at, you 16 

know, timelines, dollars.  At the end of the day, I 17 

truly sit here and believe that even if we went 18 

through an auditor general process, I believe there 19 

will be the public that will continue to question 20 

us. 21 

And just as it my colleague, 22 

Councillor Collins, who has much more history on 23 

the Red Hill than I did -- and I did become a 24 

subcommittee member in 2003.  We’ve always been 25 
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open and transparent about this roadway.  We’ve 1 

been proud of this roadway.  Can’t deny that at 2 

all.  Been absolutely proud of it, but we’ve also 3 

been very open and transparent on any issues, and I 4 

don’t think that we should pull back on this one 5 

either. 6 

I think at the end of the day, it 7 

may be a report from an auditor general, but if 8 

it’s a matter of people absolutely seeing the 9 

process unfold in front of them every day or 10 

whenever the hearings are held or interviews are 11 

held, then so be it.  At least that information is 12 

there before them.  And believe me, this is not 13 

something that I have weighed on lightly.  It’s 14 

been a very, very, very difficult review in my head 15 

tonight as to exactly where we should go with this, 16 

but I don’t want -- 17 

And it may be the families of the 18 

deceased to come back and say, “You know what, 19 

we’re not quite sure, and we still question the 20 

auditor general’s report.”  And I know that people 21 

are shaking their heads, “Well, that’s not 22 

possible.”  It’s always possible but when they can 23 

absolutely see what’s happening of a process, then 24 

I think that would put closure to the investigation 25 
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once the final report is prepared and presented and 1 

everything is documented. 2 

To our staff, I certainly commend 3 

Public Works and always have.  I believe our staff 4 

-- and I’m going to put Public Works out there, but 5 

our staff at all levels go above and beyond the 6 

call of duty every day to represent and protect the 7 

citizens of the city of Hamilton.  I can’t say 8 

that, you know, reading the reports, I’m not an 9 

engineer.  I can’t make heads or tails of the 10 

friction testing and the reports that are before 11 

us. 12 

What’s the difference between what 13 

was prepared and not presented to us in 2013 to 14 

what’s here in 2015, 2016, whatever, I couldn’t 15 

tell you.  But I do know, reading the reports, 16 

they’re saying there is no standard across Canada. 17 

 There is no friction standard.  So I’m curious as 18 

to when we put new asphalt then, what are we going 19 

to need then? 20 

So I’m hoping some of the answers 21 

will come out, and it may take a little longer.  22 

That’s the only unfortunate part of this, but some 23 

of these answers, they will come out and they will 24 

be guidance going forward.  So it was great 25 
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thought, great feelings of everybody’s -- in all of 1 

our hearts, I think, are on our arms today as to 2 

where we want to be and what we want to be able to 3 

confidently go forward in the future and face any 4 

member who lost a family member on the Red Hill 5 

Parkway, that we’ve done absolutely everything we 6 

can. 7 

And I think taxpayers at the end 8 

of the day will appreciate that, and I believe -- 9 

just as Councillor Collins said -- we’ve been faced 10 

with issues.  Emerald Ash Borer.  Did anybody ever 11 

bat an eyelash to two and a half million dollars a 12 

year, my ward being the heaviest affected?  With 13 

Emerald Ash, of 19.6 per cent of the trees in my 14 

boulevards were ashtrays.  Did anyone ever bat an 15 

eyelash to that?  And we’re still paying, and I 16 

don’t believe it’s going to end once all the trees 17 

are down. 18 

So you know, we get faced with 19 

things every day.  At the end of the day, I want to 20 

be confident that people have confidence in us and 21 

in the information that is presented, and if it’s a 22 

judicial review that will put closure to this and 23 

give us direction going forward in the future, then 24 

that’s where I want to stand tonight, Mr. Mayor. 25 
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MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 1 

you. 2 

Councillor Jackson. 3 

MR. JACKSON:  Thanks, Mr. Mayor.  4 

I want to thank the expert legal counsel.  I don’t 5 

know if Mr. Lederman is still here, but I want to 6 

thank Eli for being here this evening.  Thank our 7 

own legal staff; to general manager, Dan McKinnon, 8 

your Public Works department.  It does incredible 9 

work in our city.  Mr. Mayor, the only reason why 10 

I’m supporting a judicial inquiry, the only reason 11 

is because of the optics of the 2013 mystery 12 

report. 13 

I was a proud supporter and still 14 

am, Mr. Mayor, when we were on council together in 15 

1997, when we opened up the Lincoln Alexander 16 

Parkway, an important transportation corridor for 17 

our city, not only for transportation of goods and 18 

services, but quite frankly, it took 60 to 70,000 19 

cars a day off of some of the residential roads on 20 

the mountain to improve the quality of life for 21 

neighbourhoods on the mountain. 22 

I was a proud supporter in 2007, 23 

Mr. Mayor, when we opened the Red Hill Valley 24 

Parkway, and once again, you and I with members of 25 
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council were there at that opening, finishing that 1 

connection of that transportation corridor, hooking 2 

up from the 403 all the way to the QEW, once again, 3 

to help alleviate heavy vehicles, transportation 4 

trucks, taking them off the Kenilworth accesses of 5 

our communities where most of our families, kids, 6 

seniors live. 7 

That’s one of the main reasons why 8 

I supported both those transportation corridors, 9 

knowing that it would relieve much of the heavy 10 

traffic that should never have been on a lot of our 11 

escarpment passes that have led to erosion along 12 

the escarpment areas.  So along with the economic 13 

benefits as well, Mr. Mayor, and for tourism, and 14 

it’s helped to as well grow the south mountain, 15 

Upper Stoney Creek area as well for those who have 16 

desired to move and live in our city. 17 

You know, once the Red Hill 18 

opened, I had two main complaints from the 19 

overwhelming majority of my residents that I’ve had 20 

the honour to represent.  The overwhelming majority 21 

of them have election after election after election 22 

been a good strong supporter to build the Red Hill 23 

Valley Parkway, get it done because of the need of 24 

that important corridor. 25 
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The two main complaints, Mr. Mayor 1 

-- and I know I’ve shared this with you -- that I 2 

heard once it opened was, “Tom, it’s awfully dark 3 

driving down there at times.”  I check with our 4 

staff, the professionals, councillor, when it was 5 

built.  You know, there were environmental 6 

concerns.  There was some wildlife concerns.  And 7 

so, I basically conveyed that messaging back to the 8 

constituents.  They -- you know, “All right.  So be 9 

it, Councillor Jackson.” 10 

The other one I had was, “You 11 

know, Councillor, from time to time, especially 12 

down bound, it can be a little slippery at times, 13 

but I checked with staff.  No.  You know, 14 

Councillor, everything, the way it was built, 15 

whatever, met code, met standard for the time.”  I 16 

conveyed that messaging back to my constituents. 17 

And again, Mr. Mayor, to put it in 18 

context, 75,000 vehicles a day.  My arithmetic 19 

tells me that’s over two million vehicles a month. 20 

 That’s close to 24 million vehicles a year that 21 

used these two important transportation corridors. 22 

 Imagine where those vehicles, many of them -- yes, 23 

you could say, “Well, Tom, they would have stayed 24 

on the 403 or the QEW.” 25 
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Again, a lot of that brought 1 

business into our area.  A lot of that brought 2 

people who desired to live in Hamilton into our 3 

area, but a lot of that took a lot of heavy truck 4 

traffic and heavy vehicular traffic off of our 5 

beautiful escarpment passes that lead to our 6 

neighbourhoods, whether on the mountain or across 7 

the lower city. 8 

So there was a quality of life 9 

benefit to building these transportation corridors. 10 

 I’m sorry for the tragedies.  I can’t even imagine 11 

the loss of life, but again, Mr. Mayor, keeping it 12 

in perspective, 24 million vehicles a year use 13 

these two transportation corridors for our 14 

community.  They’re important, and they will 15 

continue to be important, and I will not shy away 16 

from supporting them and their existence. 17 

And when the police say that they 18 

nab road rage idiots doing 140 kilometres on the 19 

Red Hill Valley Parkway, that tells me alone driver 20 

behaviour sometimes is run amuck on these 21 

corridors, especially with the Red Hill with people 22 

thinking they could use it like the Indy 500.  It’s 23 

ridiculous, but it’s coming down for me, Mr. Mayor. 24 

 I’ll support the judicial inquiry for the one 25 
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reason only, the unfortunate optics of the 2013 1 

mystery report.  Thanks, Mr. Mayor. 2 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you.  And 3 

if you could take the chair actually. 4 

So I want to thank -- yes, I will. 5 

 Thank you so much. 6 

MR. JACKSON:  Okay.  Mayor 7 

Eisenberger. 8 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So somebody said 9 

there’s something about “My bum’s numb and my 10 

brain’s getting there too,” so I’m going to get 11 

this out quickly.  You know, this has been probably 12 

the most difficult issue I’ve ever faced in terms 13 

of my political time here, and I think that will be 14 

the same for everyone that’s here, and I do want to 15 

say -- and I took a particular exception to this 16 

notion -- that there ought to be a shame in some 17 

direction in terms of the way people vote here. 18 

I think I respect all of the votes 19 

that are going to happen here no matter what side 20 

of the equation you end up on because, you know 21 

what, there’s merit in containing cost and there’s 22 

merit in getting a speedy answer.  And so, I don’t 23 

disparage anyone that chooses that path as a 24 

legitimate way forward through some other AG 25 
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process or whatever, so I think that unfortunate 1 

comment was unfortunate, and I have full respect 2 

for everyone that’s truthfully agonizing over this 3 

issue as I am, and I think we all are. 4 

I also want to pay respects to the 5 

current staff that actually brought this thing 6 

forward, and so, you know, there’s notion that -- I 7 

mean, some can allude to culture.  My view of the 8 

culture of the organization is much different than 9 

some.  I believe we have a respectful staff that 10 

are working in the best interest of our community. 11 

And in this particular instance, 12 

you know, some of the staff that brought this 13 

forward could have actually deep-six this thing, 14 

and we would have been none the wiser, quite 15 

frankly, and they didn’t because they knew that 16 

this was an issue that needed to come to the 17 

surface, and I know they agonized when I met with 18 

them and first heard about it.  I saw some very 19 

agonized and disappointed individuals that knew 20 

very well what kind of angst this was going to 21 

cause, so I give them respect for bringing this 22 

forward. 23 

Now, are there other issues to 24 

look at that might have, you know, been 25 
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complicating in this issue from, you know, in days 1 

gone past?  Clearly there is, and I would say that, 2 

you know, the whisper campaign out there that talks 3 

about, you know, responsibility and who knew what, 4 

when, well, I’m totally open to having a full 5 

review done to determine who knew what, when and 6 

where and what did they do about it. 7 

And so, I too am kind of where 8 

Councillor Jackson is, that I have this one 9 

niggling issue, which is, there is a report that 10 

was done that didn’t come to the floor to this 11 

council and should have.  And so, how do we then 12 

make sure that we have as open and transparent a 13 

process possible to get to that issue and give the 14 

community at large the kind of confidence that 15 

they’re going to need that will let them know that 16 

this council has not had their hands on this, that 17 

there’s been a totally independent process attached 18 

to this, and that it had full vetting in terms of a 19 

public disclosure on all of that. 20 

And so, I understand and I 21 

appreciate and respect those that might pick the 22 

attorney general process, and it’s certainly 23 

something that crossed my mind as well, but I don’t 24 

think it fulfils the fullness of that transparency 25 
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that I think will give clarity to the answer 1 

completely and totally, and no one could argue that 2 

we had any hand in steering this process and/or 3 

avoiding any consequences. 4 

So I’m reluctantly going to 5 

support the judicial review because, you know, it 6 

is staggering to think that an open-ended process 7 

can lead to some significant costs.  So I would be 8 

very mindful going forward of the scope, and so, 9 

given that we’re broadening out a judicial review 10 

process, I think we ought to be considering a 11 

narrow scope as opposed to a broader scope because 12 

I think most of us know what the beginning of this 13 

process is, and it is that one singular report and 14 

how that was managed or not managed. 15 

And so, I’m not fishing for any 16 

other problems.  If something does arise that comes 17 

through the course of this thing and the 18 

commissioner says, “Yeah, we need to dig into this 19 

as well,” fair ball, but I don’t know that we ought 20 

to go fishing for something new and exciting to dig 21 

into to have even more research and review done on 22 

all of this. 23 

So I’m going to support the 24 

judicial review.  I’m going to encourage, you know, 25 
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a refined scope to ensure that it’s not a crazy, 1 

crazy, you know, scattered review on just about 2 

anything that’s out there, and I know that we’re 3 

going to turn to the expert legal advice that we 4 

had today. 5 

And you know, I do appreciate that 6 

there might have been differences between what we 7 

heard from our solicitor and the current expert 8 

advice.  I think our solicitor did say she was not 9 

an expert in this field, and I think the advice we 10 

got today was clear and concise, and you know, I 11 

think it formed a basis of, you know, good soul 12 

decision-making for all of this. 13 

And so, having said all that, I 14 

respect everyone’s decision on this.  Whether 15 

you’re on the judicial review side or not, both of 16 

them have merit.  I would say that for some of us 17 

that have been around a while, having the air 18 

cleared here, making sure that we don’t involve 19 

ourselves and that this is transparent as it needs 20 

to be and can be, I think it’s probably the issue 21 

that tips me to the other side of the judicial 22 

review.  So I thank you for that opportunity -- 23 

MR. JACKSON:  With respect to Mr. 24 

Mayor -- 25 
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MR. EISENBERGER:  We have 1 

additional commenters, so I’m going to go -- 2 

they’re all second time or third time, am I 3 

correct?  Second time?  First time?  All second 4 

time?  Okay.  So I’m going to go to all -- I’m just 5 

going to go in this order. 6 

Councillor Clark. 7 

MR. CLARK:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 8 

First, I want to thank everyone 9 

for their respectful and thoughtful debate.  Heard 10 

too often in issues like this, passion is going to 11 

get into the way, and individuals may say things 12 

that they may not necessarily wanted to say, but we 13 

understand where it comes from in terms of their 14 

overall passion. 15 

The vast majority of councillors 16 

around the table really were wrestling with 17 

something that was really problematic, and I can 18 

honestly say I saw the pains of anguish as we’re 19 

getting answers and questions from the lawyers, and 20 

I can pick out at least the half dozen that really 21 

were torn between the two or three options that are 22 

before us. 23 

To Councillor Danko, you’re 24 

absolutely correct.  You raised the issue that the 25 
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scope questions does not address making 1 

recommendations to improve city policies, 2 

procedures to prevent such future incidents.  It 3 

was my assumption that that’s an automatic within a 4 

judicial investigation.  Be that as it may, I’m 5 

more than happy to add it to one of the questions 6 

so that it goes off to our legal counsel. 7 

With regards to your question 8 

about wrongdoing or misconduct, it was actually 9 

item 1.6 in the questions, and it reads: 10 

“Was 11 

there any malfeasance, 12 

wrongdoing, or misconduct 13 

by any person or persons in 14 

relations to the role in 15 

the non-disclosure of the 16 

document?” 17 

So we have covered off those 18 

issues, and if you’d like to actually move the 19 

amendment to 17, I’m happy to receive that or if 20 

you wanted a friendly one, either way, I think you 21 

actually caught something that’s important to the 22 

process. 23 

I was really intrigued, Mr. Mayor, 24 

by the comments that an auditor general’s report 25 
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and investigation would only take two to three 1 

months.  I haven’t seen that happen too often, and 2 

our auditor general is smiling because it doesn’t 3 

happen that often.  I had two different audits done 4 

on two different ministries that I was involved in 5 

on very narrow items that we had to deal with, one 6 

in transportation, one in labour, and they took 7 

over a year. 8 

And I know for a fact from the 9 

previous auditor that was here audits routinely 10 

take eight months to a year, and in this case, 11 

there’s four -- six reports now that the auditor 12 

general or whoever’s going to do this report is 13 

going to have to read and cross-correlate to see 14 

the differences between the reports and where the 15 

facts are, and then investigate and interview those 16 

individuals.  That’s just on the start. 17 

In terms of getting ahead of the 18 

process, I can tell you that Mr. Zegarac, right 19 

after this happened -- and I think it maybe might 20 

have been two weeks later.  Mr. Zegarac, I had a 21 

quick conversation with him and just suggested on 22 

the fly that he may want to audit e-mails and make 23 

sure that there is a direction given to staff to 24 

retain records, and he informed me they had already 25 
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done it and that the auditor general had already 1 

given that instruction also, and all the staff in 2 

Public Works were already doing that. 3 

So the actual work of finding the 4 

evidence has already started and has been retained, 5 

which really does cut down on the overall length of 6 

time of an investigation.  And I give credit to our 7 

staff, Mr. Mayor.  They did that on their own 8 

immediately.  Not only did they come to us with the 9 

report, but they immediately acted to preserve 10 

records.  And that’s in contrast to the Toronto 11 

report on the leasing.  I remember that one very 12 

clearly. 13 

Records were destroyed.  There 14 

were shredding parties.  There were allegations of 15 

fraud and corruption, and it was a huge challenge 16 

for that investigation to unearth what transpired. 17 

 There is no surprise that it cost $11 million when 18 

you consider exactly what they had to deal with.  19 

And so, we can’t compare one apple to another apple 20 

even if it was a Granny Smith to a McIntosh.  There 21 

is completely different scopes to these projects. 22 

On the MPC, absolutely.  23 

Councillor Johnson is 100 per cent correct.  They 24 

requested an auditor general’s report.  It was 25 
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interesting though that the MPCA could not request 1 

the auditor general’s report because the 2 

Conservation Authority has acted and given that 3 

authority.  They had to go to the region of 4 

Niagara, and the region of Niagara couldn’t do it 5 

because they didn’t have control over the 6 

Conservation Authority. 7 

So they had to go to the 8 

provincial government and ask the provincial 9 

government to launch the auditor general’s report 10 

into the MPCA, and it took over a year and a half. 11 

 Just for the record.  And when we’re talking about 12 

costs running away with us, you’re absolutely 13 

correct.  Councillor Collins talked about trees.  14 

Councillor Pearson talked about that issue.  I put 15 

one on the table and -- 16 

Mayor Eisenberger, you’ll recall 17 

this because you were never on for this in the very 18 

beginning.  I was minister of transportation at the 19 

time, and the City decided to sue the federal 20 

government.  Remember? 21 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Mm-hmm. 22 

MR. CLARK:  And we had these 23 

wonderful external lawyers come in, and I heard all 24 

about it because Mayor Wade at the time came to me 25 
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and asked if I could sign on the capital agreement, 1 

that the City could actually -- or the region could 2 

get money out of the capital agreement to help pay 3 

for these coasts, and the projections of the win 4 

from the outside legal counsel was “Whoa, this is a 5 

slam dunk, and it’s only going to cost you this 6 

every year after that.” 7 

And I think it went on for, like, 8 

six years, and the cost just kept ratcheting up 9 

because when I got on council, we started to deal 10 

with it and try to figure out -- and you were the 11 

mayor and we’re trying to figure, “Okay.  How do we 12 

get out of this,” now limiting our costs.  It ran 13 

away with us, and the intent going in was not to 14 

have that happen.  It happens when you’re dealing 15 

with litigation.  It happens when you’re looking 16 

into things like this. 17 

So at the end of the day, I really 18 

believe that the heart of everyone in this room is 19 

in the same place, the minds of everyone in the 20 

same place.  They have the best interests of the 21 

municipality of Hamilton and the citizens.  Their 22 

desire is to get to the truth.  We may have 23 

differences of opinion as to how and what mechanism 24 

we do that, but we’re all along that same page, and 25 
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we will do it together as we move forward. 1 

So I thank the councillors who are 2 

supporting the motion, and I will call the question 3 

at the appropriate time.  We have other speakers 4 

though. 5 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Councillor 6 

Whitehead. 7 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Thank you.  Just a 8 

couple of quick clarifications.  Well, one, because 9 

the mayor had opened up, and I think he was making 10 

reference to my comment, which was respectfully I 11 

said -- and so, I want to look at my colleagues and 12 

indicate to them that there’s an emotional tie to 13 

me to these processes.  The Elliot Lake one, I 14 

thought I had lost my parents.  I really did for 15 

four hours, so I am emotionally tied, and I was 16 

glued to the whole process of the inquiry.  So yes, 17 

I am emotional about these processes in regards to 18 

the confidence brought by the people in the 19 

community. 20 

The other piece I wanted to 21 

identify is that the Elliot Lake audit got 75 per 22 

cent of the funding.  So I want to apologize -- I 23 

don’t know if I apologized, but I am emotional when 24 

it comes to this.  I want to put that on the table, 25 
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so you have context. 1 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Did you 2 

apologize?  Is that what you said? 3 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Yeah, I did. 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 5 

you. 6 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  Very sincerely. 7 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  8 

Appreciate that. 9 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  You all get an 10 

apple tomorrow morning. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  I don’t want an 12 

apple. 13 

MR. WHITEHEAD:  So I just wanted 14 

to put it out there that, you know, I follow that 15 

one very, very, very closely, and it was 16 

incredible, the real-time information that was 17 

being provided. 18 

The other thing that wasn’t 19 

mentioned here -- so one is you comply or the 20 

commissioner can make a request for funding from 21 

the Province of Ontario.  Elliot Lake, 75 per cent 22 

of funds was, in fact, funded by the attorney 23 

general’s office.  That wasn’t in reference here, 24 

but apparently they do it under certain 25 
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circumstances, and that’s something we’d have to 1 

explore. 2 

The other one is -- the Elliot 3 

Lake one was much more complex than this, and it 4 

was done in probably about 15 months, so -- and 5 

that was more complex.  And the last piece was that 6 

actual families or participants can actually make 7 

requests in good standing.  So whether -- you know, 8 

some of the families have lost -- I think there was 9 

seven families or seven deaths in that time frame. 10 

They could actually make 11 

application or their lawyers can make application. 12 

 They can participate in the process.  So now you 13 

actually got an engagement opportunity for someone 14 

who feel that there’s a relevance to this issue to 15 

them.  I think they can feel equally satisfied that 16 

they can ask those questions or participate in the 17 

process where they can’t in the other AG process.  18 

I want to highlight those because those are 19 

differentials as well. 20 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 21 

you. 22 

Councillor Wilson. 23 

MS. WILSON:  Thank you, Mr. Mayor. 24 

 I’ll be brief.  I think there was -- you alluded 25 
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to my use of the word “culture” or perhaps someone 1 

else, and I just want to put it on the public 2 

record it’s really important for me that I have the 3 

utmost confidence in the professionalism and the 4 

council that I receive every day from the public 5 

servants -- some of them who sit behind me.  Most 6 

of them, you know, they sit elsewhere, and I try 7 

and reciprocate that in how I treat them, whether 8 

we’re in council or out of council or whether we’re 9 

in a meeting, and it’s important to me that that be 10 

clearly understood. 11 

I think Mr. McKinnon is 12 

outstanding.  I think his staff is outstanding, so 13 

I just wanted to make that clear.  My reference to 14 

culture frankly is political culture.  It’s not 15 

organizational, okay?  And sometimes when we’re 16 

debating very important matters, you have to hear 17 

yourself talk in order to try and work your 18 

thoughts out sometimes. 19 

And you try and bring issues back 20 

into your -- what I call my value frame, how I 21 

assess where I’m going to go with something, and 22 

for me, the auditor general avenue was very 23 

compelling because of how expeditious we could 24 

provide answers to people, and I think that is also 25 
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part of healing and for us to be informed on our 1 

process as we have to learn from it and apply it to 2 

everything that we do. 3 

But at the end of the day, my 4 

value process -- my value lens is that of process 5 

and ensuring the trust and confidence of our 6 

residents on this one to enable them to have access 7 

to the questions and the interviews.  I think 8 

they’ve told me that that’s important, and when I 9 

check that against my lens, it’s also very 10 

important to me, so thank you very much. 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 12 

you. 13 

Councillor Ferguson. 14 

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  In the 15 

event this motion carries, I have three other items 16 

I’d like staff to consider when they come back to 17 

us with scope.  Do I need to move an amendment now 18 

or simply hand it towards the solicitor? 19 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Well, the motion 20 

talks about scope, so you could certainly add 21 

amendments to that scope if that’s what you wanted 22 

to do at this point in time. 23 

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  Can I move 24 

those amendments? 25 
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MR. EISENBERGER:  The motion’s on 1 

the floor, so if you want to make amendments, it’s 2 

yours to -- 3 

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  There’s 4 

three that I would like to have added to the scope. 5 

 They’re very benign, but I’d like to know what is 6 

the standard in Ontario for friction.  I got it 7 

written out here for you.  What is the standard in 8 

Ontario for friction because I understand there 9 

isn’t one, but I don’t know.  There’s been a lot of 10 

discussion around that. 11 

Number two is:  Are results for 12 

friction for highways across the provinces amenable 13 

to us or amenable to the public? 14 

And number three:  Is speed, 15 

traffic, weaving, and lighting as big an issue as 16 

friction on the Red Hill Valley Parkway? 17 

So those are three things I’d like 18 

counsel to consider when it comes back to us as 19 

potential scope.  So I’d like to move those three, 20 

please. 21 

MR. EISENBERGER:  All right.  Move 22 

and seconded.  We’ll take that as a friendly then, 23 

Councillor? 24 

MR. FERGUSON:  No, just put it to 25 
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a vote. 1 

MR. EISENBERGER:  That’s fine.  2 

Moved and seconded.  All in favour?  Carried.  3 

Thank you. 4 

MR. FERGUSON:  Do I need 5 

electronic -- 6 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Oh, yes, of 7 

course.  Yeah.  It felt good though, didn’t it?  8 

Yeah.  Flashback.  On the amendment.  Yes. 9 

One more speaker on the motion, I 10 

hope, and then we’ll get to it.  Thank you.  That’s 11 

carried. 12 

Councillor Danko. 13 

MR. DANKO:  Thank you.  And on the 14 

amendment that Councillor Clark mentioned, I’m 15 

happy if he takes that as a friendly.  That’s fine 16 

with me, including recommendations on policy 17 

changes and protocol.  And just on the main motion, 18 

I think I’m going to go with my heart here that 19 

says you can’t err on the side of transparency, and 20 

in many ways, a lack of transparency may be what 21 

got us into this position in the first place, so 22 

thank you. 23 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay.  Thank 24 

you. 25 
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Councillor Clark. 1 

MR. CLARK:  I want to read the 2 

friendly amendment that Councillor Danko proposed 3 

and I accepted, so it would be item 1.7 or maybe 4 

not because Councillor Ferguson’s might be for 5 

that, so I’ll leave it to staff, but it says: 6 

“Review and make 7 

recommendations to improve 8 

city policies and 9 

procedures to prevent such 10 

future incidents.” 11 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Okay. 12 

MR. CLARK:  That’s a friendly 13 

amendment and it will be just a part in the main 14 

motion. 15 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Right.  Thank 16 

you. 17 

So on the main motion that is 18 

before you, e-vote required. 19 

MS. JOHNSON:  Can we vote on this 20 

two separate?  One is to go to the judicial review 21 

and that’s the first portion, and the rest is all 22 

what’s encompassed.  I’m all for what’s 23 

encompassed.  It’s the first line, so -- 24 

MR. EISENBERGER:  You can ask to 25 
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either separate and vote for them independently or 1 

be recorded as opposed to item A.  Which one did 2 

you want?  Okay.  So there’s a request to separate. 3 

So Councillor Clark. 4 

MR. CLARK:  I’m just looking at 5 

the language here.  So the first part talks about 6 

the judicial investigation.  The second part says 7 

that the scope of the judicial investigation could 8 

include but not be limited to the following and to 9 

be referred to outside legal counsel for review. 10 

MR. EISENBERGER:  So it’s not 11 

separated, so we’ll take it all as one.  All in 12 

favour, please indicate by electronic vote.  Here 13 

we go.  Okay.  And that’s carried, so thank you 14 

very much and thank you for that, I thought, a very 15 

positive and respectful debate by large, so much, 16 

much appreciated and a difficult one nonetheless.  17 

One moment please.  I have a motion, approve the 18 

direction -- and we’re done with that. 19 

On the bill list, Councillor 20 

Jackson, you have a motion on the bill’s list 21 

somewhere.  Let’s just assume that you do.  So on 22 

the bill’s list, all in favour of moving the bills 23 

list and -- you got it?  Well, I would but if you 24 

have the bill -- 25 
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MR. JACKSON:  Mr. Mayor, I move by 1 

myself, seconded by Ward 7, Councillor Esther 2 

Pauls, that the bill of 19-043 be passed and that 3 

you put your corporate seal on it.  Thank you. 4 

MR. EISENBERGER:  Thank you.  All 5 

in favour.  Electronic vote. 6 

Maureen, while you’re there.  7 

Thank you. 8 

Carried.  Thank you.  And a motion 9 

to adjourn, moved by Vanderbaek, seconded by 10 

everybody else, including Councillor Pearson.  All 11 

in favour.  Carried.  Wow.  I still have time for 12 

bed. 13 

--- Whereupon the proceeding concluded 14 

 at 11:40 p.m. 15 
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1 with subsequent testing results, you would agree

2 with me that it could recommend friction testing

3 annually, quarterly, in order to make that

4 comparison, but this does not do that?

5                    A.   Well, I would disagree to

6 some extent.  I think the use of the word

7 "baseline" does imply just that, literally the

8 beginning point or a baseline to which future

9 comparisons can be made, but --

10                    Q.   Finish that sentence,

11 Mr. Malone.  It's to compare to design

12 specifications?

13                    A.   No.  I was going to

14 continue by saying my understanding was there was

15 no friction testing available or done by the City;

16 therefore, a baseline had not been established,

17 nor had anything been compared to anything else.

18 So, if there's a design specification that

19 potentially becomes a comparator that this

20 baseline, if and when achieved, can be compared

21 to.

22                    Q.   So, you would agree with

23 me it would have been important to note that after

24 the City obtains that baseline, that they obtain

25 additional testing to compare the baseline to?
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1                    A.   In 2022, I would agree

2 with you that may be something that's more clear.

3 In 2013, the importance of friction in the

4 diagnosis, in the determination of factors that

5 may be causal factors in collisions was not clear

6 at all.  In fact, there were other factors that

7 were much more clearly identified, including

8 speed, and potentially driver behaviour.

9                    And so, I won't say this was

10 trivialized in the report.  It was a significant

11 recommendation to include, but it was not nearly

12 as clearly understood as to be a potentially

13 contributing factor as it may be today.  But I'll

14 have to add I still haven't really seen any

15 conclusion that friction was deemed to be a causal

16 factor.

17                    Q.   I understand.  And, you

18 know, when we look at cost-benefit ratio

19 underneath, we see that it says:

20                         "Based on the results,

21                         the City may be in a

22                         better position to

23                         determine if further

24                         action is required."

25                    And so, you know, it certainly
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